MICROGLIA ACTIVITY IN THE MOUSE BRAIN LACKING PROSTAGLANDIN E2-CONNECTION TO AUTISM

SARAH WHEELER

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

GRADUATE PROGRAM IN KINESIOLOGY AND HEALTH SCIENCE YORK UNIVERSITY TORONTO, ONTARIO

AUGUST 2019 ©SARAH WHEELER, 2019

Abstract

Prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) is a signaling molecule produced by cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) from cell membrane phospholipids and is important in the development of the healthy brain. PGE2 signaling can also regulate microglia activation during inflammation. Anomalies in the COX-2/PGE2 pathway due to genetic or environmental factors have been linked to Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASD). Our previous studies found that the COX-2 deficient (COX-2⁻KI) mouse has molecular and behavioral traits that are autism-related, occurring in sex-dependent manners. Here, we aim to further determine the impact of abnormal signaling of the COX-2/PGE2 pathway through its effect on microglial density and morphology in the developing brain. Microglia are known to transition between one of two morphologies depending on their surroundings, known as active or ramified, which are visibly distinct from one another. Previous literature shows the importance of microglia in the development and maintenance of the healthy brain, having roles in synaptogenesis, synaptic pruning, and in the phagocytosis of cell debris. In this study we use COX-2⁻KI mice to examine five regions in the brain, all previously implicated in ASD, in order to evaluate the role of COX-2/PGE2 signaling in the regulation of microglia activation in the developing brain. Using immunohistochemistry technique, we demonstrate that at embryonic day 19 (E19) and postnatal day 25 (P25) COX-2⁻KI mice had sex and regional specific differences in microglial density, activation state, branch length, and branching networks. We discovered that at E19 the COX-2 KI animals had increased microglial density, altered percentage of active and ramified morphology, altered branch length, and decreased branching networks in a region and sex specific manner. When examining the P25 mouse brain we also found greater microglial density, and lower percentages of active microglia, which was complemented by increased branch counts and length compared to sex and age matched controls. This study shows the differences in developmental trajectories between the COX-2 deficient mice and healthy controls in the microglial measurements tested. We show for the first time that these trajectories were influenced not only by the COX-2 deficiency, but also by sex, brain region, and developmental stage. These novel findings provide additional evidence that abnormal COX-2/PGE2 signaling can result in a disruption of microglial density and morphology during development and contribute to brain pathologies that result in ASDs.

Acknowledgements

There are many people I would like to thank for their support and kindness throughout this degree. First and foremost, I want to take the moment to give the warmest of thank-yous to my supervisor, Dr. Dorota Crawford. It has been a pleasure being a part of your "scientific family" these last two years, and I cannot thank you enough for your comments, advice and guidance through this journey. The skills I learned in this lab I will always carry with me.

To the members of the lab, thank you for these last two years, and all of the memories that come along with them. From the talks about statistics, to bench work, to the birthdays and holidays celebrated together, and everything else in between, I cherish it all. To Ashby and Christine, thank you for your continued guidance, and for always trying to help me grow as a scientist. To Isabel, thank you for the late nights we spent studying or working on assignments together; they were infinitely better with all of the laughter. To Sasha and Keenan, thank you for all of your help and support throughout this last year.

To those I was lucky enough to meet during these last two years, and to become friends with, thank you for making Toronto feel like home. I would like to say a special thank you to Henry, for being a great roommate and the most amazing friend through the whole thesis process.

My family has also been a great source of support in moments I needed it the most. Mom and Doug, thank you for being behind me every step of the way. Dad and Darla, thank you for the excitement when during our talks about science, making me realize with each passing conversation that research is my passion. To my siblings, cousins, grandparents, and everyone else I call my family, thank you for listening to me excitedly ramble off about my research while you politely nodded. A special thought goes to those who supported me throughout this degree but are not here today to celebrate the final moments of it.

Abbreviation list

AA- Arachidonic acid ALA- α -linoleic acid ASD- Autism spectrum disorder ACC- Animal care committee AD- Alzheimer's disease APC- Adenomatous polyposis coli BMP- Bone morphogenetic protein BDNF- Brain derived neurotrophic factor CAPASE- Cysteine-dependent aspartate-directed protease CB- Cerebellum CDC- Center for disease control CNS- Central nervous system CK1- Casein kinase 1 COX- Cyclooxygenase COX-2⁻KI- Cyclooxygenase 2 knock in DAB 3-3'- Diaminobenzidine DHA- Docosahexaenoic acid DHCR7-7-dehydrocholesterol reductase E2- Estradiol E-9.5, -16, -19- Embryonic day -9.5, -16, -19 EN2- Homeobox protein engrailed-2 **EP- E-Prostanoid** EPA- Eicosatetraenoic acid FMR1- Fragile X mental retardation 1 FZD- Frizzled Gsk-3β- Glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta **HPC-** Hippocampus IBA-1-Ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 IL-1β, -6, -10, - Interleukin -1β, -6, -10, IL2R- Interleukin 2 receptor IHC- Immunohistochemistry IFNγ- Interferon gamma LA- linoleic acid LEF- Lymphoid enhancer factor LPS-Lipopolysaccharide MIA- Maternal immune activation mPGES- Microsomal prostaglandin synthase MECP2-Methyl CpG binding protein NSAIDS- Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug NE-4C- Neuroectodermal stem cells NFKB- Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells NGF- Nerve growth factor NO- Nitric oxide NRXN- Neurexin **OB-** Olfactory bulb

P-4,-8,-21,-25,-30,-60- Postnatal day -4, -8, -21, -25, -30, -60 PBS- Phosphate-buffered saline PFA- Paraformaldehyde PFC- Prefrontal Cortex PGE2- Prostaglandin E2 PI-3K- Phosphatidylinositide 3-kinase PKA- Protein kinase A PLA₂- Phospholipase A2 PTGS2- Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 PUFA- Polyunsaturated fatty acids PTCHD1-Patched domain containing 1 **ROS-** Reactive oxygen species SHH- Sonic hedgehog SFARI- Simons found autism research initiative SHANK- SH3 and multiple ankyrin repeat domains TCF- T-cell factor TGF- β -Transforming growth factor beta TNF-A- Tumor necrosis factor alpha TNFR2- Tumor necrosis factor receptor 2 **TH-Thalamus** TLR- Toll-like receptor UBE3A- Ubiquitin protein ligase E3A WNT- Wingless WT-Wild type

Table of Contents

Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iv
Abbreviation list	V
Table of contents	vii
List of Tables:	X
List of Figures:	xi
Introduction	1
1.1 Autism Spectrum Disorders - Overview	1
1.2 Genetic Influence on Autism	3
1.3 Environmental Influence on Autism	5
1.4 Immune system dysfunction and Autism	6
1.5 Lipids in the brain	7
1.6 The Implications of Lipids in Autism Etiology	8
1.7 Microglia Overview	14
1.8 Microglia, Sex, and Age Differences	18
1.9 Microglia, PGE2, and Autism	19
2. Research Justification and Review	22
3. Research plan	24
3.1 General objective	24
3.2 Study 1: Microglial morphology and density in prenatal and postnatal brain of COX-2 deficien	t
mice	24
3.3 Experimental Model System	25
3.4 Contributions	25
4. Methodology	26
4.1. Generation of COX-2-KI and Wild Type Models	26
4.2 Genotyping	26
4.3 Brain Extraction	27
4.4 Immunohistochemistry	29
4.5 Microglial Cell Density and Morphology Analysis	31
4.6 Statistical Analysis	35
5 Results	36
5.1 Embryonic E19 studies	36

	5.1.1 Altered Microglia Density in Prenatal day 19 Mouse	36
	5.1.2 Altered Active and Ramified Morphology in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse	40
	5.1.3 Altered Microglial Branch Length in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse	48
	5.1.4 Altered Microglial Primary Branching in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse	52
	5.1.5 Altered Microglial Branch Total in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse	56
	5.2 Postnatal Day P25	60
	5.2.1 Altered Microglia Density in Postnatal day 25 Mouse	60
	5.2.2. Altered Active and Ramified Morphology in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse	64
	5.2.3 Altered Microglial Branch Length in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse	72
	5.2.4 Altered Microglial Primary Branching in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse	76
	5.2.5 Altered Microglial Branch Total in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse	80
	5.3 Progression trajectories across the developing healthy and COX-2-KI brain	85
	5.3.1 Sex differences in microglia density in the developing healthy brain	85
	5.3.2 Sex differences in active and ramified microglia percentages in the developing WT brain	88
	5.3.3 Sex differences in microglial branch length in the developing WT brain	91
	5.3.4 Sex differences in primary microglia branches in the developing WT brain	93
	5.3.5 Sex differences in total microglia branching in the developing WT brain	95
	5.4 Changes between COX-2 ⁻ KI mice across development	97
	5.4.1 Changes in microglia density in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and female brain	97
	5.4.2 Amoeboid active and ramified morphology changes in the developing brain	101
	5.4.3 Change in microglial branch length across development	107
	5.4.4 Sex-differences in primary branches across development of healthy and COX-2 ⁻ KI mice	112
	5.4.5 Sex-differences in total branches across development of healthy and COX-2 ⁻ KI mice	116
6.	Discussion	.121
	6.1 COX-2 ⁻ KI mice demonstrate increased microglial density over development	122
	6.2 COX-2 ⁻ KI mice generally demonstrate decreased active and increased ramified morphologies the developing brain	in 125
	6.3 Increased branch length in COX-2 ⁻ KI mice over development	129
	6.4 Increased primary branches in COX-2 ⁻ KI mice over development	.132
	6.5 Increased total branching in COX-2 ⁻ KI mice over development	.133
	6.6 Sex differences in COX-2 ⁻ KI and healthy mouse model	.134
	6.7 Developmental differences due to COX-2 ⁻ disruption	.135
	6.8 Future studies	.136

6.9 Conclusion	
7.Biolography	140

List of Tables:

Table 1: PCR primer sequence for <i>Gapdh</i> gene, Sex and Genotype Analysis27
Table 2: Microglial density in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and female brain101
Table 3: Microglial active and ramified morphologies in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and
female brain107
Table 4: Microglial branch length in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and female brain112
Table 5: Primary branches in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and female brain116
Table 6: Total branches in the developing COX-2 ⁻ KI male and female brain120

List of Figures:

Figure 1: Overview of prostanoid synthesis pathway and environmental interactions	12		
Figure 2: A proposed model of PGE2 and WNT pathway interaction	13		
Figure 3: PGE2 effect on microglial morphology and common roles of the activation states			
	21		
Figure 4: Time showing progression of microglia development in the mouse brain	29		
Figure 5: Immunohistostaining staining results with Iba-1	30		
Figure 6: Iba-1 immunohistochemistry staining of E19 brain regions	32		
Figure 7: Iba-1 immunohistochemistry staining of P25 brain regions	33		
Figure 8: Microglial morphology examples and methods of branch measurements	34		
Figure 9: Microglial density changes in embryonic brain	39		
Figure 10: Active morphology changes in embryonic brain	43		
Figure 11: Ramified morphology changes in embryonic brain	47		
Figure 12: Microglial branch length changes in embryonic brain	51		
Figure 13: Primary branch count changes in embryonic brain	55		
Figure 14: Total branch count changes in embryonic brain	59		
Figure 15: Microglial density changes in postnatal brain	63		
Figure 16: Active morphology changes in postnatal brain	67		
Figure 17: Ramified morphology changes in postnatal brain	71		
Figure 18: Microglial branch length changes in postnatal brain	75		
Figure 19: Primary branch count changes in postnatal brain	79		
Figure 20: Total branch count changes in postnatal brain	84		
Figure 21: Sex-based differences in microglial density in the healthy mouse	87		
Figure 22: Sex-based differences in active and ramified in the healthy mouse	90		
Figure 23: Sex-based differences in branch length in the healthy mouse	92		
Figure 24: Sex-based differences in primary branches in the healthy mouse	94		
Figure 25: Sex-based differences in total branches in the healthy mouse	96		
Figure 26: Progression trends for microglial density	100		
Figure 27: Progression trends for active microglia morphology percentages	104		
Figure 28: Progression trends for ramified microglia morphology percentages	106		
Figure 29: Progression trends for microglial branch length	111		

Figure 30:	Progression trends for primary microglia branch counts	115
Figure 31:	Progression trends for total microglia branch counts	119

Introduction

1.1 Autism Spectrum Disorders - Overview

Autism is a neurodevelopmental disorder that manifests in the first three years of life. It belongs to a spectrum known as Autism Spectrum Disorders (ASDs) that are classified by three core characteristics, including deficits in communication, restrictive behaviors and interests, and impairments in social interactions (Marshall et al, 2008; Tamiji and Crawford, 2011). The rate of autism diagnosis has been increasing over recent years at an alarming rate, and as of 2014 was estimated by the Center for Disease Control (CDC) that one in every 59 children will be identified with ASD (Baio et al, 2018). It has been argued that increased rates of diagnosis are due to an increase in awareness or improvements of diagnostic methods concerning ASD, but these increased rates cannot be solely explained by these factors (King and Bearman, 2009; Hertz-Picciotto and Delwiche, 2009; Matson and Kozlowski, 2011). Clinical and molecular research worldwide has provided convincing evidence that ASDs neuropathology results from the effect of environmental risk factors on genetics, which will be discussed below.

In addition, autism has a diagnosis rate for males approximately four times higher than in females, making it one of the most extreme cases of sex bias in neurodevelopmental disorders (Werling and Geschwind, 2013). Despite being such a striking difference only in recent years have sex differences concerning autism become an area of focus for many researchers. Even with the increased attention to autism etiology in recent years the underlying causes to this disorder and the sex differences seen remain complex and not fully understood.

Many regions of the brain have been implicated in ASDs, including the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, thalamus and prefrontal cortex.

The cerebellum has been found to be functionally and structurally abnormal in patients with autism, resulting in impairments in motor control, as well as non-motor abnormalities via its connections with the cerebrum (Fatemi et al, 2012; Bracke-Tolkmitt et al, 1989; Becker and Stoodley, 2013; Rogers et al, 2013). In children with ASD it has been found that neurons within this region are unusually large and bountiful, relating to the trend of cerebellum overgrowth with the disorder (Kemper and Bauman, 2002). As well its commonly seen within humans that a decreased amount of Purkinje cells is found within ASD patients (Rogers et al, 2013).

The hippocampus has been implicated in ASDs based on human studies showing that the area was enlarged in children diagnosed with the disorder compared to controls; as well an increased number of neurons was found in ASD patients in this study (Barnea-Goraly et al, 2014). DeLong (1992) has referred to ASD as "the developmental syndrome of hippocampus dysfunction" indicating its importance in the disorder.

Oddities such as impaired odor perception, as well as decreased activity in the olfactory bulb has been noted in those with autism (Koehler et al, 2018; Ashwin et al, 2014). Current literature shows that children with ASD are far less likely to react to unpleasant odors, such as rotten milk and fish (Rozenkrantz et al, 2015). For this reason, the authors suggest that a child's reaction to smell may be a potential early marker for ASD, implicating the importance of the olfactory bulb in the disorder.

As well abnormal synaptic connectivity has also been noted within the prefrontal cortex, which is involved in the regulation of many complex cognitive behaviors such as personality and social expression (Diamond, 2000; Miller and Cohen, 2001; Shalom, 2009). Interestingly the prefrontal cortex was found to have an increased volume in human ASD patients compared to controls (Carper and Courchesne, 2005).

The thalamus is another region of the brain seen to be abnormal in volume in ASD patients compared to controls (Tamura et al, 2010). Abnormalities in synaptic connectivity of the thalamus have been noted in ASD; this is of importance as this region is known to regulate sociocommunicative, cognitive, and sensorimotor functions- all of which are implicated in the disorder (Nair et al, 2013; Woodward et al, 2017).

Although the molecular basis that leads to brain pathology in ASD is still being investigated by many research labs, there is a consensus in the scientific community that the disorders arises from a contribution of genetics, environmental and immunological factors (DiCicco-Bloom et al, 2006; Yoo, 2015; Modabbernia et al, 2017; Rossignol et al, 2014; Gladysz et al, 2018; Meltzer and Van de Water, 2018).

1.2 Genetic Influence on Autism

Genetics has been suggested to play a strong component in the etiology of autism. For example, the human database called SFARI Gene (2019), has already identified over 1000 ASD risk genes from various research studies. Along with the great number of ASD risk genes, the importance of genetics in this disorder has been demonstrated through heritability estimations in twins. Monozygotic twins, which share an almost identical genetic profile and begin as one fertilized egg, have a 60-92% chance of concordance (Muhle et al, 2004; Tick et al., 2016). Comparatively dizygotic twins, each being derived from a separate ovum, have a much smaller concordance rate of 0-10%. These differences in concordance rates between monozygotic and dizygotic twins is one of the main reasons autism is considered one of the most heritable neurodevelopmental disorders (Hallmayer et al, 2011). As well within the general population a concordance rate of 0.1-0.15% further emphasizes the importance of genetics within ASDs (London and Etzel, 2011). Within the ASD population it has been shown that there are a large number of genes that are altered which have important roles in the healthy brain. Casanova and Casanova (2014) found that approximately 80% of genes noted as ASD-risk genes are involved in later phases of neurodevelopment and regulate processes such as synapse formation and neurite growth. A more recent focus comes to the attempt to converge these gene abnormalities into common pathways that may drive the development of core ASD characteristics (Oron and Ellior, 2017). This has led to an understanding that there are a variety of important pathways for healthy brain development that are influenced by autism-associated mutations.

Synaptopathology is commonly recognized in ASD. Recent studies have reported a wide variety of genes that have been proven to be mutated within individuals with the disorder, which may contribute to the synaptic disfunction (Guand et al, 2018). These mutations include genes that are involved in a variety of key processes at the synapse, such as *NRXN*, *SHANK*, and *MECP2* (Guand et al, 2018). These mutations resulting in synaptic dysregulation can result in functional and cognitive impairments associated with ASD (Guand et al, 2018).

Genes associated with immune system function have also been found to be mutated within ASD individuals (Garbett et al, 2008). A variety of these mutations were related to pathways in inflammation (NFKB, IL6), cell death (CASPASE, TNFR2), and antigen-specific immune response (TOLL, IL2R) (Garbett et al, 2008). We discuss immune abnormalities further in section 1.5.

Neurodevelopment pathways have been implicated in ASD, with dysregulation of several key signaling pathways, such as sonic hedgehog (SHH), and bone morphogenetic protein (BMP) (Kumar et al, 2019). SHH signaling plays crucial roles in the organization of the brain, with a wide variety of roles that drive axonal targeting, proliferation and specification. Genes including

PTCHD1, DHCR7 and *EN2* which are known to interact with the SHH pathway have been mutated within ASD, typically resulting in the downregulation of the pathway (Kumar et al, 2019). BMP is critical in the development of the nervous system, which has been found to be dysregulated in ASD (Bond et al, 2012) Mutations in genes such as *FMR1* and *UBE3A* which influence the BMP pathway have been commonly found in those with ASD as well (Kumar et al, 2019).

1.3 Environmental Influence on Autism

Despite the amount of evidence implicating genetics in autism etiology, it does not alone explain the development of the disorder. Within families, as well as monozygotic twins, there can be wide-ranging phenotypes which suggest other factors to the etiology than genetics (London and Etzel, 2011). Recent evidence heavily suggests that various environmental factors can increase the risk of autism development to those susceptible to the disorder (based on their genetics) if exposed prenatally to these factors (Karimi et al, 2017). Prenatal brain development is a critical period in which involves many biological processes such as neurogenesis, migration, differentiation or synaptogenesis driven by the expression of specific developmental genes. These events have been shown to be influenced by environmental imbalances or insults.

Common environmental risk factors include the particulates in diesel exhaust and herbicides, have been shown to result in autism-like symptoms in mouse offspring exposed prenatally and in early life to the substances (Chang et al, 2018; Zablotsky et al, 2015; Roberts et al, 2013; Samsel & Seneff, 2015). Diesel exhaust has been found to activate and prime microglia, resulting in a pathogenic state; the importance of activated microglia are explained in section 1.6 (Levesque et al, 2011). As well Sugamata et al (2006) found that pregnant mice who

inhaled diesel exhaust gave birth to offspring having damages in the brain tissues of the cerebral cortex and hippocampus. Further investigation of these offspring showed that the maternal exposure to diesel exhaust resulted in an increase of apoptotic cells within these areas. To emphasize the significant impact of these particulates a recent study showed that residential proximity (<309m) to a major freeway resulted in a near doubling of the chance of having a child with ASD, compared to living further distances away (Volk et al, 2011)

Another common environmental factor that has been recently receiving attention for its contribution to ASDs is perfumes and synthetic fragrances. Fragrance producers are protected from having to disclose the ingredients of perfumes based on the Federal Fair Packaging and Labeling Act of 1973, and thus do not make the information available that often highly mutagenic, neurotoxic and neuromodulatory chemicals are within the product (Bagasra et al, 2013). Phthalates are an example of one of the chemicals which can be found within perfumes and not disclosed to the general public; they are known to obstruct normal development in the brain (Kougias et al, 2018). Using male and female human fetal brain neurons it was see that there was a distinct reduction of in viability when exposed to three commercially available fragrances, with a particular effect on male neurons (Sealey et al, 2015).

1.4 Immune system dysfunction and Autism

As of recent years, studies have begun to show a link between abnormal immune function and altered behavioral traits. Several studies have shown within humans an active role of neuroinflammation in ASD which has been supported by analysis of both brain tissue and cerebrospinal fluid analysis (Pardo et al, 2009; Gladysz et al, 2018). A variety of independent post-mortem studies have found dysregulated levels of immune system related genes in a variety of brain regions of those with autism (Garbett et al, 2008; Voineagu et al, 2011; Gregg et al, 2008; Linras et al, 2012). As well, studies have seen that in 15-60% of children with autism have some form of abnormal immune activation which can include B-cell, T-cell, Natural-killer-cell, and microglial dysfunction as well as increased pro-inflammatory cytokines (Pardo et al, 2009; Masi et al, 2017; Han et al, 2017).

Maternal immune activation (MIA) has been indicated as a risk factor for the development of ASDs, which has been specifically associated to fetal exposure to maternal cytokines (Parker-Athill and Tan, 2010; Urakubo et al, 2001). Human studies have shown that mothers who reported illness during pregnancy had an increased risk of their child having ASD (Zerbo et al, 2015; Jones et al, 2017). These findings are complemented in animal model studies where maternal immune factors such as interleukin-1B (IL-1B), IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor α $(TNF-\alpha)$ were able to cross the placental barrier and lead to immunological and neurological disturbances within the developing fetus, resulting in ASD-like behaviors (Girard et al, 2010; Shi et al, 2003; Patterson, 2009; Malkova et al, 2012). Cytokines and chemokines have been shown to have critical roles in neurodevelopment, assisting in the differentiation and maturation of neurons (Jones et al, 2017). In general, it is suggested that the altered gestational immune environment of the mother may lead to alterations in the neurodevelopmental trajectory of the fetus, based on the irregular levels of cytokines and chemokines in the fetal environment. Currently, the exact mechanism how the increase in circulating maternal cytokines and chemokines, due to MIA, results in abnormal fetal neurodevelopment is unknown (Jones et al, 2017).

1.5 Lipids in the brain

Recent research, including studies from our lab, provides evidence that ASD may result from abnormal lipid metabolism in the brain during its critical time of development (Wong and

Crawford, 2014; Tamiji and Crawford, 2010). Lipids are extremely important for the maintenance of a healthy brain, composing approximately 60% of the brain's overall weight. Near 20% of the total brain is composed of the polyunsaturated fatty acids (PUFAs), docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), and arachidonic acid (AA), which are derivatives of the omega-3 α-linolenic acid (ALA) and omega-6 linoleic acid (LA) respectively (Bentsen, 2017). These PUFAs play important roles not only in building the brain structure, but also in neuroplasticity, signal transduction, and learning and memory (Su, 2010; Wu et al, 2008; Ferrucci et al, 2006).

The conversion of these lipids into their downstream products are extremely important in the healthy function and maintenance of the brain. Recently a derivative of AA called prostaglandin E₂ (PGE2) has been focused on for its potential role in autism etiology (El-Ansary and Al-Ayadhi, 2012; Wong et al, 2014). An enzyme known as phospholipase A2 (PLA₂), whose function is involved in the maintenance of membrane phospholipids, breaks the membrane phospholipid into AA. AA will then be metabolized by one of two forms of the cyclooxygenase (COX) enzyme, identified as COX-1 or -2. COX-1 is constitutively expressed in most tissues, while COX-2 which is inducible in the body and constitutive in the brain (Phillis et al, 2006). COX-1 and -2 subsequently convert AA to PGE2 as illustrated in figure 1.

1.6 The Implications of Lipids in Autism Etiology

Abnormalities in the COX-2/PGE2 metabolic pathways due to genetic causes or environmental influences have been implicated in ASD and are discussed in our previous review articles (Wong and Crawford, 2014; Tamiji and Crawford, 2010). For example, studies have found altered levels of AA, DHA and another PUFA known as eicosatetraenoic acid (EPA) in blood samples of ASD patients (Neggers et al, 2009; Mostafa and Al-Ayadhi, 2015; Wiest et al, 2009). To complement the importance of balance in the lipid pathway and its relation to autism, omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acid supplements have been used as effective treatments for ASD symptoms (Keim et al, 2018; Nagwa et al, 2008).

Of interest, previous work has demonstrated that both high or low levels of PGE2 are related to ASD. PGE2 has many roles in the brain that include dendritic spine formation, pain transmission, refining of mature neuronal connections and synaptic plasticity (Akaneya, 2007; Scott et al, 2007; Tegeder, 2007; Chen et al, 2002; Yang and Chen, 2008). Once produced PGE2 acts on one of four E-Prostanoid (EP) receptors: EP1, EP2, EP3 and EP4 (Figure 1). Activation of the PGE2 pathway has also been heavily implicated in events such as the inflammatory response, which is known to be abnormal in those with autism (El-Ansary and Al-Ayadhi, 2012). Antagonists to the PGE2 pathway include Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) that result in the inhibition of the COX enzymes (Meek et al, 2010). Interestingly, previously discussed factors such as immune activation, air pollution such as diesel exhaust, and common consumer productions have been found to increase the PGE2 production pathway (Hofer et al, 2004; Ricciotti and FitzGerald, 2011). Wong et al (2015) summarized a variety of environmental risk factors previously mentioned that have been linked to autism result in a dysregulation of PGE2 production demonstrated below (Figure 1).

We have shown that altering the COX-2/PGE2 pathway results in different expression patterns of ASD related genes, with functions including cell migration, synaptic transmission and axon guidance (Wong et al, 2014). As well, behavioral testing has recently been done by Wong et al (2018) demonstrating characteristic behaviors of ASD such as high levels of anxiety, hyperactivity, and repetitive behaviors as well as decreased sociability in two PGE2 mouse models. One model having a mutation in the COX-2 gene called- Prostaglandin-endoperoxide synthase 2 (*Ptgs2*) resulting in low levels of PGE2, and the other with increased levels due a maternal PGE2 injection. These mice were found to have ASD-like traits in the males and females of both PGE2 models compared to controls. The results from our lab in both animal and cell work have shown that altering normal levels of PGE2 result in molecular and behavioral changes that can be implicated back to ASD.

Microarray data from our lab using male brain tissue from embryonic day16 (E16) and E19 COX-2⁻KI mice showed abnormalities in a variety of genes related to autism and neuronal functions (Rai-Bhogal et al, 2018). This work found 42 ASD genes within the COX-2⁻KI model to be dysregulated, involved in pathways such as wingless (WNT) signaling, axon guidance, intracellular transport, and negative regulation of apoptosis. This complements previous findings from our lab indicating that PGE2 is able to alter WNT-regulated gene expression in a neuroectodermal (NE-4C) stem cell model (Wong et al, 2014; Wong et al, 2016). Wong et al (2014) was able to confirm for the first time that within NE-4C cells that PGE2 signaling can influence WNT-signaling via downstream effectors such as protein kinase A (PKA) and phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases (PI-3K) (Figure 2). The WNT signaling pathway is known as a crucial pathway for the development and organization in the brain, and its dysregulation has been correlated with autism, schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease and various inflammatory diseases (Ferrari and Moon, 2006; Zimmerman et al, 2012). The WNT signaling pathway has also been recently tied to microglial viability and proliferation in neurological diseases such as Alzheimer's disease (Zheng et al, 2017). The role of activated microglia and their implications to the brain are discussed below.

Additional work from our lab done in NE-4C cells demonstrated that PGE2 has pivotal roles in cytosolic and growth cone calcium levels and in promoting stem cells to differentiate into neuronal-lineage cells (Tamiji and Crawford, 2010a; Wong et al, 2016).

Further implications for fatty acids and their derivatives in ASD come from studies involving misoprostol. Misoprostol is drug typically used for gastric ulcer treatments as well as to induce uterine contractions to induce early pregnancy termination in pregnant women. Pregnancies that were not properly terminated by this drug resulted in autistic-like characteristics in a pathology termed Moebius syndrome; this is of particular interest as misoprostol is a PGE2 analogue (Bandim et al, 2003). The findings from our lab and others clearly demonstrate the implications of the abnormal regulation to the COX-2/PGE2 pathway, resulting in higher or lower levels of PGE2 compared to healthy controls, and their possible connections back to ASD.



Regulatory Responses (immune, gastric, sleep)

Figure 1: An overview of the prostanoid synthesis pathway and environmental

interactions. AA is metabolized from the phospholipid membrane by PLA2, which will then be acted on by COX-1 and -2 for the production of PGE2. PGE2 will affect one of four receptors, prostaglandin receptor 1-4 (EP1-4), resulting in downstream gene expression. Pathway antagonists such as nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) decrease PGE2 production through the disruption of the COX-1 and COX-2 enzymes. Other common factors previously shown to alter prostaglandin production include air pollution, consumer products, and products that influence hormone production. This image has been modified from previous work in Wong et al, 2015



Figure 2: A proposed model of PGE2 and WNT pathway interactions. Adapted from Wong and Crawford (2014) this image demonstrates how PGE2 regulates the canonical WNT pathway. PGE2 interacts with EP1-4 receptors resulting in downstream protein kinase A (PKA), phosphatidylinositide 3-kinases (PI-3K) activity; these kinases are suggested to act as the link between the two pathways.

1.7 Microglia Overview

Microglia are a type of glial cell found within the central nervous system (CNS) accounting for as much 10-15% of the total cell population of the brain (Lawson & Gordon, 1992). They are known as the tissue-resident macrophage of the CNS but have a distinct lineage from macrophages. Microglial precursors are yolk sac derived and invade the brain during early development at E9.5 within the mouse brain, where they will migrate through the parenchyma and mature (Ginhoux et al, 2013). Various studies have shown that microglia that are a self-sustaining population that remain distinct from macrophages throughout life, repopulating through constant proliferation known as microgliosis (Reu et al, 2017). These cells are very sensitive to their environmental cues and as such are variable between different subregions of the brain in both overall density and activity due to the difference in gene expression within those regions (Grabert et al, 2016).

The driving force for microglial precursors to be drawn to the brain from the yolk sac is currently thought to be based on the brain's need for apoptotic cells to be cleared. "Find me" and "Eat me" signals, which are signals released from apoptotic cells, call phagocytotic cells like the microglial precursors to it for clearance (Du and Du, 2016). Some of these signals include adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and uridine diphosphate (UDP) which respectively bind to the P2Y12 and P2Y6 purinergic receptors of microglia, initiating the movement towards the area which the signal came (Koizumi et al, 2012).

The precursors will mature into adult microglia by P14, identifiable by their shape of a small cell body and large thin branches extending from it, known as a ramified morphology (Matcovitch-Natan et al, 2016). The roles of ramified microglia are discussed below.

Although the exact mechanism of microglial maturation is still debated it is generally thought that the environmental changes of the developing brain are what causes the microglia to

mature (Matovich-Natan et al, 2016). Microglia are incredibly functionally diverse being able to meet the needs of the developing brain, as well as the life-long maintenance of the healthy adult, which drives the concept that microglia gain their specialized functions tailored to the environment they are in. Indeed, as the brain develops it has been recently found that microglia will follow a stepwise pattern of development, each having characteristic gene expression and functional states (Matovich-Natan et al, 2016). From when the precursors enter the brain until they mature, they demonstrate morphologies and functions similar to the mature active morphology we discuss below.

Microglia have two main morphologically distinct states in the mature brain known as active or ramified (Figure 3). Ramified microglia were previously known as resting microglia, but there has been a recent change in nomenclature in the literature as these cells are anything but "resting". Ramified microglial cells have a distinct morphology of a small cell body with thin, far reaching, extensions (Young et al, 2018). These cells were previously believed to have very little influence on the overall health of the brain, essentially waiting to become functional by activation. It is now understood that while their somas remain sedentary the microglial branches are highly motile. These branches are continuously surveying the brain for possible insults or pathogen, as well as transiently contacting synaptic elements of the brain (Tremblay et al, 2010. Nayak et al, 2014). Studies examining the function of these branch connections have suggested ramified microglia play a role in synaptic pruning, indicated by pre- and post-synaptic puncta located in the cell. As well, ramified microglia have also been seen to assist in the maturation of synaptic elements through the release of growth factors such as brain derived neurotropic factor (BDNF) (Parkhurst et al, 2013).

When ramified microglia encounter a possible insult or pathogen, the cell begins to rapidly change into a state known as "active". The long thin branches will begin to retract into the cell body, creating a distinct morphology of a large, rounded cell bodies with no little to no branching extensions (Young et al, 2018). In this state microglia are considered fully phagocytic and able to encapsulate harmful debris such as apoptotic or necrotic cells, bacteria and viruses (Janda et al, 2018). These cells are highly reactive and begin to express a variety of receptors and secrete factors distinct from the ramified morphology. As more research is completed, more is understood the complexity of microglia and its activation- leading us to understand that there are two forms of active microglia known as M1 and M2 (Orihuela et al, 2015; Ponomarev et al, 2007). While the M1 and M2 stage share a similar rounded morphology, based on the stimulus that resulted in their move from the ramified state, they will complete different roles.

M1 microglia, considered to be classically activated, are known as the pro-inflammatory active state typically induced by lipopolysaccharides (LPS) or interferon gamma (IFNγ) contact. M1 microglia have nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) pathways activated which are heavily tied to inflammation; this pathway results in the expression of various cytokines and chemokines (Lawrenece, 2009; Liu et al, 2017). As well these M1 cells are linked to reactive oxygen species and nitric oxide production, all of these factors contribute to the inflammation process (Tang and Le, 2015). These cells exhibit an increased subset of receptors typically associated with phagocytic processes such as cluster of differentiation (CD)11b. CD11b binds to CD18 to form the Mac-1 receptor displayed on the surface of activated microglia, which is an essential receptor in microglial phagocytosis (Schuman and Weiss, 2005; Zhang et al, 2011). While the Mac-1 receptor is constitutively expressed within all microglia, it

is upregulated within the M1 phenotype, which grants it as a marker of microglial activation (Wang et al, 2013).

M2 cells are known as alternatively activated or acquired deactivated cells and have multiple anti-inflammatory properties that antagonize the M1 pro-inflammatory responses. Alternatively activated (M2) cells arise from ramified cells that have been stimulated by IL-4 and IL-13, while acquired deactivation cells are M1 cells that have been stimulated by IL-10 or transforming growth factor beta (TGF- β) and switch to the M2 anti-inflammatory state (Tang and Le, 2015). M2 secrete factors such as insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1), arginase 1 (Arg1), and YM1 which assist in anti-inflammatory processes.

These diverse cells not only help with the maintenance of the healthy brain, but also assist in its formation during development. Although these cells are not required for the general assembly of the brain structures, they have been shown to be crucial in its fine tuning. Microglia in recent years have been found during development to be important for neuronal apoptosis, angiogenesis, synapse elimination, and axon growth and guidance (Pont-Lezica et al, 2011). Microglia are also able to play a large role in programmed cell death through the secretion of TNF-a, reactive oxygen species (ROS), and glutamate (Bessis et al, 2007). This is of importance as during vertebrae development the brain overgrows, resulting in the need for approximately half of all neurons born to undergo programmed cell death for a healthy brain (Vanderhaeghen and Cheng, 2010; Bang and White, 2000). As well, these dying cells will then need to be properly cleared from the locale, further implicating microglial importance in healthy development, based on their phagocytic properties.

1.8 Microglia, Sex, and Age Differences

Microglia are extremely sensitive to their local environment, including to the sex hormones appropriate to the sex of the organism they belong to, resulting in distinct differences between males and females. It has been shown for example that estrogen, the female sex hormone, has a general anti-inflammatory effect on microglia (Bruce-Keller et al, 2000; Villa et al, 2016; Vegeto et al, 2002). In line with this concept, a variety of studies have demonstrated male mice to have a greater inflammatory profile in mice 3 months old as well as at 15-17 months. It has also been shown that estradiol, the aromatized version of testosterone within the mouse brain, promotes a more active morphology within microglia which is a sign of inflammation (Villa et al, 2018; Rahimian et al, 2018; Lenz et al, 2013).

It has also been shown that both age and sex play a large role in microglia colonization and morphology across development. Schwarz et al (2012) examined for these differences within the developing and postnatal rat brain in one prenatal and 4 postnatal stages. They reported that males were seen to have higher densities at P4 within the hippocampus, amygdala and the parietal cortex. Interestingly during later stages, P30 and P60, females were then seen to have increased microglia within these same regions.

Microglia have also been found to be extremely important in the masculinization of the neonatal brain induced by the male gonadal activity (Lenz et al, 2013). The spark that originated the interest that microglia may play a role in masculinization originated from work completed by Gorski et al (1978) where they determined there were sex-based microglial differences within the preoptic area. This is of significance as this area of the brain is generally implicated in the control of male reproductive behavior. Further studies have examined the role of testosterone in male rodents and how it may influence the changes seen in microglia. In male mice there is a surge in testosterone during development that once it enters the brain is aromatized to a variety

of products including estradiol (E2). E2 was found by McCarthy (2008), using P4 mice to be the dominant masculinizing hormone within the rodent brain and interestingly was found to induce PGE2 production in microglia (Lenz et al, 2013). To determine if the microglia were the particular cell type being influenced by E2 that consequently influenced changes in the brain that resulted in male-like behavior Lenz et al (2013) completed an experiment using E2 and a microglial inhibitor. Newborn female mice were administered E2 alone, mimicking the naturally occurring gonadal surge in males, or E2 and a microglial inhibitor known as minocycline. Interestingly they found that females who received E2 alone were found to have masculine sexual behaviors, while those given the inhibitor did not. This implicates not only the importance of sex on microglia, but also the importance microglia have on the sexing of the brain.

1.9 Microglia, PGE2, and Autism

With all the important roles microglia play within the healthy brain the role microglia may play within pathologies has recently come into question. Deletions of key microglial transcription factors such as Hoxb8, which are only found in microglia within the CNS, resulted in excessive grooming behavior within animal studies (Greer and Capecchi, 2002; Chen et al, 2010). This was one of the first studies directly showing that abnormalities in microglia can have a direct effect on behavioral syndromes, although the exact method of how microglia induce these changes is currently unknown.

As previous mentioned animal models of ASD, as well as human studies, have shown that these individuals have increased expression of nitric oxides, chemokines and cytokines which is a clear sign of neuroinflammation (Goines et al, 2013). Another indication of inflammation is characterized by the pro-inflammatory active state of microglial cells (Rodriguez and Kern, 2011). Various post mortem studies have shown that in patients with ASD there was

abnormal microglial activation to controls, tying the cells further to the disease (Vargas et al, 2005; Morgan et al, 2010; Tetreault et al 2012). It is also well documented that ASD patients have abnormal brain synaptic connectivity shown through fMRI studies done in humans, which may relate to aberrant microglial activity (Rodriguez and Kern, 2011; Damarla et al, 2010; Ebisch et al, 2011). As well, the environmental and immune factors linked with ASD have strong ties with microglial abnormalities in activation state and density. As microglia regulate so many vital functions to healthy brain development and maintenance dysregulation of these cells has been implicated in many of the pathologies associated with ASD.

Some individuals with ASD were found to have increased levels of PGE2 compared to controls (El-Ansary and Al-Ayadhi, 2012). Interestingly, males have increased levels of PGE2 during development due to the elevated steroids associated with the masculinization of the brain. PGE2 has been associated with the masculinization of the brain, shown through increased dendritic spine density, a known trait of the male brain (Wright et al, 2008; Wright and McCarthy, 2017). PGE2 and microglia have been found to interact in a cyclical manner, beginning with PGE2 signaling being found to influence the activation of microglia through stimulation of EP2 receptors on the cell's surface (Quan et al, 2013). Once the cell is activated, microglia produce an inducible protein called microsomal prostaglandin E2 synthase 1 (mPGES-1), which will further produce PGE2 downstream, leading to an exacerbation of the inflammatory process (Ikeda-Matsuo et al, 2005). The levels of mPGES-1 have been found to be higher in those with autism and have been noted as a marker to describe the severity of the disorder, indicating the important role in ASDs (Zhang et al, 2009).



Figure 3: PGE2 effect on microglial morphology and common roles of the activation states. Active microglia are represented on the right, showing an amoeboid shape with a variety of roles and secretions revolving around inflammatory processes. Some of these secretions include interleukin-1 β ,-6,-10 (II-1 β , II-6, II-10), nitric oxide (NO), reactive oxygen species (ROS), and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β). Ramified microglia exhibit a smaller cell body with long extending branches with roles and secretions revolving around maintenance of the brain. They have been shown to secrete insulin growth factor-1 (IGF-1), brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), nerve growth factor (NGF) and TGF- β .

2. Research Justification and Review

Microglia are now understood to play many diverse roles in the brain, not only during adulthood, but throughout development as well. These cells have a wide range of roles that influence the overall health of the brain that are heavily related to their morphologically distinct activation states. The balance of the two activation states, active or ramified, is a "goldilocks" situation where imbalances in the morphologies can result in neurological abnormalities- it needs to be just right in order to ensure a healthy brain. Previous studies have focused on the differences in select brain regions at a variety of time points to examine differences in microglial colonization and activity to gain insight into various diseases and disorders. As microglia are related to the immune system and synaptic pruning, two extremely important processes in the brain that are known to be dysregulated in those with ASD, naturally the relation of these cells to ASD began to spark (Rodriguez & Kern, 2011). Beyond a possible speculation, both gene and post-mortem studies have been completed that heavily tie together microglial involvement in ASDs (Pardo et al, 2009; Vargus et al, 2004; Morgan et al, 2010; Rodriguez & Kern, 2011; Smith et al, 2012).

PGE2 is a lipid signaling molecule known to influence the balance between active and ramified microglia, whose expression in autistic individuals has been found to be altered as well. Many studies completed in our lab have shown the importance of PGE2 to the brain, its connection to autism, as well as showing that the COX-2⁻ KI model serves as an ASD model. With this in mind Wong et al (unpublished) began to examine differences in microglial density, activity levels, and branching patterns within the P8 wild-type (WT) and COX-2⁻ KI mouse. The P8 stage is significant for autism studies as it is analogous to a human infanthood, which is when most autism behaviors become evident (Pressler and Auvin 2013). This work showed significant microglial differences within the COX-2⁻KI mouse using the same criteria to be used in this

study, looking into five regions of that have been tied to ASD: the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and the thalamus. Our lab has also completed gene expression analysis of P8 COX-2⁻ KI male and female mice examining microglial genes such as *IL-1B*, *IL-6*, and *CD11B*, which were all seen to be dysregulated within our COX-2⁻ KI model (Wong et al, 2018).

My work will be completed in two developmental stages that, to our knowledge, have not been previously analyzed for microglial differences within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and the thalamus. We will be examining all data for possible sex-based differences at E19 and P25, as well as differences in microglial density, activity and branching patterns based on the COX-2⁻ KI condition. These novel findings will help to provide deeper insight into the effects of age, sex, and PGE2 on microglia, as well as eliciting to the potential roles of PGE2 and microglia in the manifestation of autism.

3. Research plan

3.1 General objective

The general objective of this study is to examine microglia activity in the brains of COX-2⁻KI mice, which lack the COX-2 enzyme which produces PGE2, to provide further knowledge into the pathology of ASD. I will quantify microglial density, activity, and branching using a morphological analysis within E19 and P25 developmental stages. This study will also investigate for the first-time differences between male and female offspring in order to gain more insight into ASD sex-related differences at these developmental time points. Results from this study will add to our understanding of how abnormal signaling of the COX-2/PGE2 pathway influence microglial activity in the developing brain and how it may contribute to brain pathology that results in ASD.

3.2 Study 1: Microglial morphology and density in prenatal and postnatal brain of COX-2 deficient mice

Objective: In this study I aim to examine the density and morphology of microglia within five regions of the brain: the cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, olfactory bulb and thalamus. I will analyze morphological differences for activity while also examining their average branch length, primary branch counts as well as total branch counts. Using both male and female COX-2⁻KI mice I will examine differences prenatally at E19 and postnatally at P25. **Hypothesis:** PGE2 has been shown to be a classical microglia activator. Our previous work in the brains of COX-2⁻KI offspring at P8 have already shown sex and region-specific decreased microglia activation, increases in microglial density and branching behaviors. This study stems from these findings and will evaluate these morphologies in development at the prenatal (E19) and postnatal (P25) stages. We hypothesize that in the COX-2-KI offspring we will observe age-
related differences in microglial density, activation (amoeboid vs. ramified), process length and numbers in two developmental ages (E19 vs P25) based on sex and brain region.

Methodology: I will visualize microglia using immunohistochemistry with well-established microglial marker anti-ionized calcium binding adaptor molecule 1 (Iba1) to examine morphological differences within five brain regions. I will analyze the microglial density, activity, and branching differences in two developmental stages while also examining for sexdependent differences.

3.3 Experimental Model System

The COX-2- KI model obtained from Jackson Laboratory (stock number: 008101) were created by a targeted gene mutation of a Y385F substitution in *Ptgs2* (Queen's University, laboratory of C. Funk). COX-2- KI mice were back crossed with our wild-type model, 129S6/SvEvTac acquired from Taconic Laboratory, for at least five generations. COX-2- KI mice also known as *Ptgs2*^{Y385F} founder mice and B6.129S6(FVB)-*Ptgs2*^{tm1.1Fun}/J, ultimately have complete inhibition of COX-2 activity (Yu et al, 2006). As homozygous females are infertile, heterozygous females were bred with homozygous or heterozygous males in order to obtain the required homozygous COX-2⁻ KI offspring used in this study. The wildtype strain 129S6/SvEvTac comes from Taconic Laboratory.

3.4 Contributions

All Immunohistochemical staining, microglial morphological analysis and statistics were conducted and completed by Sarah Wheeler. Mouse brains were extracted by Ravneet Rai-Bhogal and Sarah Wheeler.

4. Methodology

4.1. Generation of COX-2-KI and Wild Type Models

As homozygous COX-2⁻KI females are infertile, we bred COX-2⁻KI homozygous males with heterozygous COX-2⁻KI females to collect homozygous COX-2⁻KI offspring. Mice were housed at the York University animal facility according to the York University Animal Care Committee (ACC) ethics guidelines. Upon arrival to the facility mice were acclimatized for one week to the 12-hour light/dark cycle. Animals were maintained in under similar conditions with food and water available *ab libitum*. All breeding and experiments were approved by the Research Ethics Board of York University.

4.2 Genotyping

To determine the sex and the knockout zygosity gDNA was isolated from tail samples and ear punches that were homogenized in alkaline lysis reagent (25 NaOH) and then neutralized via Tris-HCl. PCR reactions to genotype the COX-2-KI offspring was completed using a primer sequence obtained from Jackson Laboratories specifying the COX-2 gene (*Ptgs2*) (Table 1). For prenatal stages, a PCR for the sex determining region Y (*SRY*), was used to examine the sex of the offspring (Table 1). The PCR reaction was carried out using a PCR master mix (2.5 mM dNTP, 10x Taq buffer Biolabs #M04481S, 5 units/ μ L Taq DNA polymerase Biolabs #M0480S, 20mm MgSO4), 4 μ L of DNA and ddH20, and 10 μ M of primers (Table 1). The reaction was performed in an Eppendorf Mastercycler with PCR products resolved using a 1.2% agarose gel with SafeView (Abm, G108) and 6x-BB used as a loading buffer.

Primer	Name	Sequence (5'-3')	Length (bp)
Forward	Mus Gapdh	TTGTGATGGGTGTGAACCAC	20
Reverse	Mus Gapdh	GTCTTCTGGGTGGCAGTGAT	20
Forward	Mus Sry	TCCCAGCATGCAAAATACAGAGATCAGC	28
Reverse	Mus Sry	TTGGAGTACAGGTGTGCAGCTCTAC	25
Forward	Mus Ptgs2	ACCAGTCTCTCAATGAGTAC	20
Reverse	Mus Ptgs2	AGAATGGTGCTCCAAGCTCTAC	22

Table 1. PCR primer sequence for *Gapdh* gene, Sex and Genotype Analysis.

4.3 Brain Extraction

Brain samples of the COX-2⁻KI model and WT were extracted at a prenatal and postnatal time points E19 and P25 respectively. Mice were rendered unconscious by placing them into a chamber of oxygen and isoflurane and were quickly decapitated. E19 was a selected time point for this study as it is the last possible embryonic point that could be collected before birth, allowing us to examine the brain at a period of growth and development. It also represents a time where the microglia population has recently invaded the brain; cells are anticipated to be found in an amoeboid shape with an increasing population based on increased rates of microgliosis (Figure 4). P25 mice were selected as they have fully formed regions of the brain such as the cerebellum. At this developmental point the microglial population is expected to be at the stable population seen throughout adulthood, with cells anticipated to be in a more ramified morphology (Figure 4).



Figure 4: Timeline showing progression of microglia development in the mouse brain. (A) Key prenatal and postnatal developmental time-points including dates important for our study, (B) initiation of microglial development and morphology time-line of microglia maturation and (C) the progression curve of microglia density throughout development. Information for (B) and (C) is representative of what is known for the healthy mouse brain (Lenz and Nelson, 2018; Matcovitch-Natan et al, 2016). "E" stands for embryonic day and "P" for postnatal day. E1 represents the beginning of the embryonic stage, determined by females who have formed a plug, a sign of fertilization. E20 or P0 represents birth and the start of postnatal stages. Stages that have been outlined in a blue box represent time points of collection in this study.

4.4 Immunohistochemistry

Extracted brain samples were observed for any damages, abrasions or detached structures. Samples that were found to be intact and undamaged were subsequently washed in 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for one hour, then allowed to soak in a replenished 4% PFA solution for 48 hours. After which time they were transported to the Center for Phenogenomics (Toronto, Canada) to be embedded sagittally in paraffin and sliced at 4um. Samples had paraffin removed through washes in xylene and rehydrated in descending ethanol washes. Samples then were boiled in sodium citrate (pH=6) for 20 minutes for antigen retrieval. To prevent any possible endogenous peroxidase activity samples were incubated in 0.3% hydrogen peroxide in methanol for 30 minutes. Following this the samples were circled using a super PAP pen (Cedarlane); a hydration chamber was created and used for all following steps. Samples were blocked using phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), with 5% goat serum and 0.1% Triton-X for 30 minutes. Samples then left overnight at 4°C to incubate with the primary antibody Rabbit anti-Iba1 (1:1000, Wako Cat. #019-19741) diluted to 5% goat serum in PBS. Secondary antibody staining was done with an anti-rabbit IgG antibody (1:2000, Vector Laboratories) incubation for one hour at room temperature, followed by an incubated with Elite Reagent (Vectastain Elite Kit, Vector Laboratories) for an additional hour. 3-3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) was used to develop the immunostain through incubating slides with a DAB substrate solution (SIGMAFAST DAB tablets, D4168, Sigma) dissolved in Milli Q water and 0.3% ammonium nickel sulfate hexahydrate. Using ascending ethanol washes samples were dehydrated, followed by a xylene incubation. Permount mounting medium was used to fix coverslip slides to the samples. An example of this staining technique is demonstrated in figure 5.

29



Figure 5: Immunohistochemistry staining results with Iba-1. To demonstrate immunohistochemistry staining results under optimized conditions, we show staining of the hippocampus with a primary and secondary antibody (A), staining without a primary antibody (B), and staining completed without use of the secondary antibody (C).

4.5 Microglial Cell Density and Morphology Analysis

Images of the brain samples were taken using a Nikon Eclipse Ti-E (Nikon) microscope at 20x magnification and automated image stitching. Five regions of the brain previously implicated in ASD were imaged using light microscopy, the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus (Figure 6-7). The estimated density of each region was obtained by calculating the total number of cells and dividing it by the area of the given region. Cells were classified morphologically into one of two categories: active or ramified. Active microglia have enlarged cell bodies that are typically amoeboid and rounded in shape, while ramified microglia have smaller cell bodies with long thin branches (Figure 8). The percentage of active or ramified microglia was determined by taking the number of active/ramified cells per region and dividing it by that region's total density. The activation state, represented by an amoeboid or ramified cell shape, the longest length of processes, the number of primary branches along with the total number of branches per microglia cell was quantified using NIS-elements software (Nikon). Primary branches were defined as branches that extended directly from the soma, while total branches included all branches from the cell (secondary, tertiary, etc). The length of processes was measured from the surface of the soma to the tip of the longest process per cell (Figure 8). All analyses were completed blind to the condition of the samples



Figure 6. Iba1 immunohistochemistry staining of E19 brain regions. Sagittal slices of the cerebellum (A), hippocampus (B), olfactory bulb (C), thalamus (D) and prefrontal cortex (E) were analyzed (outlined in yellow). Scale bar represents 500 µm.



Figure 7: Iba1 immunohistochemistry staining of P25 brain regions. Sagittal slices of the cerebellum (A), hippocampus (B), olfactory bulb (C), thalamus (D) and prefrontal cortex (E) were analyzed (outlined in yellow). Scale bar represents 500 µm.



Figure 8: Microglia morphology examples and methods of branch measurements. Active cells were identified based on a large cell body with a rounded or amoeboid form (A). Ramified microglia are known to have a small cell body and large extending branches(B). To examine differences in branching, the length of the largest process was measured from the cell soma, thus only one branch per cell was measured for the given measurement (C). As well primary branches, noted as branches extending directly from the cell soma (D), while total branches included all branches regardless if they were primary or not (E).

4.6 Statistical Analysis

For Immunohistochemistry (IHC) studies a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was completed, with our factors being sex and treatment, followed by post-hoc analysis of a Bonferroni test. We ensured all assumptions for our data were met in order to run the two-way ANOVA. Post-hoc analysis was used to determine differences between experimental groups to the wildtype, as well as sex-based differences. All numerical data is presented as mean \pm standard error of the mean (SEM), which represents quantification from at least three separate individuals, with significance for all experiments was determined at p<0.05. Within our results, we first present the F-value for the interaction between sex and treatment, along with its *p*-value. This is followed by the comparison of WT to COX animals, showing their means for the given measurement and the *p*-value indicating if there is a statistically relevant difference between the two, to give deeper insight to the effect of the COX-2 disruption. Finally, in order to investigate the effect of sex, we show the means of the WT male, COX-2 male, WT female, and the COX-2 female for the given measurement, followed by any significant differences found through posthoc comparisons.

5 Results

5.1 Embryonic E19 studies

As previously mentioned E19 is the last possible embryonic day that can be collected before birth. This stage allows us to examine the brain during a period of intense growth and development. To our knowledge, this is the first study within the mouse brain at E19 which studies microglial density and morphology with a focus on sex. Results from the WT and COX-2⁻KI mice are discussed below.

5.1.1 Altered Microglia Density in Prenatal day 19 Mouse

Microglial precursors begin to invade the mouse brain at approximately E9.5 where they will mature into adult microglia within the first four weeks of the mouse life cycle (Matovitch-Natan et al, 2016). During this time frame the small population of precursors that emerged from the embryonic yolk sac will begin to rapidly undergo division in order to build the self-sustaining microglial population seen within the adult brain. In order to determine differences in microglial density based on the disruption of COX-2 activity within the E19 mouse brain we quantified the total number of microglia within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus (Figure 9). A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze microglial density (cells/mm²) for each mentioned region. To examine for sex differences males and females were examined separately.

The cerebellum (Figure 9, F(3,8)=1.619, p=0.204) had no difference in the combined male and female cerebellar microglial density of WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.567, WT=20.50±1.9, COX-2⁻ KI=22.22±2.4). When sexes were examined separately, we found that WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective microglial densities of 16.71±1.9, 24.56±4.6, 24.29±2.9, 19.87±1.2. Post hoc comparisons found no significance (p>0.05). Within the hippocampus (Figure 9, F(3,8)=2.761, p=0.058) no differences in microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice were found (p=0.325, WT=22.25±2.3, COX-2⁻ KI=25.78±2.9). The WT male, COX-2⁻ KI male, WT female, and COX-2⁻ KI female microglial densities of the hippocampus was respectively 17.77±1.4, 20.74±3.6, 26.73±3.8 and 30.83±4.5. Post hoc comparisons found no significance (p>0.05).

The olfactory bulb (Figure 9, F(3,8)=5.808, p=0.003) had significant differences in microglial density between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice (p<0.001, WT=28.96±1.9, COX-2⁻ KI=43.67±3.3). The olfactory bulb of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective microglial densities of 31.55±2.1, 40.56±5.4, 26.36±3.1, 46.79±3.9. Post hoc comparisons revealed higher microglial densities in COX-2⁻KI females compared to WT mice, while no differences were seen in males (p=0.01; p>0.05). No sex differences were seen within the olfactory bulb.

The prefrontal cortex (Figure 9, F(3,8)=0.873, p=0.465) had no statistical differences in microglial density in COX-2⁻ KI mice compared to WT mice (p=0.492, WT=20.44±1.85, COX-2⁻ KI=22.59±2.5). WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective microglial densities of 22.44±3.1, 20.10±4.0, 18.43±1.9, and 25.07±2.9. Post hoc comparisons found no differences (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 9, F(3,8)=2.436, p=0.083), there was no significant differences in microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.113, WT=25.05±2.0, COX-2⁻ KI=21.05±1.6). No significant differences were found between the thalamus of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females with respective microglial densities of 22.22±2.9, 17.13±1.3, 27.88±1.3, and 24.98±2.4 (p>0.05). Overall, we found at E19 that within the olfactory bulb that the COX-2⁻KI animals were found to have greater microglial density compared to the WT mice, when sex was combined. The cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex and thalamus showed no significant changes in density based on the COX-2 mutation. When sexes were examined independently, we found that interestingly found that no regions other than the olfactory bulb had significantly different findings, which were only within females. We saw that COX-2⁻ KI females had a higher density than WT females, while strikingly no differences were found within the males (p=0.01; p>0.05).

Cerebellum



Hippocampus





Figure 9. Microglial density changes in embryonic brain. Microglial densities were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. Each bar represents the average density for at least three animals per experimental condition. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.1.2 Altered Active and Ramified Morphology in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse

Microglia were categorized as either an active or ramified cell, based on their morphological phenotypes. As previously mentioned, active microglia are characterized by having a large round cell body, with little to no branches extending from the soma. Ramified cells on the other hand represent themselves by a small soma and multiple thin branches. Microglia were examined in the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus of E19 brain samples of COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice.

Active Morphology Percentages

During embryonic time points microglia are typically seen in an amoeboid morphology, indicating an active state (Ling and Wong, 1993). Recently a growing interest has emerged concerning microglia within the prenatal and developing brain, with many studies suggesting that they engage in phagocytosis of degenerating cells or pathogens and secrete a variety of soluble factors important for healthy development. To determine differences in the percentage of active microglia at E19 counted in our regions of interest, percentages of amoeboid microglia to total microglia were calculated, and a two-way ANOVA was performed.

For the cerebellum (Figure 10, F(3,8)=2.211, p=0.106) no significance was found in amoeboid microglia morphology percentages when male and female data were combined in WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.257, WT=62.39±2.04, COX-2⁻ KI=66.11±2.4). Within the cerebellum WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective active amoeboid morphology percentages of 62.90±.3.4, 60.88 ±4.1, 61.88 ±2.5, 71.33±2.6. COX-2⁻ KI females had increased percentages of amoeboid microglia compared to WT females (p=0.046), while no differences were seen in males (p>0.05). Interestingly when examining for sex

40

differences only the COX-2⁻ KI animals showed significant differences with females having greater numbers of amoeboid microglia compared to males (p=0.029).

In the hippocampus (Figure 10, F(3,8)=0.503, p=0.683) amoeboid microglia percentages were not significantly different between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.627, WT=64.22±2.3, COX-2- KI=66.06±2.9). No statistical differences were observed in the hippocampus of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females with respective amoeboid microglia percentages of 65.11±4.1, 63.22±3.7, 63.33±2.4, 68.89±4.3 (p>0.05).

For the olfactory bulb (Figure 10, F(3,8)=0.641, p=0.594) no differences in the active amoeboid microglia percentages were seen between COX-2⁻ KI mice compared to the WT (p=0.877, WT=71.82±2.3, COX-2⁻ KI=72.36±2.6). Within the olfactory bulb WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective amoeboid microglia percentages of 74.85±3.2, 73.93±3.4, 68.77±3.5, 73.93±3.39. Post hoc comparisons showed no significance (p>0.05).

The prefrontal cortex (Figure 10, F(3,8)=1.792, p=0.168) showed no differences in the quantities of active microglia percentages between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.752, WT=73.06±2.3, COX-2⁻ KI=66.67±2.2). For the prefrontal cortex of the WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective amoeboid microglia percentages of 71.56±3.3, 69.00±4.2, 74.56±3.0, 64.34±3.3. While no differences were found between male mice, it was seen that COX-2⁻KI females had decreased active percentages compared to WT females (p=0.032). No significance was determined through post hoc comparisons between sexes (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 10, F(3,8)=1.318, p=0.286) no differences were seen in active microglial counts between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice (p=0.752, WT=65.44±2.1, COX-2⁻

41

KI=64.33±2.8). Within the thalamus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective amoeboid microglia percentages of 64.66 ± 3.2 , 59.55 ± 4.2 , 66.22 ± 3.1 , 69.11 ± 3.3 . Post hoc comparisons found no differences in the thalamus (p>0.05)

Overall, we saw at E19 that there were no differences between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice when sexes were combined in terms of active morphology percentages within any of our regions of interest. When sexes were examined independently, we found that within the cerebellum that COX-2⁻ KI females had greater counts of active microglia compared to WT females. Interestingly within the prefrontal cortex we observed that COX-2⁻ KI females had a decreased active microglia percentage compared to the WT female. When examining for sex differences only the cerebellum showed significant findings. Interestingly COX-2⁻ KI females were increased compared to males, while no difference was seen within the wildtypes.









Figure 10. Active morphology percentage changes in the embryonic brain. Active microglia percentage were measured within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the active percentage for at least three animals per experimental condition. In the example of amoeboid microglia scale bars represent 10 μ m. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Ramified Morphology percentages

Microglia are found to mature as development of the brain progresses and will change their morphology from the rounded large soma to a smaller cell body with long thin processes categorized as ramified cells; as such ramified cells are typically more predominately seen within older stages of the developing healthy brain (Nayak et al, 2014). Ramified microglia are known to influence synaptic activity both through direct contact as well as indirectly through secretions of growth factors such as IGF-1 and TGF-B (Tremblay et al, 2010; Parkhurst et al, 2013; Schafer et al, 2012; Sipe et al, 2016). To determine differences in the percentage of ramified microglia counted in our regions of interest, percentages of ramified microglia to total microglia were calculated, and a two-way ANOVA was performed.

For the cerebellum (Figure 11, F(3,8)=2.211, p=0.106) no differences in the amount of ramified microglia percentages were found between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice when male and female were examined together (p=0.257 WT=37.60 ±2.0, COX-2⁻ KI=33.88±2.7). Within the cerebellum WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 37.1±3.4, 39.1±4.1, 38.1±2.5, 28.6±2.6. We found that there were only differences based on the COX-2 disruption within females, with the COX-2⁻KI mice having decreased ramified percentages than their sex-matched WT (p=0.046). We found that the COX-2⁻KI males had increased active microglial percentages compared to females (p=0.029). Interestingly no sex differences were found between WT mice (p>0.05).

For the hippocampus (Figure 11, F(3,8)=0.503, p=0.683) no difference in the amount of ramified microglia between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice was determined (p=0.387, WT=35.77±2.3, COX-2⁻ KI=33.94±2.8). As well, no differences were seen in the hippocampus of WT males,

COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females with respective percentages of ramified microglia of 34.88 ± 4.1 , 36.77 ± 3.7 , 36.66 ± 2.4 , 31.1 ± 4.3 (p>0.05).

The olfactory bulb (Figure 11, F(3,8)=0.641, p=0.594) percentages of ramified microglia were not significantly different between COX-2⁻KI and WT mice (p=0.877, WT=28.18±2.3, COX-2⁻KI=27.3±2.6). Within the olfactory bulb WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 25.14±2.8, 29.20±4.2, 31.23±3.5, 26.08±3.4. Post hoc comparisons found no differences in the olfactory bulb (p>0.05).

For the prefrontal cortex (Figure 11, F(3,8)=1.792, p=0.1.68) no differences were found in the percentages of ramified microglial in the COX-2⁻KI mice compared to WT mice (p=0.057, WT=26.94±3.3, COX-2⁻KI=33.33±3.1). Within the prefrontal cortex WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 28.44±4.0, 31.0±3.9, 25.44±2.6, 35.66±1.9. We found that COX-2⁻KI females had increased numbers of ramified microglia compared to WT females (p=0.032), while no differences were observed in males. No sex differences were seen within the prefrontal cortex (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 11, F(3,8)=1.318, p=0.286) the percentages of ramified microglia were larger in COX-2⁻KI compared to WT mice (p=0.752, WT=34.55±2.2, COX-2⁻KI=35.66±2.8). Within the thalamus WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective percentages of ramified microglia of 35.33±3.3, 40.4±4.2, 33.77±3.0, 30.88±3.3. Post hoc revealed no significant differences (p>0.05).

When sexes were combined and differences were examined for between ramified morphology percentages between COX-2⁻KI and WT mice no significance was found within any of our regions of interest at E19. When sexes were examined independently COX-2⁻KI females had decreased counts of ramified microglia compared to WT females within the cerebellum.

Interestingly, the prefrontal cortex showed that COX-2⁻KI females had increased ramified microglia percentage compared to the WT females. Sex differences were only found within the cerebellum where COX-2⁻KI females were decreased in ramified counts compared to males.







Hippocampus





Figure 11. Ramified morphology percentage changes in the embryonic brain. Ramified morphology percentages were measured within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the ramified percentage for at least three animals per experimental condition. In the example of ramified microglia scale bars represent 10 µm. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.1.3 Altered Microglial Branch Length in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse

Microglia show how highly dependent they on their environment through changes in their morphology, one such indicator of environmental impact is microglial branch length. Differences in microglia branch length are considered to be objective indicators of microglial activation, with shorter branches indicating a state closer to microglial activation than ramified (Morrison and Filosa, 2013; Stence et al, 2001). To determine differences in branch length based on the disruption of COX-2 activity at E19 the longest branch (µm) per microglia was measured within the cerebellum hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. The values reported represent the average branch length per microglia. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze average branch length for each mentioned region Males and females were examined separately to examine for sex differences.

For the cerebellum (Figure 12, F(3,266)=10.236, p<0.001) no statistical differences were seen between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice when male and female data were examined together $(p=0.130, WT=8.69\pm0.62, COX-2- KI=7.37\pm0.45)$. In the cerebellums of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective branch lengths of 9.98±1.06, 9.80±0.85, 7.57±0.69, 5.55±0.4. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻ KI females had decreased branch lengths compared to WT females (p=0.039), while no differences were seen in males (p>0.05). Sex differences were only seen in the COX-2⁻ KI animals with males having larger branch lengths than females (p<0.001).

The hippocampus (Figure 12, F(3,863)=14.29, p<0.001) showed no difference between COX-2⁻KI mice compared to WT mice (p=0.616, WT=4.06±0.22, COX-2⁻KI=3.82±0.2). WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females hippocampal analysis revealed respective branch lengths of 4.01±0.3, 4.46±0.3, 4.09±0.3, 3.36±0.2. When sexes were analyzed we found that COX-2⁻KI females had decreased branching lengths compared to WT females

(p=0.047), though no differences were seen within males (p>0.05). Interestingly while COX-2⁻ KI males had greater branching lengths COX-2⁻ KI females (p=0.003), no differences were seen in WT animals (p>0.05).

For the olfactory bulb (Figure 12, F(3,1030)=0.720, p=0.540) indicated COX-2⁻ KI no significant differences to the branch lengths of WT mice (p=0.610, WT=4.07±0.2, COX-2⁻ KI=3.98±0.2). Within the olfactory bulb WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective average branch lengths of 3.81±0.3, 3.83±0.2, 4.35±0.4, 4.05±0.2. Post hoc comparisons found that no differences within the olfactory bulb (p>0.05).

For the prefrontal cortex (Figure 12, F(3,757=3.255, p=0.021) COX-2⁻ KI mice were seen to have longer average branch lengths compared to WT mice (p=0.03, WT=3.09±0.2, COX-2⁻ KI=3.87±.0.2). Within the prefrontal cortex WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective branch lengths of 3.17±0.2, 3.75±0.3, 2.99±0.2, 3.95±0.2. Post hoc comparisons showed that COX-2⁻ KI females had increased branch lengths compared to WT females (p=0.008), while males interestingly showed no differences (p>0.05). No sex differences were observed within the prefrontal cortex (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 12, F(3,822)=3.815, p<0.010) COX-2⁻ KI mice were found to have no difference in branch length compared to WT mice (p=0.442, WT=5.05±0.2, COX-2⁻ KI=5.42±0.3). Within the thalamus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective branch lengths of 5.41±0.4, 6.17±0.4, 4.73±0.4, 4.55±0.3. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻ KI males had greater microglial branch lengths than COX-2⁻ KI females (p=0.003), while interestingly no sex differences were observed within the WT mice (p>0.05). Overall, at E19 we found that COX-2⁻ KI mice had significant increases in average branch lengths in the prefrontal cortex to WT mice. Interestingly within the cerebellum we observed that branch lengths were decreased in the COX-2⁻ KI animals compared to WT mice. The hippocampus, olfactory bulb and thalamus were not to have any statistically relevant differences despite the disruption of COX-2 activity. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice significant differences were seen in various regions. COX-2⁻ KI females were seen to have decreased branch lengths compared to WT females within the cerebellum and the hippocampus. Interestingly COX-2⁻ KI females were seen to be increased in branch length compared to WT females within the prefrontal cortex. Sex based differences were seen only in COX-2⁻ KI animals where males had greater branch lengths compared to females within the cerebellum, hippocampus, and thalamus.



Figure 12. Branch length changes in embryonic brain. The average branch length per cell were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the average branch length for at least three animals per experimental condition. The yellow lines on the representative images of ramified microglia branch length quantification signifies the longest branch measured; scale bar represents 10µm. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

51

5.1.4 Altered Microglial Primary Branching in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse

Microglial branches have been shown through two-photon microscopy to be highly active, constantly scanning the brain for insult or injury (Nimmerjahn et al, 2005). As time passes and microglia continue to mature an increasingly complex branching network has been demonstrated through a variety studies completed in several brain regions (Schwarz et al, 2012; Wu et al ,1992). To determine differences at E19 based on the disruption of COX-2 activity we quantified primary microglial branches within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. Primary branches were identified as branches extending directly from the microglial soma; all values reported are the average number of primary branches viewed per microglia. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze primary branch density for each mentioned region. To examine for sex differences males and females were examined separately.

For the cerebellum (Figure 13, F(3,611)=2.647, p=0.048) COX-2⁻ KI mice had a decreased number of primary branches density compared to WT mice when male and female data was combined (p=0.017, WT=1.08±0.07, COX-2⁻ KI=0.87±0.05). Within the cerebellum of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females we found primary branches counts to respectively be 1.13 ± 0.1 , 0.95 ± 0.05 , 1.04 ± 0.09 , 0.81 ± 0.07 . When sexes were examined separately, we saw that COX-2⁻ KI females had a decreased number of primary branches compared to the WT females (p=0.045), while no differences were seen in males (p>0.05). No sex differences were seen within the cerebellum (p>0.05).

In the hippocampus (Figure 13, F(3,862)=2.216, p=0.085) COX-2⁻ KI mice had no significant difference in primary branches when compared to WT mice (p=0.079, WT=1.01±0.05, COX-2⁻ KI=0.88±0.04). Within the hippocampus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective average primary branches per cell of 0.99 ± 0.07 , 0.96 ± 0.07 , 1.03 ± 0.07 , 0.82 ± 0.05 . Post hoc comparisons determined COX-2⁻ KI females to have decreased primary branching than their WT counterparts (p=0.017). No differences were noted within the males, nor were any sex differences within this region (p<0.05; p<0.05).

For the olfactory bulb (Figure 13, F(3,1030)=0.622, p=0.601) no difference was seen between the COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice primary branch counts (p=0.867, WT=0.78±0.04, COX-2⁻ KI=0.81±0.04). The olfactory bulbs of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective average primary branches per cell of 0.74±0.05, 0.78±0.06, 0.84±0.07, 0.82±0.04. When sexes were examined separately no differences were seen (p>0.05).

In the prefrontal cortex (Figure 13, F(3,757)=1.768, p=0.152) COX-2⁻ KI mice had greater quantities of primary branches than WT mice (p=0.047, WT=0.82±0.07, COX-2⁻ KI=0.97±0.05). Within the prefrontal cortex of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females respective primary branches values of 0.78±0.07, 0.97±0.07, 0.88±0.08, 0.97±0.06 were seen. Through post-hoc comparisons we found no statistically relevant differences (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 13, F(3,822)=0.241, p=0.243) no differences were seen in the amount of primary branches between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice (p=0.834, WT=1.03±0.05, COX-2⁻ KI=1.05±0.05). Within the thalamus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective primary branches per cell of 1.07±0.07, 1.04±0.07, 1.00±0.06, 1.07±0.07. Post-hoc differences determined no differences within the thalamus (p>0.05).

When examining for differences of primary microglial branches between WT and COX-2⁻KI animals significant differences were seen within the cerebellum and the prefrontal cortex. Interestingly while the cerebellum showed COX-2⁻KI mice to have a decreased number of primary branches compared to the WT, the prefrontal cortex showed the opposite. The hippocampus, olfactory bulb, and thalamus showed no significant differences in total branching despite the COX-2 disruption. Sexes were examined independently we saw that COX-2⁻ KI females more primary branches than WTs in the cerebellum and hippocampus. No sex differences were noted in any of the regions of interest.



Figure 13. Primary branch count changes in embryonic brain. The average number of primary branches per cell were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the average primary branch count for at least three animals per experimental condition. Yellow arrows represent primary branches counted in ramified microglia; scale bats represent 10 μ m. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.1.5 Altered Microglial Branch Total in Prenatal Day 19 Mouse

Ramified cells were previously thought to be simply lying in wait for a pathogen or insult to arise, at which point the cell may transform into an active morphology, permitting it to elicit an effect on overall brain health. This is now known ramified cells actually play a very active role in overall brain health, with a variety of studies showing that branches make direct interactions with synaptic spines and axon terminals (Tremblay et al, 2010). These direct contacts were seen to have large effects on dendritic spines, with only 6% of spines contacted remaining stable in size of mice aged to P28-P39 (Tremblay et al, 2010). To determine differences in total branch quantities per microglia at E19 based on the disruption of COX-2 activity we quantified total microglial branches per ramified microglia within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. We examined the branches of only ramified microglia to gain further insight on the amount of possible connections microglia may be making to neurons and thus potentially regulating activity in its ramified state. The values reported are average values for total branches, including secondary and tertiary branches, per cell. Males and females were examined separately to examine for sex differences.

For the cerebellum total branches (Figure 14, F(3, 214)=2.969, p=0.033) showed COX-2⁻ KI mice had a decreased amount of total microglia branches compared to WT mice when examining male and female data concurrently (p=0.040, WT=2.38±0.09, COX-2-KI=2.14±0.09). When examining sexes independently the cerebellum of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.53±0.13, 2.29±0.1, 2.25±0.14, 1.96±0.14. Post hoc comparisons found no significant differences when sexes were examined independently (p>0.05).

For the hippocampus (Figure 14, F(3, 289)=11.915, p < 0.001) no statistical difference was found between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.086, WT=2.22±0.08, COX-2- KI=1.96±0.08).

Within the hippocampus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.05 ± 0.1 , 2.38 ± 0.1 , 2.34 ± 0.1 , 1.66 ± 0.07 . Post hoc comparisons found in females that COX-2⁻ KI mice have a decreased total branching count than WT mice (p<0.001), while interestingly COX-2⁻ KI males were seen to have increased numbers of total branches compared to WT males (p=0.044). When examining for sex differences we saw within the COX-2⁻ KI mice that males had more total branches compared to females (p<0.001), while no differences were seen within WT mice (p>0.05).

In the olfactory bulb (Figure 14, F(3, 376)=3.171, p=0.024) COX-2⁻ KI animals were not seen to have greater total branching than in WT mice (p=0.698, WT=1.92±0.08, COX-2⁻ KI=1.94±0.06). Within the olfactory bulb WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.08±0.1, 1.83±0.09, 1.76±0.1, 1.83±0.07. Through post hoc comparisons we found no differences between the WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p>0.05). When examining for sex differences we found that in males for both COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice males had greater numbers of total branching compared to females (p=0.028, p=0.032).

The prefrontal cortex total branches (Figure 14, F(3, 226)=0.085, p=0.968) had no statistical difference between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice (p=0.924, WT=2.00±0.09, COX-2⁻ KI=1.99±0.07). Within the prefrontal cortex WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 1.96±0.1, 2.00±0.1, 2.05±0.1, 1.99±0.08. Post hoc comparisons determined that there were no differences when sexes were examined separately within the prefrontal cortex (p>0.05).

The thalamus (Figure 14, F(3, 302)=0.103, p=0.958) also showed no statistically different values in total branches between COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice (p=0.827, WT=2.08±0.07, COX-2⁻

KI=2.10±0.08). Within the thalamus WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.12 ± 0.1 , 2.09 ± 0.1 , 2.05 ± 0.1 , 2.12 ± 0.1 . No differences were seen within the thalamus (p>0.05).

Overall, we found that COX-2⁻ KI mice had statically decreased total branching compared to WT mice in the cerebellum. Within the hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus the disruption of COX-2 activity was not found to have a statistically relevant effect on total branching values. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻ KI significant differences were seen in various regions of interest. COX-2⁻ KI females were seen to have decreased numbers of total branches compared to WTs in the hippocampus. Within WT mice sex-based differences were seen in the hippocampus and the olfactory bulb, where COX-2⁻KI males had greater branches than females. Interestingly only the olfactory bulb was found to be the only region which maintained the difference of males having greater total branch numbers than females within WT animals.



Hippocampus



Olfactory bulb



Figure 14. Total branch count changes in embryonic brain. The average number of total branches per cell were analyzed within the E19 cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the total branches for at least three animals per experimental condition. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.2 Postnatal Day P25

By postnatal day 25 the mouse brain has fully formed regions of the brain, including our five regions of interest, as previously noted. To our knowledge this is the first study which examines the mouse brain at this stage for microglial density and morphology. The focus we place on sex-differences and how the COX-2 disruption affects the microglia within the P25 brain makes this study even more novel.

5.2.1 Altered Microglia Density in Postnatal day 25 Mouse

Microglial density has been previously found to be altered in individuals with ASD (Morgan et al, 2010; Vargas et al, 2005; Tetreault et al, 2012). Differences in microglial density have been shown to affect several key processes in the brain including neurogenesis, synaptic pruning, and the regulation of neuronal progenitor cells (Bilimoria and Stevens 2015; Frost and Schafer, 2016). To determine differences in microglial density based on the disruption of COX-2 activity within the P25 mouse brain we quantified the total number of microglia within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze microglial density (cells/mm²) for each mentioned region. To examine for sex differences males and females were examined separately.

Findings from the cerebellum (Figure 15, F(3,8)=2.889, p=0.51) indicated no difference in the combined male and female cerebellar microglial density of WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice $(p=0.350, WT=178.70\pm6.56, COX-2^- KI=187.36\pm7.37)$. When sexes were examined separately, we found that WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective microglial densities of 174.11±8.02, 204.75±9.61, 183.30±10.66, 169.96±7.92. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻ KI males had greater density than WT males (p=0.024) as well as COX-2⁻ KI females (p=0.011).
Within the hippocampus (Figure 15, F(3,8)=5.874, p=0.003) no differences in microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice were found (p=0.123, WT=111.88±6.26, COX-2⁻ KI=122.74±5.07). WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had microglial densities in the hippocampus respectively of 130.66±9.18, 121.43±8.56, 93.10±4.73 and 124.04±5.96. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻KI females had an increased microglial density compared to WT females (p=0.003), while interestingly no differences were seen for COX-2⁻ KI males (p>0.05). As well WT males had higher microglial density compared to WT females (p>0.05).

The olfactory bulb (Figure 15, F(3,8)=1.450, p=0.247) showed no differences in microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.665, WT=119.08±18.72, COX-2⁻ KI=109.90±6.38). The olfactory bulb of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective microglial densities of 145.55±33.44, 112.69±9.1, 92.60±14.00, 107.10±9.39. Post hoc comparisons revealed higher microglial densities in WT males compared to WT females (p=0.05), while interestingly the sex difference was not found between male and female COX-2⁻KI animals (p>0.05).

In the prefrontal cortex (Figure 15, F(3,8)=1.742, p=0.178) we found no statistical difference in microglial density in COX-2⁻KI mice compared to WT mice (p=0.053, WT=149.66±4.51, COX-2⁻KI=165.17±6.46).Within the prefrontal cortex it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective microglial densities of 143.66±2.86, 167.99±11.59, 154.61±8.42, and 162.34±6.42. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻KI males had greater microglial density to WT males (p=0.039). No sex differences were seen within the prefrontal cortex for either mouse model (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 15, F(3,8)=1.425, p=0.254), there was no significant differences in microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice (p=0.113, WT=188.05±20.45, COX-2-KI=174.94±25.49). No significant differences were found between the thalamus of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females with respective microglial densities of 155.88±2.86, 146.30±4.43, 165.72±6.16, and 153.37±8.04 (p>0.05).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻KI mice, with male and female data combined, had no significant effect on microglial density when compared to WT mice. However, when sexes were examined independently, we found region specific differences between the COX-2⁻ KI and the WT animals. Our results show that COX-2⁻ KI males to be greater density in the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex compared to the corresponding WT males. The COX-2⁻ KI females showed increased density only within the olfactory bulb. Within WT mice sex-based differences were seen in the hippocampus where males had greater densities than females, while no significance was found in other regions. Interestingly in COX-2⁻ KI mice were found to show sex differences in the cerebellum with males having greater densities than females.

Cerebellum



Hippocampus



Prefrontal Cortex

Olfactory bulb





Thalamus



(Cells/mm²)

Figure 15: Microglial density changes in postnatal brain. Microglial densities were analyzed within the P25 cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. Each bar represents the average density for at least three animals per experimental condition. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.2.2. Altered Active and Ramified Morphology in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse

Microglia were categorized as either an active cell, or a ramified cell, based on their morphological phenotypes. Active morphologies are characterized by a large rounded cell soma with little to no branches, while ramified microglia have smaller somas and multiple long and thin branches (Young et al, 2018). In this section, microglia were examined in the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus in brain samples of COX-2⁻ KI and WT mice at P25.

Active Morphology Percentages

Active microglia are known to play a variety of roles in the brain that include phagocytosis of dead cells and debris, assisting in tissue repair, and in the regulation of the inflammatory pathway (Harry et Kraft, 2012). To determine differences in the percentage of active microglia counted in our regions of interest, counts of active microglia to total microglia were calculated (see methods), and a two-way ANOVA was performed.

For the cerebellum (Figure 16, F(3,8)=1.865, p=0.155) we found no significance differences in active microglia morphology percentages when male and female data were combined to look at differences between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice (p=0.076, WT=37.63±1.6, COX-2⁻KI=32.37±2.4). Within the cerebellum it was determined that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective active morphology percentages of 40.66±.2.1, 32.37±3.5, 34.59±2.10, 32.37±3.5. COX-2⁻KI males had decreased percentages of active amoeboid microglia compared to WT males (p=0.049). No differences were seen between COX-2⁻KI females to their respective wild type or any sex differences within this region (p>0.05). In the hippocampus (Figure 16, F(3,8)=0.846, p=0.479) active microglia percentages were not significantly different between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice (p=0.387, WT=26.12±1.3, COX-2⁻ KI=27.11±1.6). No statistical differences were found in the hippocampus of WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females with respective active microglia percentages of 27.58±1.8, 25.52±2.0, 24.67±1.7, 28.71±2.4 (p>0.05).

For the olfactory bulb (Figure 16, F(3,8)=3.692, p=0.022) the active microglia percentages were significantly decreased in COX-2⁻KI mice compared to the WT when male and female data was combined (p=0.003, WT=34.23±2.1, COX-2⁻KI=26.40±1.2). Within the olfactory bulb WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective active microglia percentages of 34.89±1.7, 24.91±1.9, 33.56±4.0, 27.88±1.2. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻KI males had decreased numbers of active microglia cells compared to WT males (p=0.007), while there no differences seen within females. No sex differences were found within the olfactory bulb (p>0.05).

The prefrontal cortex (Figure 16, F(3,8)=2.875, p=0.051) showed no differences in the quantities of active microglia percentages between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice (p=0.099, WT=21.72±1.3, COX-2⁻ KI=18.86±1.2). For the prefrontal cortex of the WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females respective active microglia percentages of 24.46±0.8, 18.06±1.2, 18.98±2.3, 19.67±2.1 were determined. We observed that only COX-2⁻KI males had a decreased active microglia percentage compared to WT males (p=0.011). Sex differences were only seen in WT animals were males had a higher active microglia percentage compared to females (p=0.028).

For the thalamus (Fig. 16, F(3,8)=5.160, p=0.005) the main findings showed that COX-2⁻KI mice had a significant decrease in the percentage of active microglia when compared to the WT (p=0.001, WT=32.16±1.7, COX-2- KI=24.61±1.1). Within the thalamus it was seen that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective active microglia percentages of 34.01±2.5, 25.11±1.9, 30.30±2.3, 24.12±1.1. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻KI males and females, to their respective WT animals, had decreased percentages of active microglia (p=0.004; p=0.039). No sex differences were reported (p>0.05).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻KI mice, when male and female data were combined, had decreased active microglia morphology in the olfactory bulb and the thalamus compared to WT mice. Within the cerebellum, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex the disruption of COX-2 activity was not found to have a statistically relevant effect on active microglia counts. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice significant differences were observed in the cerebellum, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus where COX-2⁻ KI males had decreased active morphology than WT males. As well it was found that WT females had greater percentages than COX-2⁻KI females in the thalamus. Sex differences were seen the prefrontal cortex of WT mice, where males had greater active morphologies than females. No sex differences were noted in the COX-2⁻KI mice.







Hippocampus

10

ſ

wтм

n=316

COX2 M

n=270

WTF

10

5

0

ŵт

n=592

cox2

n=546



Olfactory bulb



Thalamus



Figure 16. Active morphology percentage changes in postnatal brain. Active microglia percentage were measured within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the active morphology percentage for at least three animals per experimental condition. In the example of amoeboid microglia scale bars represent 10 µm. Data is presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

Ramified Morphology percentages

Ramified microglia play an active role in surveying the brain via its extensions, assisting in synaptic pruning as well as synaptic maturation (Eyo et al, 2013; Salter and Beggs, 2014). In order to determine differences in the percentage of ramified microglia counted in our regions of interest, counts of ramified microglia to total microglia were calculated (see methods), and a two-way ANOVA was performed.

For the cerebellum (Figure 17, F(3,8)=1.865, p=0.155) we found no differences in the amount of ramified microglia percentages between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice when males and females were examined together (p=0.076 WT=62.36±1.6, COX-2- KI=67.62±2.4). Within the cerebellum it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 59.33±2.1, 67.62±3.5, 65.40±2.1, 67.62±3.5. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻ KI males had an increased number of ramified microglia compared to WT mice (p=0.049). No sex differences were seen within the cerebellum (p>0.05).

For the hippocampus (Figure 17, F(3,8)=0.846, p=0.479) no difference in the amount of ramified microglia between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice was determined (p=0.387, WT=62.36±1.6, COX-2⁻KI=67.62±2.4). No differences were seen in the hippocampus of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females with respective percentages of ramified microglia of 72.41±1.8, 74.47±2.0, 75.32±1.7, 71.29±2.4 (p>0.05).

The olfactory bulb (Figure 17, F(3,8)=3.692, p=0.022) had larger percentages of ramified microglia in COX-2⁻ KI mice compared to WTs (p=0.003, WT=65.76±2.1, COX-2⁻ KI=73.59±1.2). Within the olfactory bulb it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻ KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 65.10±1.7,

75.08±1.9, 66.43±4.0, 72.11±1.2. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻ KI had greater numbers of ramified microglia compared to WT males (p=0.007). No sex differences were seen within the olfactory bulb (p>0.05).

For the prefrontal cortex (Figure 17, F(3,8)=2.875, p=0.051) no differences were found in the percentages of ramified microglial in the COX-2⁻KI mice compared to WT mice (p=0.099, WT=78.27±1.3, COX-2⁻KI=81.13±1.2). Within the prefrontal cortex it was seen that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females had respective numbers of ramified microglia of 75.55±0.8, 81.93±1.2, 81.01±2.3, 80.32±2.1. We were able to determine that COX-2⁻ KI males had increased ramified microglia percentages compared to WT males (p=0.011), while there were no differences between females (p>0.05). In terms of sex differences WT males had lower ramified counts compared to WT females (p=0.028), while interestingly no differences were seen between the males and females of the COX-2⁻ KI mice (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 17, F(3,8)=5.160, p=0.005) the percentages of ramified were larger in COX-2⁻KI compared to WT mice (p=0.001, WT=67.83±1.7, COX-2- KI=75.38±1.1). Within the thalamus it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective percentages of ramified microglia of 65.98±2.5, 74.88±1.9, 69.69±2.3, 75.87±1.1. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻KI females and males to have greater percentages of ramified microglia compared to respective WT animals (p=0.039; p=0.004). No sex differences were found between the WT or COX-2⁻KI mice (p>0.05).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻ KI mice had increased ramified microglia morphology in the olfactory bulb and the thalamus compared to WT mice when male and female data was combined. This is consistent with the results for the amoeboid microglia presented above. Within the cerebellum, hippocampus, and prefrontal cortex the disruption of COX-2 activity was not found to have a statistically relevant effect on ramified microglia counts. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice significant differences were observed in the cerebellum, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus, in that COX-2⁻ KI males had higher active amoeboid morphology than WT males. As well it was found that COX-2⁻ KI females had greater counts than WT females in the thalamus. Sex differences were seen in the prefrontal cortex of WT mice, where females had greater ramified morphologies than males. No sex differences were noted in the COX-2⁻ KI mice.



Figure 17. Ramified morphology percentage changes in postnatal brain. Ramified morphology percentages were measured within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the average ramified percentage for at least three animals per experimental condition. In the example of ramified microglia scale bars represent 10 μ m. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.2.3 Altered Microglial Branch Length in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse

Average microglial branch length is an indicator of how ramified a cell is and has been implicated in a cell's ability to survey the brain (Madry et al, 2018; Morrison et al, 2017). As well, changes in branch length have been suggested to be an indicator of the environmental effect on the ramification of a cell as previously stated (Young et al, 2018; Kongsui et al, 2014). In order to determine differences in branch length based on the disruption of COX-2 activity at P25 the longest branch (µm) per microglia was measured within the cerebellum hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. The values reported represent the average branch length per microglia. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze average branch length for each mentioned region. Males and females were examined separately to examine for sex differences.

For the cerebellum (Figure 18, F(3,6242)=5.869, p=0.001) no statistical differences were seen between WT and COX-2- KI mice when male and female data were examined together (p=0.052, WT=10.30±0.5, COX-2- KI=10.76±0.2). In the cerebellums of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻ KI females respective branch lengths of 9.68±0.2, 10.87±0.3, 10.89±0.2, 10.66±0.3 were seen. Through post hoc comparisons we show that COX-2⁻KI males had increased branch lengths compared to WT males (p<0.001), while no differences were seen in females (p>0.05). Sex differences were only seen in the WT animals with females having larger branch lengths than males (p=0.001).

The hippocampus (Figure 18, F(3,5152)=14.29, p<0.001) of COX-2⁻KI mice had a significantly increased branch length compared to WT mice (p=0.001, WT=15.21±0.2, COX-2-KI=16.27±0.2). WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females hippocampal analysis revealed respective branch lengths of 14.79±0.3, 17.18±0.3, 15.69±0.3, 15.23±0.3. When sexes were analyzed separately it was seen that COX-2⁻KI males had greater branching lengths compared to WT males (p<0.001), though no differences were seen within females

(p>0.05). Interestingly while COX-2⁻KI males had greater branching lengths COX-2⁻KI females (p<0.001), WT females had greater branch lengths compared WT males (p=0.028).

The olfactory bulb (Figure 18, F(3,7720)=29.61, p<0.001) indicated that COX-2⁻KI mice had increased branch lengths compared to the WT (p<0.001, WT=8.22±0.1, COX-2⁻ KI=9.67±0.1). Within the olfactory bulb it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective average branch lengths of 8.05±0.2, 10.28±0.2, 8.37±0.2, 9.21±0.1. We found that COX-2⁻KI males and females had increased average branching length compared to their respective wildtypes through post-hoc comparisons (p<0.001; p<0.001). It was also found that COX-2⁻KI males had longer branches than COX-2⁻ KI females (p<0.001), while interestingly no sex differences were seen within the wildtypes (p>0.05).

For the prefrontal cortex (Figure 18, F(3,6917)=24.11, p<0.001) no statistical difference between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice was determined (p=0.840, WT=13.16±0.2, COX-2⁻ KI=12.93±.0.2). Within the prefrontal cortex we found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective branch lengths of 11.42±0.3, 12.89±0.2, 14.34±0.2 12.96±0.2. Post hoc comparisons showed that COX-2⁻KI males had increased branch lengths compared to WT males (p<0.001), while COX-2⁻KI females interestingly had decreased branching lengths compared to their respective WT (p<0.001). Sex differences were only noted in WT mice where females had greater branch lengths compared to WT males (p<0.001).

For the thalamus (Figure 18, F(3,6795)=30.056, p<0.001) we found COX-2⁻KI mice to have statistically longer than branches than WT mice (p<0.001, WT=13.01±0.2, COX-2⁻KI=14.41±0.2). Within the thalamus we saw that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective branch lengths of 11.62±0.3, 15.12±0.3, 14.30±0.2, 13.80±0.2.

Through post-hoc comparisons we found that COX-2⁻KI males had increased microglial branch lengths compared to WT males (p<0.001), while COX-2⁻KI females had decreased branch lengths compared to their sex matched WT (p<0.001). Sex differences were found in WT animals with females having a greater branch length to males (p<0.001), while interestingly the inverse was seen in the COX-2⁻KI animals (p<0.001).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻KI mice had significant increases in average branch lengths in the hippocampus, olfactory bulb, and thalamus compared to WT mice. Within the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex, the disruption of COX-2 activity was not found to have a statistically relevant effect on average branch lengths. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice significant differences were seen in various regions. COX-2⁻ KI males were seen to have increased branch lengths compared to WT males within all regions of interest. Interestingly COX-2⁻KI females were seen to be increased compared to WT females within the olfactory bulb but were found to be decreased compared to the WT within the prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Sex based differences were seen in the WT animals where females had greater branch lengths compared to males within the cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Interestingly in COX-2⁻KI mice males were seen to have greater branch lengths compared to females within the hippocampus, olfactory bulb and thalamus.







Olfactory Bulb



Thalamus



Figure 18. Branch length changes in postnatal brain. The average branch length per cell were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the branch length for at least three animals per experimental condition. The yellow lines on the representative images of ramified microglia branch length quantification signifies the longest branch measured; scale bar represents 10µm. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.2.4 Altered Microglial Primary Branching in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse

Microglia are known during development to become highly branched to create relationships with neurons (Eyo et Dailey, 2013). These contacts with neurons can last up to a few minutes and have been found to regulate neuronal activity within the healthy brain (Li et al, 2012; Wake et al, 2013). To determine differences at P25 based on the disruption of COX-2 activity we quantified primary microglial branches within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. Primary branches were identified as branches extending directly from the microglial soma; all values reported are the average number of primary branches viewed per microglia. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze primary branch density for each mentioned region. To examine for sex differences males and females were examined separately.

For the cerebellum (Figure 19, F(3,6242)=25.35, p<0.001) it was found that COX-2⁻KI mice had greater quantities of primary branches density than WT mice when male and female data was combined (p<0.001, WT=1.14±0.02, COX-2⁻KI=1.22±0.02). Within the cerebellum we found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had primary branches per cell of 1.02 ± 0.02 , 1.30 ± 0.03 , 1.24 ± 0.02 , 1.14 ± 0.02 . When sexes were examined separately, we saw that COX-2⁻KI males had an increase in primary branches compared to WT males (p<0.001). Interestingly, COX-2⁻KI females have a decreased number of primary branches compared to the WT females (p=0.003). As well, COX-2⁻KI males were found to have greater primary branch counts compared to COX-2⁻KI females (p<0.001) while WT females were found to be greater compared to WT males (p<0.001).

In the hippocampus (Figure 19, F(3,5152)=28.997, p < 0.001) COX-2⁻ KI mice had increased average quantities of primary branches than WT mice (p < 0.001, WT=1.81±0.02,

COX-2⁻ KI=2.09±0.02). Within the hippocampus it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective average primary branches per cell of 1.80 ± 0.03 , 2.12 ± 0.03 , 1.81 ± 0.04 , 2.05 ± 0.03 . Post hoc comparisons determined that COX-2⁻KI males, as well as COX-2⁻KI females, have increased primary branching than their WT counterparts, (*p*<0.001, *p*<0.001). No sex differences were seen within the hippocampus (*p*<0.05).

For the olfactory bulb (Figure 19, F(3,7720)=16.26, p<0.001) we determined that the average primary branches per cell increased in COX-2⁻KI mice compared to WT mice (p<0.001, WT=1.39±0.02, COX-2⁻KI=1.56±0.02). The olfactory bulbs of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective average primary branches per cell of 1.43±0.03, 1.61±0.02, 1.36±0.03,1.52±0.02. When sexes were examined separately COX-2⁻KI males and COX-2⁻KI females were determined to have greater numbers of primary branching compared to their WT counterparts (p<0.001, p<0.001). We also saw that COX-2⁻KI males had a greater primary branch count compared to COX-2⁻KI females (p=0.007), interestingly no sex differences were seen in WT animals (p>0.05).

In the prefrontal cortex (Figure 19, F(3,6917)=48.31, p<0.001) COX-2⁻KI mice had greater quantities of primary branches than WT mice (p<0.001, WT=1.58±0.02, COX-2⁻ KI=1.78±0.02). Within the prefrontal cortex of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females respective primary branches values of $1.33\pm0.03, 1.77\pm0.03, 1.75\pm0.03,$ 1.79 ± 0.03 were seen. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻KI males had increased average primary branches compared to WT males (p<0.001), though no differences were seen in females. (p>0.05). In terms of sex differences WT males to have fewer average primary branches compared to WT females (p<0.001), while interestingly COX-2⁻ KI animals showed no differences based on sex (p>0.05).

For the thalamus (Figure 19, F(3,6795)=26.26, p < 0.001) COX-2⁻KI mice had increased quantities of primary branches than WT mice (p=0.001, WT=1.28±0.01, COX-2⁻KI=1.43±0.01). Within the thalamus it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective primary branches per cell of 1.20±0.02, 1.52±0.02, 1.35±0.02, 1.36±0.02. Post hoc comparisons determined COX-2⁻KI males had a greater number of average primary branches compared to WT males (p < 0.001), no differences were seen in females (p > 0.05). When examining for sex differences it was seen that WT females had a higher amount of average primary branches compared to WT males (p < 0.001), while interestingly in COX-2⁻KI animals males had a greater number of primary branches compared to females (p < 0.001).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻KI mice had greater numbers of primary branches compared to WT mice in all regions of interest. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice significant differences were found within various regions. COX-2⁻KI males were seen to have greater numbers of primary branches in all regions of interest compared to WT males. Interestingly, only within the hippocampus and the olfactory bulb were COX-2⁻KI females determined to be higher than WT females. Within the cerebellum COX-2⁻KI females were seen to have fewer primary branches compared to WT females. In terms of sex differences within the cerebellum, prefrontal cortex and thalamus WT females were seen to have higher numbers of primary branches compared to WT males. Interestingly, in COX-2⁻KI animals males were found to have higher numbers of primary branches compared to within the cerebellum, olfactory bulb and the thalamus.



Figure 19. Primary branch count changes in postnatal brain. The number of primary branches per cell were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the primary branch for at least three animals per experimental condition. Yellow arrows represent primary branches counted in ramified microglia; scale bats represent 10 μ m. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.2.5 Altered Microglial Branch Total in Postnatal Day 25 Mouse

Ramified microglia processes are known to be constantly scanning the brain, attracted to a variety of factors such as synaptic activity. Processes have been shown to modulate neuronal activity and assist in the pruning, elimination and maturation of synapses (Szepesi et al, 2018; Salter and Beggs, 2014). To determine differences in total branch quantities per microglia at P25 based on the disruption of COX-2 activity we quantified total microglial branches per ramified microglia within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus. Examining only ramified microglia was completed in attempts to gain further insight on the amount of possible connections microglia may be making to neurons and thus potentially regulating activity. The values reported are average values for total branches, including secondary and tertiary branches, per cell. Males and females were examined separately to examine for sex differences. A two-way ANOVA was used to analyze total branch counts for each mentioned region.

For the cerebellum total branch counts (Figure 20, F(3, 3824)=7.4621, p<0.001) showed no differences between WT and COX-2⁻ KI mice when examining male and female data concurrently (p=0.348, WT=1.97±0.02, COX-2⁻ KI=2.00±0.03). When examining sexes independently the cerebellum of WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 1.87±0.02, 2.02±0.03, 2.07±0.03, 1.98±0.03. Post hoc comparisons found in males that COX-2⁻KI mice had increased total branching when compared to male WT mice (p=0.001), while no differences were found in females (p>0.05). Sex differences were only determined in WT mice where females had greater numbers of total branches compared to WT males (p<0.001).

For the hippocampus (Figure 20, F(3, 3493)=47.11, p<0.001) no statistical difference was found between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice (p=0.177, WT=2.88±0.03, COX-2⁻KI=2.99±0.03).

Within the hippocampus it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.53 ± 0.05 , 3.18 ± 0.05 , 3.25 ± 0.05 , 2.74 ± 0.05 . Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻KI males have increased total branching compare to WT male mice (p<0.001). Interestingly COX-2⁻KI females show decreased numbers of total branches per cell compared to WT females (p<0.001). As well it was seen within COX-2⁻KI males that there were statistically greater numbers of total branches compared to COX-2⁻KI females (p<0.001). Interestingly, in WT mice females had greater numbers than males (p<0.001).

In the olfactory bulb (Figure 20, F(3, 4861)=19.47, p<0.001) we found COX-2⁻KI animals to have increased total branching compared to WT mice (p<0.001, WT=2.29±0.02, COX-2⁻KI=2.49±0.02). Within the olfactory bulb we determined that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.16±0.03, 2.60±0.04, 2.39±0.03, 2.46±0.02. We show through post hoc comparisons that COX-2⁻KI males had increased total numbers of branches per cell compared to WT males (p<0.001), but no differences were noted between COX-2⁻KI and WT females (p>0.05). When examining for sex differences it we found that in WT mice females had greater numbers of total branching compared to males (p<0.001), while interestingly in COX-2⁻KI mice males had higher total branching counts compared to females (p=0.008).

For the prefrontal cortex total branches (Figure 20, F(3,5298)=25.26, p<0.001) no statistical difference was seen between COX-2⁻KI and WT mice (p=0.129, WT=3.04±0.02, COX-2⁻KI=3.05±0.02). Within the prefrontal cortex it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females and COX-2⁻KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.75±0.03, 3.02±0.03, 3.23±0.03,3.07±0.03. Post hoc comparisons found COX-2⁻KI males had

increased total branch counts compared to WT males (p<0.001), while interestingly COX-2⁻KI females had decreased total branching counts compared to WT females (p=0.001). When examining for sex differences only WT animals exhibited significant changes, with females having greater total branching than males (p<0.001).

The thalamus (Figure 20, F(3,4694)=25.15, p<0.001) had no statistically different values in total branches between COX-2⁻KI and WT mice (p=0.069, WT=2.51±0.02, COX-2⁻ KI=2.55±0.02). Within the thalamus it was found that WT males, COX-2⁻KI males, WT females, and COX-2⁻KI females had respective total branches per microglia of 2.26±0.03, 2.64±0.03, 2.70±0.03, 2.45±0.03. Post hoc comparisons found that COX-2⁻KI males were seen to have increased total numbers of branches per cell compared to WT males (p<0.001), while in females COX-2- KI mice had decreased total branching that WT females (p<0.001). Sex differences were seen in COX-2- KI where males had greater total branches per cell compared to COX-2- KI females (p<0.001). Interestingly in WT mice females were found to have greater numbers of total branches compared to WT males (p<0.001).

Overall it was found that COX-2⁻ KI mice had statically greater total branching compared to WT mice in the olfactory bulb. Within the cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus the disruption of COX-2 activity was not found to have a statistically relevant effect on total branching values. When sexes were examined independently between WT and COX-2⁻ KI significant differences were seen in various regions of interest. COX-2⁻ KI males were seen to have increased numbers of total branches compared to WTs in all regions, while interestingly COX-2⁻ KI females had decreased numbers of total branches compared to WTs in the hippocampus, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Within WT mice sex-based differences were seen in all regions of interest with females having greater total numbers of branches compared to

males. Interestingly in COX-2⁻ KI mice males were found to show greater numbers of total branches compared to females in the hippocampus, olfactory bulb, and the thalamus.



Figure 20. Total branch count changes in postnatal brain. The average number of total branches per cell were analyzed within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus. Each bar represents the total branch counts for at least three animals per experimental condition. Yellow arrows represent branches quantified in representative ramified microglia; scale bars represent 10 μ m. Data is presented as mean ±SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

5.3 Progression trajectories across the developing healthy and COX-2⁻KI brain

To examine the effect of sex and COX-2 deficiency on microglial density and

morphology across development we created graphs compiling the data presented in the E19 and P25 results sections. To emphasize the importance on sex-based studies within the brain, we first aimed to investigate the differences in male and female wildtypes from E19 to P25. We next show the impact of the COX-2 disruption on microglia density and morphology by comparing the progression trends of the COX-2⁻KI mouse to their sex-matched WT. All methods of measurement and statistical analysis for our respective comparisons were previously stated in the E19 and P25 results.

5.3.1 Sex differences in microglia density in the developing healthy brain

Where sex differences are greatly under studied, we aimed to investigate differences in microglial density between the WT males and females across development. For the first time we show the density trajectories of both sexes within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus across the E19 and P25 stages. In general, both males and females were seen to increase exponentially over development across all regions of interest. However, we determined in a region-specific manner that sex plays a role on the microglial density trajectory within the WT mouse brain.

Regions including the cerebellum, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus demonstrated no differences in the trajectory of density over development between sexes, indicated by the similar values in density pre- and postnatally within each region (Figure 21). Interestingly, we found that the hippocampus and olfactory to exhibit sex differences by P25. Postnatally we found males to have greater density values compared to females in the two aforementioned areas (HPC: p<0.001, OB: p=0.05). Here we clearly show that despite similar density values at E19 the effect

of sex was found to influence the overall microglia counts within the postnatal hippocampus and olfactory bulb.

Overall, we found that sex differences in microglial density were apparent at P25 within our WT model in a region-specific manner. Males within the hippocampus and olfactory bulb demonstrated a greater overall trajectory than females, as shown by greater density values postnatally.



Figure 21: Sex-based microglial density differences of the healthy mouse. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 density studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.3.2 Sex differences in active and ramified microglia percentages in the developing WT brain Male and female microglia are known to have clear sex differences within the

neurotypical brain; literature shows that males typically exhibit greater active microglia percentages, compared to females, although this has not yet been proved at either E19 or P25 (Lenz et al, 2012, Hanamsagar et al, 2017, Schwarz 2012). In general, both males and females were seen to decrease exponentially over development across all regions of interest, with a reciprocal increase in ramified microglia percentage as the brain developed. We will discuss the active and ramified trends over development within the same section as changes we see in active percentages are mirrored for ramified percentages.

Regions including the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb and thalamus demonstrated no differences in the trajectory of active or ramified microglia percentages over development between sexes, indicated by the similar values in density pre- and postnatally within each region (Figure 22). Interestingly, we found that the male prefrontal cortex had a greater percentage of active microglia compared to females at P25 (PFC: p=0.028). We accordingly observed an increased percentage of ramified microglia within the female prefrontal cortex compared to the male (PFC: p=0.028). As such, we demonstrate sex differences within this region, despite similar active or ramified percentages values at E19, the effect of sex was found to influence the overall microglia morphology percentages within the postnatal prefrontal cortex.

Overall, we found that sex differences in microglial active and ramified percentage were apparent at P25 within our WT model in a region-specific manner. As demonstrated though the increased values of active and ramified microglia within the prefrontal cortex, for males and females respectively.







5.3.3 Sex differences in microglial branch length in the developing WT brain

As males are known to have greater levels of active microglia, as previously mentioned, they have also been demonstrated to have shorter microglial branches within the rat and mouse brain (Lenz et al, 2012). As no current literature reports whether this trend remains true at E19 and P25 within the mouse, we compared the data collected to examine for sex differences in the WT mouse. In general, both males and females were seen to increase branch length over development across all regions of interest.

The olfactory bulb was the only region where no significant differences in the trajectory of microglial branch length within the developing brain was found between sexes, indicated by the similar values in density pre- and postnatally within each region (Figure 23). Interestingly, we found that the female cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex all had greater branching lengths compared to males at P25 (CB: p=0.001, HPC: p=0.028, PFC: p<0.001, TH: p<0.001). Here we show within these regions, despite similar values at E19, that sex has a significant effect on microglial branch length within the WT mouse.

Overall, we found that sex differences in the cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex, and thalamus were apparent at P25 within our WT model in a region-specific manner. This was demonstrated though greater values observed for female branch length within the aforementioned regions at P25.



Figure 23: Sex-based differences in average branch length in the healthy mouse. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 branch length studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.3.4 Sex differences in primary microglia branches in the developing WT brain

As previously mentioned, male and female microglia have been previously found to have differences in morphology, with females commonly having greater branching compared to males (Lenz et al, 2012, Hanamsagar et al, 2017, Schwarz 2012). We examine for the first time if females maintain greater branching compared to males at the E19 and P25. In general, both males and females were seen to greater primary branch counts over development across our regions of interest. We find that in a region-specific manner that females have greater numbers of primary branches compared to males, consistent with the current literature.

Regions such as the hippocampus and olfactory bulb demonstrated no differences in the trajectory of primary branch counts between males and females, demonstrated through similar values at E19 and P25 (Figure 24). Interestingly, we find drastic differences in primary branch counts within the cerebellum, prefrontal cortex and thalamus, with P25 females having greater primary branch counts compared to the males (CB: p<0.001; PFC: p<0.001; TH: p<0.001). We demonstrate that sex has a clear effect on primary microglial branching in a region-specific manner at P25, despite there being no differences at E19.

Overall, we found that sex differences in microglial active and ramified percentage were apparent at P25 within our WT model in a region-specific manner. As demonstrated though the increased values of active and ramified microglia within the prefrontal cortex, for males and females respectively.



Figure 24: Sex-based differences in primary branches in the healthy mouse. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 primary branch studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

5.3.5 Sex differences in total microglia branching in the developing WT brain

Finally, we examined for sex differences in the total branching counts between male and female wildtypes at E19 and P25. As previously mentioned, females are typically seen to have a more ramified profile compared to males. We have so far shown females to have increased branch length and primary branch counts compared to males in a region-specific manner, which agrees with the literature. In terms of total branching counts in general, while both males and females were seen to greater total branch counts over development across all regions of interest, sex differences were found. We find that in a region-specific manner that females have greater numbers of primary branches compared to males.

For the first time we see differences in the prenatal at E19 within the olfactory bulb, with a surprising finding that males had greater total branch counts at females (OB: p=0.032) (Figure 25). We also found drastic differences in primary branch counts within the cerebellum, hippocampus, prefrontal cortex and thalamus, with P25 females having greater primary branch counts compared to the males (CB: p<0.001; HPC: p<0.001 PFC: p<0.001; TH: p<0.001). Of particular note, we see that the male cerebellum had decreased total branch counts from E19 to P25, a trend we also report in the primary branch trajectories. We demonstrate that sex has a clear effect on primary microglial branching in a region-specific manner at P25, despite there being no differences at E19.

Overall, we found that sex differences in microglial active and ramified percentage were apparent at P25 within our WT model in a region-specific manner. As demonstrated though the increased values of active and ramified microglia within the prefrontal cortex, for males and females respectively.



Figure 25: Sex-based differences in total branch counts in the healthy mouse. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 total branch counts studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.
5.4 Changes between COX-2⁻KI mice across development

We next wanted to determine how the COX-2 disruption would influence microglial density and morphology within the developing brain. In order to do so we compiled the data from our E19 and P25 studies and created trajectory charts. We compared COX-2⁻KI males and females to their respective WTs in charts shown below, which clearly demonstrate sex-based differences from the WT trends within the COX-2⁻KI mouse.

5.4.1 Changes in microglia density in the developing COX-2⁻KI male and female brain

Previous literature shows that as development progresses the microglial density increases at a steadily until approximately P14 within the healthy mouse brain, followed by a decrease in the population until P21 where it stabilizes to the density that will be seen within the adult (Lenz and Nelson, 2018). To investigate the impact of the COX-2 disruption on microglial density in the developing brain, we compared the trajectory of microglial density at E19 and P25 of both COX-2⁻KI animals to their sex-matched WT. In general, we found that both the WT and COX-2⁻KI mouse increased in microglial density as the brain developed, however we found differences from the WT trends in a region and sex-specific manner discussed below.

Within the thalamus, we found no differences in the density trajectory from E19 to P25 within either sex of the COX-2⁻KI mouse compared to their respective WT (Figure 26). However, in a sex and time-specific manner we demonstrate differences in microglial density within the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb, and prefrontal cortex. COX-2⁻KI males within the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex at P25 deviated from the WT trend by having greater density counts (CB: p= 0.024, PFC: p=0.039). Prenatally at E19 we demonstrate that the female COX-2⁻KI mouse has a greater density compared to its sex matched control in the olfactory bulb, as well, postnatally at P25 in the hippocampus we found increased microglial density of the COX-2⁻KI mouse compared to the WT (OB: p=0.01, HPC: p=0.003). Overall, we show that the COX-2 deficit has a significant impact on the trajectory of microglia density from E19 to P25 for males within the cerebellum and prefrontal cortex and for females within the hippocampus and olfactory bulb. All fore-mentioned differences were found to be increased in microglial density values compared to their sex-matched WT at the respective developmental stage. No differences were seen within the thalamus. These findings were compiled into a summary chart presented below (Table 2). Overall, we provide evidence for the first time that the disruption of COX-2 impacts microglial density in a sex specific manner across development in specific brain regions.



0-

E19

Develomental Day

P25

0

E19

P25

Develomental Day



Figure 26: Progression trends for microglial density. Trends for microglial density between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 microglial density studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Table 2: Microglial density in the developing COX-2-KI male and female brain. A summary of density progression results. Arrows represent increased or decreased density values compared to their sex matched wildtype.

DENSITY	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
Cerebellum	-	-	1	-
Hippocampus	-	-	-	1
Olfactory	-	1	-	-
Prefrontal cortex	-	-	†	-
Thalamus	-	-	-	-

5.4.2 Amoeboid active and ramified morphology changes in the developing brain

previously mentioned in the E19 active morphology percentage results, the immature microglia have an amoeboid form that over time develops into mature microglia. This transition can be visually noted by morphological change in the microglia from the large round cell body with few extensions to the typical morphology of ramified cells. Using values previously stated within the E19 and P25 active and ramified morphology percentage sections we show the influence of COX-2 disruption across development. In general, we found high levels of active amoeboid microglia at E19, which by P25 had decreased substantially. Accordingly, the decline of active amoeboid microglia we saw was accompanied by an increase in the counts of ramified microglia, as we anticipated.

As the brain continues to age and mature as do the microglial cells inhabiting it. As

The hippocampus was the only region we found no differences in active and ramified microglia percentages trajectory from E19 to P25 within either sex of the COX-2⁻KI mouse compared to their respective WT (Figure 27-28). However, in a sex and time-specific manner we

observe that the cerebellum, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus all show different trajectories within the COX-2⁻KI mice to the their sex matched WT. COX-2⁻KI males within the cerebellum, olfactory bulb, prefrontal cortex and thalamus at P25 all deviated from the WT trend by having decreased active microglia percentages and greater ramified microglial percentages (CB: p=0.049, OB: p=0.007; PFC: p=0.011, TH: p=0.039). We also show that the female COX-2⁻KI thalamus deviated from the WT trend, demonstrating a steeper decrease in active microglia morphology over development, represented by a lower active percentage and higher ramified percentage at P25 (TH: p=0.032). Prenatally at E19 we demonstrate that the female COX-2⁻KI mouse has a greater active percentage and lesser ramified percentages to its sex matched control in the cerebellum, while interestingly a decreased trend of microglial activation and increased ramified percentages were noted within the female prefrontal cortex at E19 (CB: p=0.046; PFC: p=0.032).

Overall, we found that the disruption of COX-2 had an impact on the decreasing trajectory of active amoeboid morphology percentages across E19 to P25 for males in the prefrontal cortex and females in the cerebellum. No differences were observed within the hippocampus. The findings of this section are summarized in table 3. These findings emphasize the known importance of COX-2 function on microglia active amoeboid morphologies in a region-specific manner.



Prefrontal cortex



Figure 27: Progression trends for active and ramified percentages. Trends for active microglia percentages between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 active morphology percentage studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Cerebellum





Figure 28: Progression trends for active and ramified percentages. Trends for ramified microglia percentages between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 ramified morphology percentage studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, *p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001.

 Table 3: Microglial active and ramified percentages in the developing COX-2⁻KI male and female brain. A summary of active and ramified morphology percentage progression results.

 Arrows represent increased or decreased values compared to their sex matched wildtype.

ACTIVE AMOEBOID %	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
Cerebellum	-	1	↓	-
Hippocampus	-	-	-	-
Olfactory	-	-	₽	-
Prefrontal cortex	-	₽	₽	-
Thalamus	-	-	↓	↓
RAMIFIED %	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
RAMIFIED % Cerebellum	COX2 M E19 -	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
RAMIFIED % Cerebellum Hippocampus	COX2 M E19 -	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25 -
RAMIFIED % Cerebellum Hippocampus Olfactory	COX2 M E19 - - -	COX2 F E19 - -	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25 - -
RAMIFIED % Cerebellum Hippocampus Olfactory Prefrontal cortex	COX2 M E19 - - -	COX2 F E19 - - -	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25 - - -

5.4.3 Change in microglial branch length across development

Branch length has been suggested to be a method of looking at microglial cell activation as the shorter the branch is the closer it is to the active morphology. We analyzed the differences in branch length between our two developmental time points within all five regions of interest. Across development, in general, we see that from E19 to P25 microglial branch lengths increase, with deviations from the WT trends discussed below.

All regions of interested showed sex and developmental time point differences in microglial branch length between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice (Figure 29). All regions showed that

males of the COX-2⁻KI mice had greater rates of microglial branch growth over development as indicated by increased branch lengths at the P25 stage (CB: p<0.001; HPC: p<0.001; OB: p<0.001; PFC: p<0.001; TH: p<0.001). Females were seen to have more complex trends with differences across development found in the cerebellum, hippocampus, olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex. Both the female COX-2⁻KI cerebellum and hippocampus were found to deviate from the WT at E19, having lower branch lengths prenatally, but by P25 similar branch length were demonstrated (CB: p= 0.045; HPC: p= 0.047). This indicates that between these times points the disruption of COX-2 resulted in increased branch growth rates in order for values to reach similar measurement. The olfactory bulb showed that the COX-2⁻KI females had increased branch growth rates as well, represented by increased branch lengths at P25 (OB: p<0.001). The female prefrontal cortex was seen to be heavily impacted by the COX-2 disruption, having increased branch lengths at E19 but decreased lengths by P25 (E19: p=0.008; P25: p<0.001). Indicating during this period of development branch length had a decrease rate of growth within the female COX-2⁻KI prefrontal cortex.

Overall, we show that the deficit of COX-2 had an effect on the trajectory of microglial branch lengths in both males and females. Male COX-2⁻ KI animals were found to have increased branch lengths within the all five regions of interest postnatally compared to WT males. Female COX-2-KI females were seen to have decreased branch lengths compared to their sex-matched WTs prenatally within the cerebellum and hippocampus, and postnatally within the prefrontal cortex. Interestingly prenatally, COX-2⁻KI females were found to have increased branch length within the prefrontal cortex and olfactory bulb. Table 4 serves as a summary to all findings from this section. We provide evidence here that the COX-2 disruption within our

COX-2⁻KI model effects microglial branch lengths of males and females in a region and time specific manner.





Figure 29: Progression trends for average branch length. Trends for average microglial branch length between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 average branch length studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001.

Table 4. Branch lengt	th in the developi	ng COX-2 ⁻ KI ma	le and female brai	n. A summary of	
average microglial bra	nch length progres	ssion results Arrov	vs represent increase	ed or decreased	
values compared to their sex matched wildtype.					

BRANCH LENGTH	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
Cerebellum	-	₽	1	-
Hippocampus	-	₽	1	-
Olfactory	-	-	1	1
Prefrontal cortex	-	1	1	₽
Thalamus	-	-	1	-

5.4.4 Sex-differences in primary branches across development of healthy and COX-2⁻KI mice As previously noted, microglia mature their branching networks will become

progressively complex, as such we looked into differences of between E19 to P25 stages to see if the COX-2 disruption affects the progression of primary branching within our ASD experimental model. Primary branches were identified as branches extending directly from the microglial soma; all values reported are the average number of primary branches viewed per microglia.

Males all showed similar effects on primary branch counts due to the COX-2 disruption, having greater rates of microglial branch growth over development, indicated by greater branch lengths at the P25 stage (CB: p<0.001; HPC: p<0.001; OB: p<0.001; PFC: p<0.001; TH: p<0.001) (Figure 30). Females were found to have more complex trends compared to males, with differences seen within the cerebellum, hippocampus and olfactory bulb. Prenatally at E19 we saw that cerebellums of the COX-2⁻KI females had decreased counts of primary branches compared to the WT, a trend which was maintained at P25 (CB E19: p=0.039; CB P25: p=0.003). Showing that the COX-2 disruption decreased the amounts of primary branches in the

female cerebellum over development. The female COX-2⁻KI hippocampus was also seen to deviate from WT trends, appearing to have lower primary branching counts at E19, but showing increased values by P25 (HPC E19: p=0.047; HPC P25: p<0.001). This suggests that the COX-2⁻KI mouse had increased rates of primary branch production across development, as despite the deficit early in life, they surpassed the WT counts postnatally. The final change we noted in terms of primary branch counts was seen postnatal olfactory bulb, where the COX-2 disruption resulted in increased primary branch production over development. This is due to the increased primary branch counts seen at within the P25 COX-2⁻KI females compared to the WT (OB: p<0.001).

Overall it was found that the COX-2 disruption had an impact on the trajectory of microglial primary branch counts in both males and females. Male COX-2⁻KI animals were found to have increased primary branches within the all five regions of interest postnatally compared to WT males. Female COX-2⁻KI females were seen to have decreased branch lengths compared to their sex-matched WTs prenatally within the cerebellum and hippocampus, and postnatally within the prefrontal cortex. Interestingly prenatally, COX-2⁻KI females were found to have increased branch length within the hippocampus and olfactory bulb. A summary of all findings from this section can be found in table 5. We provide evidence for the first time here that the disruption of COX-2 effects microglial primary branch counts of males and females in a region specific, and time specific manner.



Prefrontal cortex



Figure 30. Progression trends for primary branch counts. Trends for primary microglial branch counts between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 primary branch count studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001

Table 5: Primary branches in the developing COX-2⁻KI male and female brain. A summary of primary microglial branch counts percentage progression results. Arrows represent increased or decreased values compared to their sex matched wildtype.

PRIMARY BRANCHES	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
Cerebellum	-	₽	1	₽
Hippocampus	-	₽	1	1
Olfactory	-	-	1	1
Prefrontal cortex	-	-	1	-
Thalamus	-	-	1	-

5.4.5 Sex-differences in total branches across development of healthy and COX-2⁻KI mice

Total branches of ramified cells were examined between our two time points as branches of ramified microglia have been found to be increasingly important to overall brain development and maintenance. As mentioned in our primary branch progression section, as the brain develops microglia are anticipated to obtain a more complex branching pattern, that will be demonstrated through not only primary branches, but also by secondary and tertiary branches.

Total branch counts in all regions for the males were seen to be affected by the COX-2 disruption, resulting in increased total branch production indicated by greater total branches at the P25 stage (CB: p<0.001; HPC: p<0.001; OB: p<0.001; PFC: p<0.001; TH: p<0.001) (Figure 31). Females showed more complex effects to the brain due to the COX-2 mutation, with significant deviations from the WT found in the hippocampus, olfactory bulb, and prefrontal cortex. The female hippocampus was found to be affected by the COX-2 disruption resulting in decreased total branch production within the COX-2⁻KI mouse, demonstrated by decreased counts at E19 and P25 compared to the WT (E19 HPC: p<0.001, HPC P25: p<0.001). This

difference in total branches suggests a decreased total branch production within the COX-2⁻KI females in the developing brain. Postnatally we see that the female olfactory bulb was affected by the COX-2⁻KI disruption, resulting in an increased rate of total branching production, where counts of total branches were increased in the COX-2⁻KI mouse compared to the WT at P25 (OB: p<0.001). The final difference we saw within the female thalamus, with the COX-2⁻KI mouse having an apparent decreased rate of total branch production compared to the WT female. While values were similar at our embryonic time point, by P25 the COX-2 disruption resulted in an overall decrease in total branch counts compared to its sex matched control (TH: p<0.001)

Overall, we demonstrate that the COX-2 disruption had an impact on the developmental trajectory of microglial total branch counts in both males and females within different regions and different developmental periods. Male COX-2⁻ KI animals were found to have increased total branch counts within the all five regions of interest postnatally compared to WT males. COX-2-KI females were seen to have decreased branch lengths compared to their sex-matched WTs prenatally within the hippocampus across development. Interestingly within the olfactory bulb we see an increase in total branch production. A summary of the differences due to the COX-2 disruption reported in this section can be found in table. We provide evidence for the first time that the disruption of COX-2 effects microglial total branch counts of males and females in a region specific, and time specific manner.





Figure 31: Progression trends for total branch counts. Trends for total microglial branch counts between WT and COX-2⁻KI mice were compared over developmental time points embryonic day 19 and postnatal day 25 within our five regions of interest. Values used in these studies were obtained from the E19 and P25 total branch count studies. Data points are presented as mean \pm SEM, **p*<0.05, ***p*<0.01, ****p*<0.001

Table 6: Total branches in the developing COX-2⁻KI male and female brain. A summary of total microglial branch counts percentage progression results. Arrows represent increased or decreased values compared to their sex matched wildtype.

TOTAL BRANCHES	COX2 M E19	COX2 F E19	COX2 M P25	COX2 F P25
Cerebellum	-	-	1	-
Hippocampus	-	₽	1	₽
Olfactory	-	-	1	₽
Prefrontal cortex	-	-	1	1
Thalamus	-	-	1	

6. Discussion

ASD is an increasingly relevant disorder within our society that has still has much left to be answered concerning its etiology. Work completed by our lab looks to answer some of these questions through demonstrating the importance of lipid signaling in the healthy development of the brain, and its connection to pathologies of ASDs (Tamiji and Crawford, 2010b; Wong et al, 2015; Rai-Bhogal et al, 2018). In particular, we focus on PGE2, the most abundant lipid signaling molecule within the brain. Mounting evidence suggests that its abnormal levels is linked to ASD. Levels of PGE2 can be influenced by both genetic and environmental factors such as diesel exhaust, pesticides, and drugs such as aspirin or misoprostol and have been associated with ASD (Wong and Crawford, 2013; Wong et al, 201; Chang et al, 2018; Zablotsky et al, 2015).

Our lab has demonstrated that both the increased and decreased levels of PGE2, resulting from maternal exposure to PGE2 during critical prenatal period (PGE2-injected) or the lack of PGE2 producing enzyme (COX-2⁻KI model, also used in this study), results in molecular and behavioral changes previously implicated to ASD pathologies. This current study stems from work completed in the P8 stage of PGE2-injected and COX-2⁻KI offspring (Wong et al, unpublished) that showed significant effects based of the irregular levels of PGE2. PGE2 exposed mice exhibited higher microglial density, greater active microglia and lower ramified microglia, complemented by decreased branching and process length. While the COX-2⁻KI mice also showed increased density compared to the healthy brain, they showed decreased active microglia and increased percentages of ramified microglia, paired with increase branching lengths and process counts.

In this study, we examined for the first time five different regions of the brain at E19 and P25 previously implicated in ASD in order to assess the effect of the PGE2 pathway on

microglia morphology and whether the effect is sex-dependent. Literature demonstrates that PGE2 can influence microglia morphology between active and ramified (Quan et al, 2013; Chen et al 2018). In this study, we hypothesized that within our regions of interest microglial density, activity and branching behaviors would be dysregulated based in the brain of COX-2⁻KI offspring as our established ASD model. We show for the first time to our knowledge the effect of abnormal COX-2/PGE2 signaling during a prenatal and postnatal time point on microglial density, active and ramified morphology percentages, microglial branch length, as well primary and total branch counts within our COX-2⁻KI model. Below we discuss the effects of the disrupted COX-2/PGE2 pathway on microglia, the potential pathological implications for the development and maintenance of the brain, and the overall implications to ASD.

6.1 COX-2⁻ KI mice demonstrate increased microglial density over development

We began by examining microglial density within the E19 and P25 mouse brain within our regions of interest, selected based on their associations to ASD. To our knowledge this is the first time these time points have been examined within any of the given brain areas, in both the healthy WT and COX-2⁻KI mouse. We found sex differences in microglial density within the WT mice, demonstrating that postnatally males had greater microglial density compared to females in the hippocampus and olfactory bulb. These sex differences were not maintained for either region of the COX-2⁻KI mouse. This is likely due to the significant increase in density in the COX-2⁻KI females compared to the WT control within the hippocampus, and that within the olfactory bulb we found a decrease in COX-2⁻KI male densities compared to the control. The changes in the olfactory bulb were not significant. These findings suggest that the COX-2/PGE2 pathway may play a role within the sex-differences we found in the postnatal brain in a regionspecific manner. When looking to the effect on microglial density due to the disruption of COX-2 compared to the WT, we found in a region, developmental stage and sex specific manner, that the COX-2⁻KI mice had increased microglial density. Specifically, we found within the prenatal brain at E19 the female olfactory bulb had greater density values compared to the WT female. At P25 we found that the male COX-2⁻KI cerebellum and prefrontal cortex, and female COX-2⁻KI hippocampus all showed significant increases compared to their sex-matched control. In summary, this implicates that the lack of the COX-2 enzyme results in increases in microglial density in a sex, time and region-specific manner.

In the healthy brain microglia are well spread-out throughout all regions, with varying densities from one region to the next. (Lawson et al, 1990; Yang et al, 2012). Within our density study we found for the first time for these developmental time points that each region we studied presented differences in microglial density from one area to the next, following the trends of previously shown in literature (Lawson et al, 1990; Yang et al, 2013; Keller et al, 2018).

Alterations of microglial density from healthy brains have been found in a variety of diseases and disorders and are recognized as a sign of pathology (Furube et al, 2018). Typically, microglial proliferation in both the adult rodent and human brain is slow with a stable density maintained throughout adulthood (Askew et al, 2017). Increased microglial density has been noted in a variety of pathologies in the brain such as traumatic brain injuries, prion diseases, schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease, and ASD in humans (Uranova et al, 2018; Morgan et al, 2010; Tetreault et al, 2012). Post mortem studies of human ASD patients have shown increased microglial density in a variety of areas including the prefrontal cortex and cerebellum (Vargas et al, 2005; Morgan et al, 2010; Suzuki et al, 2013). The increase in microglial density poses concern to the developing brain as studies have correlated the disruption of neural progenitor

proliferation as well as the inhibition of neuronal differentiation to increased microglial densities (Smith et al, 2014; Appel et al, 2018, Cunningham et al, 2013). The exact mechanisms are not yet known for how the increase in density directly results in such abnormalities in progenitor proliferation and neuronal differentiation, although it has been suggested that the phagocytic activity of microglia and the wide range of soluble factors microglia can secrete may play a role (Appel et al, 2018; VanRyzin et al, 2018).

Interestingly, while we found an increase in density beyond the healthy brain in both sexes of the COX-2⁻KI animals, we saw greater changes in the females. Within the healthy brain we typically found that males had greater density than females, but in our COX-2⁻KI model the exaggerated density values beyond the healthy brain were similar between the sexes. This may relate to the Extreme Male Brain (EMB) theory of autism (Ferri et al, 2018). EMB is the theory that the "autistic brain" is identified by having more extreme versions of the typical male brain, exhibited through differences in brain morphology seen in both males and females. This agrees with our findings in the male brains as well, where COX-2⁻KI mice exhibited increased density compared to the control. A relationship between the masculinization of the brain and the COX-2/PGE2 pathway has been demonstrated in the past (Amateau and McCarthy, 2004; Wright et al, 2008). It has been found that in the healthy male mouse brain that during development there is an upregulation of the COX-2 enzyme, which will ultimately result in high levels of PGE2 (Amateau and McCarthy, 2004). As well, new born female mice when injected with PGE2 were found to display male sexual behaviors, implying the importance of the COX-2/PGE2 pathway to the masculinization of the brain.

One possible explanation for the increases in microglia density we demonstrate across development is the long-term effect of PGE2 on microglia recently discovered. While PGE2 is a

known microglial activator, discussed in further detail in the next section, it has been recently reported that PGE2 also induces apoptosis in microglia after stimulation in cell models (Nagano et al, 2014; Fu et al, 2015; Yang et al, 2006). In particular, the prostaglandin E2 receptor (EP2) was found induce apoptotic effects on the cell once activated, while EP1, EP3 and EP4 had no effect on cell viability (Fu et al, Nagano et al, 2014). The downstream effect of PGE2 activation of EP2 is increased intracellular levels of cyclic monophosphate (cAMP) and is believed to induce caspase-3 activity in microglia resulting in apoptosis (Narumiya et al, 1999, Fu et al 2015). Due to the disruption in the production of PGE2 in our COX-2⁻KI model we can speculate that decreased EP2 activation potentially results in less activity-driven apoptosis within our ASD mouse model.

6.2 COX-2⁻ KI mice generally demonstrate decreased active and increased ramified morphologies in the developing brain

We next examined the differences in microglial morphology within the E19 and P25 brains of our COX-2⁻KI and WT mice. Microglia function is heavily tied to its morphology, with active cells having large round somas and few extensions, and ramified microglia exhibit small somas with large branching networks (Fernandez-Arjona et al, 2017). Microglia transition between the active and ramified morphology, taking on a given form based on the stimulus the cell receives, either influencing into an active or ramified state. As we have classified microglia as either active or ramified, trends seen within one morphology will be reversed for the other. For example, the decrease in active microglia over development we see is accompanied by an equivalent increase in ramified microglia.

The prenatal brain at E19 demonstrated no differences between males and females in our studies on the healthy brain. Interestingly within the COX-2⁻KI cerebellum studies we demonstrate that females have higher levels of microglial activation compared the males. This

change in sex-differences only appearing in our mouse model is likely attributed to the increase in active morphology percentages we determined in the female COX-2⁻KI compared to the WT female. Accordingly, we see that males have greater levels of ramified microglia compared to females within the COX-2⁻KI cerebellum at this time, with differences attributed to lower levels of ramified microglia found within the COX-2⁻KI females.

Postnatally we see sex differences only within the WT prefrontal cortex, with males having greater levels of active microglia compared to females. This was complemented by increased ramified morphologies within the WT female compared to the male within the region. One of the well-established sexual-dimorphisms between male and female microglia is that males are commonly found to have a more active morphology than females (Villa et al, 2018). These sex-differences concerning percentages of active morphologies further implicate the COX-2/PGE2 pathway in the sexual differentiation of the brain.

In general, we saw that the disruption of COX-2 resulted decreased levels of microglial activation in a sex and region-specific manner across development. In particular, we demonstrate for the first time that within the prenatal brain at E19, the female prefrontal cortex was seen to have decreased counts of active microglia while interestingly the female cerebellum had increased counts of active morphologies compared to their sex-matched controls. Postnatally at P25 we observed that within the male cerebellum, olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex, as well as the female thalamus, that the disruption of COX-2 resulted in decreased active morphology percentages.

Studies have shown that COX-2 is a known mediator of microglial activation, and when removed or inhibited decreased levels of active microglia have been seen in mouse models, aligning with our findings (Vijitruth et al, 2006). PGE2, the major product of COX-2 activity,

plays a critical role in microglial activation through the activation of the microglial EP2 receptor. The activation of this receptor increases intracellular cAMP and induces migration and phagocytic properties in the microglia, both of which being key functions of microglia (Nagano et al, 2014). Thus, within our ASD model we are reducing the amount of PGE2 within the brain we anticipated finding the decrease in microglial activation as we did.

Surprisingly, we found an increase in active microglia morphologies within the prenatal female cerebellum at E19, but by P25 no differences were found. While highly theoretical, this may be a hint at the female cerebellum trying to compensate for the COX-2 disruption. Haida et al (2019) used a component of the gram-negative bacterial outer membrane, known as a lipopolysaccharide (LPS) to stimulate an infection model within mice. In their study they found that females exhibited less abnormal motor behaviors and cellular effects within the cerebellum, compared to males in this study complementing the theory. Further studies would be needed in order to determine if the female cerebellum did have a protective function or not.

Within the developing brain only recently have microglia come to be recognized as important factors for the its healthy development, with focuses on the diffusible factors and phagocytotic properties characteristic of active microglia (Lenz and Nelson, 2018). As previously mentioned, microglia have been found within the last few years to assist in neurogenesis, myelination, and inducing cell death or survival as well as assisting in synaptic maturation, among other roles (Paolcelli et al, 2011; Lenz and Nelson, 2018). These are processes implicated in developmental dysregulation associated with ASD (Gilbert and Man, 2017; Graciaerna et al, 2019).

As the brain develops it creates approximately 50% more neurons than will be seen in the adult brain, indicating the need for the proper regulation of synaptic pruning. In

neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASD, diagnosed individuals commonly show lower levels of pruning of these synapses compared to controls (Neniskyte and Gross, 2017; Tang et al, 2014). As active microglia are known to be involved in synaptic stripping and influencing cell death of excess neurons, their importance in this process was highly suggested. Several studies have recently proven that microglia are indeed crucial in this pruning in both mouse and human models (Tang et al, 2014; Courchesne et al, 2011, Paolicelli et al, 2011). The lack of pruning during development has been shown in mouse models to affect the ability to learn, defects in social behaviors and increased repetitive behaviors, which are common in ASDs (Kim et al, 2017; Afroz et al, 2016). As well a common trait of ASD individuals is synaptic overconnectivity of the brain, which could relate to the decrease in activity we demonstrate within our COX-2⁻KI model (Keown et al, 2013).

Other potential implications of the decreased levels of activated microglia in our COX-2⁻ KI are the altered levels variety of pro-inflammatory cytokines to be released (Masi et al, 2017). Studies have shown that humans with ASD had cytokine levels that differed in the blood, brain and CSF samples compared to healthy controls, including decreases levels of IL-1B, IL-8, MIP-1B and VEGF (Masi et al 2017; Xu et al, 2015). These cytokines play important roles in the brain such as cellar defense, tissue repair, and within the inflammatory pathway (Hewett et al, 2012). Interestingly, it has been noted as well that ASDs can result in increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines as related to increased levels of activated microglia (Rodriguez and Kern, 2011). These findings fit nicely to the findings that our lab has demonstrates in that both an increase or decrease in PGE2 levels within the brain are related to ASD pathologies.

While a multitude of information can be found concerning activated microglia as it is what is most commonly associated with pathologies in the brain much is left to be desired about

the impact that ramified microglia have on the brain. Within the adult mouse brain, it was shown that branches of ramified microglia are continuously moving around the brain surveying their environment (Nimmerjahn et al, 2005). Considering that this discovery was reported in 2005, where microglia were first discovered in 1932, it indicates that little focus has been given to the ramified morphology over the years (del Rio-Hortega, 1932).

Microglia are known to interact with neurons within the ramified state, as previously mentioned, showing that they influence synaptic activity as well as synaptic pruning. The importance of ramified microglia and their processes interacting with neurons have been found to play a key role in synaptic pruning (Tremblay et al, 2010). Wake et al, (2009) demonstrated that microglia branches do not randomly contact synapses within the healthy mouse brain, which have been demonstrated to be due to neuronal activity (Wake et al, 2009; Tremblay et al, 2010). Microglia can not only phagocytize synapses but are also important in the maturation of synapses and in decreasing neuronal activity (Li et al, 2012; Miyamoto et al, 2013). These similar studies emphasize the new-found importance of ramified microglia cells, but further investigation is still required to demonstrate the underlying mechanisms.

6.3 Increased branch length in COX-2⁻KI mice over development

Microglial morphology provides clues to the cell's biological function, having drastically altered morphological states between active and ramified classified cells as previously mentioned (York et al, 2018). Shape measurements of microglia, including branch length and number of branches, are commonly used to differentiate healthy microglial trends from those associated with pathologies (York et al, 2018). Here we demonstrate that the disruption of the COX-2 enzyme in the developing mouse brain generally caused an increase in microglial branch length in a sex and region-specific manner, within the E19 and P25 mouse brain.

Within the prenatal brain at E19 we specifically observed differences only within the female brains of the COX-2⁻KI animals compared to the WTs, with increased branch lengths noted in the prefrontal cortex, but decreased within the cerebellum and hippocampus. Postnatally males were predominately affected, showing increased branch lengths within all five regions of interest when compared to the WT male. We found that P25 COX-2⁻KI females only showed significant differences from the WT in terms of branch length in the olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex. The COX-2⁻KI female olfactory bulb had greater branch lengths, while interestingly the prefrontal cortex lengths were decreased compared to the WT female.

As our COX-2⁻KI model has the *Ptgs2* mutation, resulting in a disruption of PGE2 production compared to the WT, we initially anticipated that we would find increased branch lengths within the model mouse. This is because PGE2 is a activates microglia, which is typically morphologically coupled with short branch lengths (Morrison and Filosa, 2013; Stence et al, 2001). While this is the trend seen within all males that reported differences, we found two regions at E19 and one region at P25 for females had decreased branch lengths compared to the WT. The decrease in branch lengths seen within the female cerebellum compliments the previously discussed findings of increased microglial activation percentages at E19. Microglia are highly sensitive to their local environment, and individual brain regions have been shown to have differences in gene expression, this may explain why we see differences in branching patterns across the different areas (Grabert et al, 2016). These changes in gene expression may be a potential explanation for these changes we see in brain, although further experiments such as a regional gene expression study, would be needed for further clarification.

Another possible reason that we may see less effects within the E19 stage mouse brain compared to the postnatal is that at this point microglia are still in the process of maturing

(Matcovitch-Natan et al, 2016). The concept of microglia developing in the brain to become "mature microglia" as noted by Matcovitch et al (2016) is quite new, and there have been few follow up studies at this point. It has been demonstrated that there were differences in microglial gene expression at during the different developmental points of microglia and we unfortunately have no current data which can confirm the levels of the e-prostanoid receptors on these immature microglia. It could potentially assist in explaining the fewer differences seen overall within our E19 mice across all microglial studies we completed based on the COX-2 disruption.

We found as well that the postnatal male brain at P25 in all regions of interest that microglial branch length significantly increased in the COX-2⁻KI mouse. Within the developing mouse the male brain differentiates itself from the female based on the surge of testosterone from the fetal gonads as previously mentioned (McCarthy and Nugent, 2015). This surge in testosterone was found by Lenz et al (2013) to be extremely important for PGE2 production in the male brain, leading to the understanding of the prostaglandin's role in sex differences noted within the brain. It was demonstrated that microglia are also extremely important in the masculinization process, as when microglia are activated by estradiol, the aromatized version of testosterone seen within the mouse brain they will begin PGE2 production themselves. This creates what Lenz et al (2013) call a "positive feedforward" mechanism, where microglia maintain a sustained production of PGE2 within the brain based on their activated state. Microglial inhibition resulted in less masculine traits within the rat brain, which lines up nicely with our findings, as longer microglial branch lengths are more typical of females.

Microglial activation is associated decreased branch lengths, where we demonstrate and discuss earlier that the COX-2 disruption resulted in increased ramified morphologies in our studies, the general increase we observe in branch length completement our previous findings.

We discuss the implications to the brain based on differences observed in branch length, primary branches, and total branches together in later sections.

6.4 Increased primary branches in COX-2⁻KI mice over development

As mentioned in the previous section, changes in primary branch counts are commonly quantified in order to examine differences in microglia from a heathy control to a model of pathology. In our studies of the mouse brain at E19 we again saw differences only within the female brains of the COX-2⁻KI animals compared to the WTs as we did in branch length studies. We saw that within the female cerebellum and hippocampus that there were decreased primary branching counts within the COX-2⁻KI model compared to the WT, complementing the decreases in branch length we saw. Postnatally males were predominately affected, showing increased primary branch counts within all five regions of interest when compared to the WT male. We found that P25 COX-2⁻KI females showed significant differences from the WT in primary branch counts in the cerebellum, olfactory bulb and prefrontal cortex. The COX-2⁻KI female hippocampus and olfactory bulb had greater branch lengths, while interestingly the prefrontal cortex lengths were decreased compared to the WT female.

The complexity of the microglial network across development has been demonstrated through our progression studies, as well as through the literature of others, to become more complex as the brain continues to mature. The increase in branch length and primary branch counts that we demonstrate within our COX-2⁻KI mice, in both males and females in the different regions of the brain, do indicate a more ramified morphology of microglia. Ramified microglia have been shown to be of importance to overall brain health as of recent years, but their exact relevance to pathologies have only recently come into question.

Mouse and rat models of chronic-stress induced through forced swim and restraint test resulted in hyper-ramification of microglia compared to controls, showing that microglia may
have alternative responses to pathology aside from changing to the active morphology (Hellwig et al, 2016). We see within our model increases in the branching network as noted within these models as well. It remains to be elucidated how the increased branch number and branch length resulting in hyper-ramification result in pathologies within the brain (Hellwig et al, 2016).

6.5 Increased total branching in COX-2⁻KI mice over development

Where branches of ramified microglia have been recently found to influence the synaptic activity of neurons, our final morphological measurement examined the difference in total microglial branches based on the COX-2 disruption within our mouse model. These measurements completement our studies in branch length and primary branch counts, where in general increased counts of total branches were found in the ASD model.

In our studies of the mouse brain at E19 we again saw differences only within the female brains of the COX-2⁻KI animals compared to the WTs, in our last two microglial measurements. We saw that within the female hippocampus that there were decreased primary branching counts within the COX-2⁻KI model compared to the WT, complementing the decreases in branch length and primary branch counts. Postnatally males were predominately affected, showing increased primary branch counts within all five regions of interest when compared to the WT male. We found that P25 COX-2⁻KI females showed significant differences from the WT in total branch counts in the hippocampus and the olfactory bulb. The COX-2⁻KI female hippocampus maintained a lower count of total microglial branches at the P25 stage, while the olfactory bulb had greater total branch counts.

The importance of the branching network has only come to light in recent years, where ramified microglia were thought to have no overall importance to brain maintenance, as previously mentioned. Most work concerning abnormalities in active to resting microglia percentages within pathology focus only on what the change in active microglia means to the

133

brain (Tay et al, 2018; Bachiller et al, 2018; Graeber and Streit, 2010; Bechade et al, 2013). This increase in the branching network, demonstrated by the increase in branch length, primary branch count, and total branch count noticed within the COX-2⁻KI mouse, overall demonstrate a more complex branching network compared to the WT. More work needs to be done to conclusively understand the functional relevance of a more complex branching network on the brain.

It is possible that this branching network may be of importance in terms of ASD pathologies includes learning and memory, which have been found to be altered in the disorder (Boucher, 1981; Mostofsky et al, 2000; Parkhurst et al, 2013; Dawson et al, 2008). Many lines of evidence implicate that experience-dependent synaptic plasticity is important for both learning and memory, and as mentioned previously, microglia interact with synapses in an activity dependent manner (Tremblay et al, 2010; Grutzlendler et al, 2002). The fact that microglial branch dynamics are regulated by neuronal activity and are known to prune synapses, may suggest they play a role in learning (Parkhurst et al, 2013). The abnormal increase in microglial branches may speak to abnormal regulation of synaptic activity and pruning.

6.6 Sex differences in COX-2⁻ KI and healthy mouse model

Male and female microglia are known to have clear sex differences within the neurotypical brain; literature shows that males have greater active microglia percentages, typically paired with decreased branch numbers with shorter branch lengths compared to females (Lenz et al, 2012, Hanamsagar et al, 2017, Schwarz 2012). Our findings show clear sex differences within the WT mice that follow these studies as demonstrated within our progression graph studies.

Within our study of the E19 mouse brain little sex differences were noted for both the healthy and COX-2⁻KI mouse brain, a finding complemented by the work done by Schwarz et al

(2012) who found a similar lack of sex-based differences when looking at microglia within the heathy male and female mouse brain at E17. As mentioned, microglia are very sensitive to their environment, and the lack of sex-dependent changes may be based on the fact that in mice testosterone is known to spike within the brain at E18, peaking at E20, and concludes on the day of birth (Weisz and Ward, 1980). In mice the brain is still considered to be in a critical period, where microglia are sensitive to the programming effects of hormones (Lenz and Nelson, 2018). This window of a critical period could explain why we see no sex differences within our E19 study. Interestingly within all of our measurements we see overall that males are more effected by the COX-2 disruption based on the amount of deviations noted from the WT compared to the females. This may speak to large sex-biasing that is seen within ASD.

6.7 Developmental differences due to COX-2⁻ disruption

We investigated the effect of the COX-2 disruption on microglia density and morphology within the E19 and P25 stage mouse brain and compiled the data into progression trajectories to better view the overall effect. Interestingly, it has been noted that microglia within ASD individuals are maturing faster than healthy age matched controls (Hanamsagar et al, 2017). Hanamsagar et al (2017) generated a microglial developmental index (MDI) in mice used to identify microglial developmental gene expression. They then applied this index to a human brain transcriptome dataset to examine for abnormalities the MDI within various neurological pathologies. They found that the MDI was altered in both Alzheimer's disease and ASD, suggesting the acceleration of microglial development within these pathologies. Interestingly Werling et al (2016), using the same data set, showed that a variety of autism-susceptibility gene (which were largely microglial specific) were upregulated significantly in adult males compared to females. This is of particular significance as males are more likely to be diagnosed with ASD compared to females, at a rate of 4:1. The concept of hyper ramification is shown in our work through the increases in branch length as well as the total counts of primary and total branches, indicating a more complex branching network compared to the WT mouse.

Our progression trends show that within the developing brain that the COX-2 disruption resulted in altered projections in microglial density and morphology from the WT brain for both males and females. This was shown to occur in a region-specific manner. The differences that are determined region to region, as well within the different sexes, may speak to the fact that ASD is a spectrum disorder and that there are a wide variety of behavioral characteristics associated between males and females of those affected (Frazier et al, 2014; Lord et al, 1981). Recent behavioral studies completed in the COX-2⁻KI mouse by Wong et al (2018) found that while both COX-2⁻KI sexes showed greater hyperactivity compared to the sex-matched WT, COX-2⁻KI males showed increased hyperactivity compared to their female counterparts. This is similar to traits we see of ADHD we see in males that have ASD compared to females (Willcutt, 2012). In marble burying tests, used to assess anxiety-linked and repetitive behaviors, it was seen that both the COX-2⁻KI exhibited increases in the two behaviors, but males demonstrated increased anxiety-like and repetitive behaviors through increased marble burying. This increase in these behaviors in males has been noted within the ASD-affected human population as well (Evans et al, 2018; Supekar and Menon, 2015).

6.8 Future studies

In order to gain further knowledge about abnormalities in the COX-2/PGE2 signaling and its effect on microglial morphology in ASDs we propose that similar studies in our PGE2injected ASD mouse model should also be conducted at E19 and P25 for comparisons. Our recent work already showed differences in microglial density, activity and branching patterns at P8 within the PGE2-injected mouse model (Wong et al, unpublished). As well we would suggest examining microglial changes at the P14 time point in mouse brain in both the PGE2-injected

136

and COX1-KI model. This time frame is suggested as this is the peak of microgliosis as well as where microglia are said to reach their mature form from pre-microglia (Matovich-Natan et al, 2016).

Using alternative models of PGE2 level alteration that can be applied to more real-life applications, such as acetaminophen administration and influenza A for decreased PGE2 levels, and LPS or misoprostol injections for increased PGE2 is of particular interest as well (Dudek et al, 2016; Oishi et al, 2014; Greco et al, 2003).

We were able to show that branching behaviors and activity levels were significantly different within our COX-2⁻KI autism model, which may suggest accelerated microglial aging. Where this has been found to occur by Hanamsagar et al (2017) in ASD individuals, it would be of interest to complete gene and protein expression of microglial development markers to accompany our currently immunohistochemistry studies. In particular, Matovich-Natan et al (2016) determined that microglia follow a stepwise development, with three distinct temporal phases, known as early-, pre- and adult microglia each having their own particular markers establishing the phases. These markers could serve as candidates to see if the COX-2 disruption may be resulting in an accelerated aging process within microglia. As well the microglial developmental index created by Hanamsagar et al (2017) could serve as a data base for targets to examine the microglial aging process in our ASD model. Future expression studies for both protein and gene expression would be beneficial to complete within our specific regions of interest where the microenvironments of each region have such influence on the microglia.

6.9 Conclusion

The results of this novel study provide further support to the importance of the COX2/PGE2 pathway in regulation of microglial density and morphology in the developing brain. First, we show for the first time that in the healthy brain at E19 and P25 microglia density

and their morphological characteristics are sex-dependent and specific for different developmental stages in our regions of interest. Moreover, we also show that the disruption of the COX-2/PGE2 signaling resulted in increased microglial density, a decrease in the active morphology with a reciprocal increase in ramified morphologies, and an overall more complex branching network due to increased branch lengths, primary branch counts and total branch counts. Interestingly these microglial modifications regulated by PGE2 levels are region specific suggesting potentially diverse effects on brain function. Dysregulated microglial density has been linked to abnormalities with neural progenitors and neuronal differentiation; in human ASD studies it has been found that neuronal progenitor cells have abnormal growth rates as well as oddities with neurogenesis, which may suggest a tie between microglial density and ASD. As well the active morphology of microglia is known to assist in synaptic pruning, axonal guidance, and inflammation, three factors important for the development of a healthy brain. Additional human studies have shown ASD brains have abnormalities in all three mentioned roles of the active morphology. Ramified microglia have been recently implicated in learning and memory based on their ability to influence synaptic pruning, creating another potential link to ASD, as the dysregulation of ramified microglia could relate to the altered learning abilities within those with the disorder. Finally, hyper-ramification of microglia has been recently shown in mouse models of pathologies, such as Alzheimer's disease and chronic-stress, although the function is currently unknown. Further research is required to determine what the increased branching network we see within the ramified microglia could mean for the brain. The findings presented in this thesis complement previous post-mortem human studies, completed on the brains of those with ASDs, which found abnormal microglial activation and density and abnormalities in synaptic connections typically regulated by microglia during development. This study provides novel

molecular evidence for the role of the COX-2/PGE2 pathway in regulation of microglial morphology throughout development, and how its abnormal signaling may influence sexdependent brain pathologies and result in ASD. 7.0 Bibliography

- Abitz, M., Nielsen, R. D., Jones, E. G., Laursen, H., Graem, N., & Pakkenberg, B. (2007).
 Excess of neurons in the human newborn mediodorsal thalamus compared with that of the adult. *Cerebral Cortex*, 17(11), 2573–2578. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhl163
- Afroz, S., Parato, J., Shen, H., & Sue Smith, S. (2016). Synaptic pruning in the female hippocampus is triggered at puberty by extrasynaptic GABA A receptors on dendritic spines. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.15106.001
- Akaneya, Y. (2007). The Remarkable Mechanism of Prostaglandin E 2 on Synaptic Plasticity . Gene Regulation and Systems Biology, 1, 117762500700100. https://doi.org/10.1177/117762500700100009
- Anderson, E. B., Grossrubatscher, I., & Frank, L. (2014). Dynamic hippocampal circuits support learningand memory-guided behaviors. *Cold Spring Harbor Symposia on Quantitative Biology*, 79, 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1101/sqb.2014.79.024760
- Andreasson, K. (2010). Emerging roles of PGE 2 receptors in models of neurological disease. *Prostaglandings and Other Lipid Mediators*, 91, 104-122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prostaglandins.
- Ashwin, C., Chapman, E., Howells, J., Rhydderch, D., Walker, I., & Baron-Cohen, S. (2014). Enhanced olfactory sensitivity in autism spectrum conditions. *Molecular Autism*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/2040-2392-5-53
- Askew, K., Li, K., Olmos-Alonso, A., Garcia-Moreno, F., Liang, Y., Richardson, P., ... Gomez-Nicola, D. (2017). Coupled Proliferation and Apoptosis Maintain the Rapid Turnover of Microglia in the Adult Brain. *Cell Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2016.12.041
- Bachiller, S., Jiménez-Ferrer, I., Paulus, A., Yang, Y., Swanberg, M., Deierborg, T., & Boza-Serrano, A. (2018). Microglia in Neurological Diseases: A Road Map to Brain-Disease Dependent-Inflammatory Response. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00488
- Bandim, J. M., Ventura, L. O., Miller, M. T., Almeida, H. C., & Costa, A. E. S. (2003). Autism and Möbius sequence: an exploratory study of children in northeastern Brazil. *Arquivos de Neuro-Psiquiatria*, 61(2A), 181–185. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/12806493

- Bangs, P., & White, K. (2000). Regulation and Execution of Apoptosis During Drosophila Development. *Developmental dynamics*, 218(1)
- Barnea-Goraly, N., Frazier, T. W., Piacenza, L., Minshew, N. J., Keshavan, M. S., Reiss, A. L., & Hardan, A. Y. (2014). A preliminary longitudinal volumetric MRI study of amygdala and hippocampal volumes in autism. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology and Biological Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2013.09.010. https://doi.org/10.1002/(SICI)1097-0177(200005)218:1<68::AID-DVDY6>3.0.CO;2-9
- Becker, E., & Stoodley, C. (2013). Chapter One Autism Spectrum Disorder and the Cerebellum. *International Review of Neurobiology*, 113, 1–34. Retrieved from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/B9780124187009000010?via%3Dihub
- Belmonte, M. K. (2004). Autism and Abnormal Development of Brain Connectivity. Journal of Neuroscience, 24(42), 9228–9231. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.3340-04.2004
- Bennett, M. L., Bennett, F. C., Liddelow, S. A., Ajami, B., Zamanian, J. L., Fernhoff, N. B., ...
 Barres, B. A. (2016). New tools for studying microglia in the mouse and human CNS. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(12), E1738–E1746.
 https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1525528113
- Bentsen, H. (2017). Dietary polyunsaturated fatty acids, brain function and mental health. *Microbial Ecology in Health and Disease*, 28(sup1), 1281916. https://doi.org/10.1080/16512235.2017.1281916
- Bessis, A., Béchade, C., Bernard, D., & Roumier, A. (2007). Microglial control of neuronal death and synaptic properties. *GLIA*. https://doi.org/10.1002/glia.20459
- Beumer, W., Gibney, S. M., Drexhage, R. C., Pont-Lezica, L., Doorduin, J., Klein, H. C., Drexhage, H. A. (2012). The immune theory of psychiatric diseases: a key role for activated microglia and circulating monocytes. *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0212100
- Biber, K., Neumann, H., Inoue, K., & Boddeke, H. W. G. M. (2007, November). Neuronal "On" and "Off" signals control microglia. *Trends in Neurosciences*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tins.2007.08.007
- Bilimoria, P. M., & Stevens, B. (2015, August 18). Microglia function during brain development: New insights from animal models. *Brain Research*. Elsevier B.V. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainres.2014.11.032

- Bland, S. T., Beckley, J. T., Young, S., Tsang, V., Watkins, L. R., Maier, S. F., & Bilbo, S. D. (2010). Enduring consequences of early-life infection on glial and neural cell genesis within cognitive regions of the brain. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2009.09.012
- Bond, A. M., Bhalala, O. G., & Kessler, J. A. (2012). The dynamic role of bone morphogenetic proteins in neural stem cell fate and maturation. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 72(7), 1068– 1084. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22022
- Bonthuis, P. J., Cox, K. H., Searcy, B. T., Kumar, P., Tobet, S., & Rissman, E. F. (2010, July).
 Of mice and rats: Key species variations in the sexual differentiation of brain and behavior.
 Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yfrne.2010.05.001

Boucher, J. (n.d.). Memory for Recent Events in Autistic Children 1.

- Brang, D., & Ramachandran, V. S. (2010). Olfactory bulb dysgenesis, mirror neuron system dysfunction, and autonomic dysregulation as the neural basis for autism. *Medical Hypotheses*, 74(5), 919–921. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mehy.2008.11.048
- Brigandi, S. A., Shao, H., Qian, S. Y., Shen, Y., Wu, B. L., & Kang, J. X. (2015). Autistic children exhibit decreased levels of essential fatty acids in red blood cells. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms160510061
- Bruce-Keller, A. J., Keeling, J. L., Keller, J. N., Huang, F., Camondola, S., & Mattson, M. P.
 (2000). Antiinflammatory effects of estrogen on microglial activation. *Endocrine Society*.
 Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/endo/article-abstract/141/10/3646/2987531
- Campbell, D. B., D'Oronzio, R., Garbett, K., Ebert, P. J., Mirnics, K., Levitt, P., & Persico, A. M. (2007). Disruption of cerebral cortex MET signaling in autism spectrum disorder. *Annals of Neurology*, *62*(3), 243–250. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.21180
- Carson, M. J., Cameron Thrash, J., & Walter, B. (2006). The cellular response in neuroinflammation: The role of leukocytes, microglia and astrocytes in neuronal death and survival. *Clinical Neuroscience Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cnr.2006.09.004
- Chang, Y. C., Cole, T. B., & Costa, L. G. (2018). Prenatal and early-life diesel exhaust exposure causes autism-like behavioral changes in mice. *Particle and Fibre Toxicology*, 15(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12989-018-0254-4
- Chen, C., Magee, J. C., & Bazan, N. G. (2017).Cyclooxygenase-2 Regulates Prostaglandin E 2 Signaling in Hippocampal Long-Term Synaptic Plasticity . *Journal of Neurophysiology*,

87(6), 2851–2857. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.2002.87.6.2851

- Chen, S. H., Sung, Y. F., Oyarzabal, E. A., Tan, Y. M., Leonard, J., Guo, M., ... Hong, J. S. (2018). Physiological Concentration of Prostaglandin E 2 Exerts Anti-inflammatory Effects by Inhibiting Microglial Production of Superoxide Through a Novel Pathway. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 55(10), 8001–8013. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-018-0965-4
- Chen, S. K., Tvrdik, P., Peden, E., Cho, S., Wu, S., Spangrude, G., & Capecchi, M. R. (2010). Hematopoietic origin of pathological grooming in Hoxb8 mutant mice. *Cell*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.055
- Cooper, R. A., Richter, F. R., Bays, P. M., Plaisted-Grant, K. C., Baron-Cohen, S., & Simons, J. S. (2017). Reduced Hippocampal Functional Connectivity During Episodic Memory Retrieval in Autism. *Cerebral Cortex (New York, N.Y. : 1991)*. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhw417
- Courchesne, E., Mouton, P. R., Calhoun, M. E., Semendeferi, K., Ahrens-Barbeau, C., Hallet, M. J., ... Pierce, K. (n.d.). *Neuron Number and Size in Prefrontal Cortex of Children With Autism*. Retrieved from www.jama.com.
- Crotti, A., & Ransohoff, R. M. (2016, March 15). Microglial Physiology and Pathophysiology: Insights from Genome-wide Transcriptional Profiling. *Immunity*. Cell Press. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.013
- Damarla, S. R., Keller, T. A., Kana, R. K., Cherkassky, V. L., Williams, D. L., Minshew, N. J., & Just, M. A. (2010). Cortical underconnectivity coupled with preserved visuospatial cognition in autism: Evidence from an fMRI study of an embedded figures task. *Autism Research*, *3*(5), 273–279. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.153
- De Falco, D., Di Massa, G., & Pagano, S. (2013). A full scale motorcycle dynamic rig. *International Review of Mechanical Engineering*. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal
- De Ferrari, G. V., & Moon, R. T. (2006, December 4). The ups and downs of Wnt signaling in prevalent neurological disorders. *Oncogene*. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1210064
- De Kleer, I., Willems, F., Lambrecht, B., & Goriely, S. (2014). Ontogeny of myeloid cells. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 5(AUG). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2014.00423
- Dean, S. L., Knutson, J. F., Krebs-Kraft, D. L., & Mccarthy, M. M. (2012). Prostaglandin E2 is an endogenous modulator of cerebellar development and complex behavior during a sensitive postnatal period. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 35(8), 1218–1229.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08032.x

- Delong, G. R. (1992). Autism, Amnesia, Hippocampus, and Learning. Neuroscwnce & Btobehavtoral Revwws (Vol. 16). Pergamon Press plc.
- Derecki, N. C., Cronk, J. C., & Kipnis, J. (2013). The role of microglia in brain maintenance: implications for Rett syndrome. *Trends in Immunology*, 34(3), 144–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.it.2012.10.002
- Diamond, A. (n.d.). Close Interrelation of Motor Development and Cognitive Development and of the Cerebellum and Prefrontal Cortex. Child Development (Vol. 71).
- DiCicco-Bloom, E., Lord, C., Zwaigenbaum, L., Courchesne, E., Dager, S. R., Schmitz, C., ...
 Young, L. J. (2006). The Developmental Neurobiology of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26(26), 6897–6906. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1712-06.2006
- Du, X. fei, & Du, J. lin. (2016). A Death Trap for Microglia. *Developmental Cell*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2016.07.004
- Ebisch, S. J. H., Gallese, V., Willems, R. M., Mantini, D., Groen, W. B., Romani, G. L., ...
 Bekkering, H. (2011). Altered intrinsic functional connectivity of anterior and posterior
 insula regions in high-functioning participants with autism spectrum disorder. *Human Brain* Mapping, 32(7), 1013–1028. https://doi.org/10.1002/hbm.21085
- El-Ansary, A., & Al-Ayadhi, L. (2012). No Title, *11*(1), 160. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-511X-11-160
- ElAli, A., & Rivest, S. (2016). Microglia Ontology and Signaling. *Frontiers in Cell and Developmental Biology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcell.2016.00072
- Erta, M., Quintana, A., & Hidalgo, J. (2012). Interleukin-6, a major cytokine in the central nervous system. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.7150/ijbs.4679
- Evans, S. C., Boan, A. D., Bradley, C., & Carpenter, L. A. (2018, April 1). Sex/Gender Differences in Screening for Autism Spectrum Disorder: Implications for Evidence-Based Assessment. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychology*, pp. 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1080/15374416.2018.1437734
- Eyo, U. B., & Dailey, M. E. No Title, 8 Journal of Neuroimmune Pharmacology § (2013). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11481-013-9434-z

- Fatemi, S. H. (2013). Cerebellum and autism. *Cerebellum*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12311-013-0484-9
- Fatemi, S. H., Aldinger, K. A., Ashwood, P., Bauman, M. L., Blaha, C. D., Blatt, G. J., ... Welsh, J. P. (2012). Consensus paper: Pathological role of the cerebellum in Autism. *Cerebellum*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12311-012-0355-9
- Ferrucci, L., Cherubini, A., Bandinelli, S., Bartali, B., Corsi, A., Lauretani, F., ... Guralnik, J. M. (2006). Relationship of plasma polyunsaturated fatty acids to circulating inflammatory markers. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 91(2), 439–446. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2005-1303
- Frazier, T. W., Georgiades, S., Bishop, S. L., & Hardan, A. Y. (2014). Behavioral and cognitive characteristics of females and males with autism in the simons simplex collection. *Journal* of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry, 53(3). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2013.12.004
- Frost, J. L., & Schafer, D. P. (2016, August 1). Microglia: Architects of the Developing Nervous System. *Trends in Cell Biology*. Elsevier Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2016.02.006
- Furube, E., Kawai, S., Inagaki, H., Takagi, S., & Miyata, S. (2018). Brain Region-dependent Heterogeneity and Dose-dependent Difference in Transient Microglia Population Increase during Lipopolysaccharide-induced Inflammation. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-20643-3
- Garbett, K., Ebert, P. J., Mitchell, A., Lintas, C., Manzi, B., Mirnics, K., & Persico, A. M.
 (2008a). Immune transcriptome alterations in the temporal cortex of subjects with autism. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 30(3), 303–311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2008.01.012
- Garbett, K., Ebert, P. J., Mitchell, A., Lintas, C., Manzi, B., Mirnics, K., & Persico, A. M. (2008b). Immune transcriptome alterations in the temporal cortex of subjects with autism. *Neurobiology of Disease*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2008.01.012
- Gardener, H., Spiegelman, D., & Buka, S. L. (2011). Perinatal and Neonatal Risk Factors for Autism: A Comprehensive Meta-analysis. *PEDIATRICS*. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2010-1036
- Gilbert, J., & Man, H.-Y. (2017). Fundamental Elements in Autism: From Neurogenesis and Neurite Growth to Synaptic Plasticity. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2017.00359

- Ginhoux, F., Lim, S., Hoeffel, G., Low, D., & Huber, T. (2013). Origin and differentiation of microglia. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2013.00045
- Girard, S., Tremblay, L., Lepage, M., & Sébire, G. (2010). IL-1 Receptor Antagonist Protects against Placental and Neurodevelopmental Defects Induced by Maternal Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184(7), 3997–4005. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.0903349
- Gładysz, D., Krzywdzińska, A., & Hozyasz, K. K. (2018, August 1). Immune Abnormalities in Autism Spectrum Disorder—Could They Hold Promise for Causative Treatment? *Molecular Neurobiology*. Humana Press Inc. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-017-0822-x
- Glatt, S. J., Tsuang, M. T., Winn, M., Chandler, S. D., Collins, M., Lopez, L., ... Courchesne, E. (2012). Blood-Based Gene Expression Signatures of Autistic Infants and Toddlers: RH: Blood-Based Autism Biomarkers. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry*, 51(9), 934–978. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac
- Goin-Kochel, R. P., Abbacchi, A., Constantino, J. N., Geschwind, D. H., Brown, W. T., Bucan, M., ... Silverman, J. M. (2007). Lack of evidence for increased genetic loading for autism among families of affected females: A replication from family history data in two large samples. *Autism.* https://doi.org/10.1177/1362361307076857
- Gómez-González, B., & Escobar, A. (2010). Prenatal stress alters microglial development and distribution in postnatal rat brain. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *119*(3), 303–315. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-009-0590-4
- Grabert, K., Michoel, T., Karavolos, M. H., Clohisey, S., Kenneth Baillie, J., Stevens, M. P., ... McColl, B. W. (2016). Microglial brain regionâ 'dependent diversity and selective regional sensitivities to aging. *Nature Neuroscience*, 19(3), 504–516. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4222
- Graciarena, M., Seiffe, A., Nait-Oumesmar, B., & Depino, A. M. (2019). Hypomyelination and Oligodendroglial Alterations in a Mouse Model of Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00517
- Graeber, M. B., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., Maggi, L., Scianni, M., Panzanelli, P., ... Gross, C. T. (2010). Changing face of microglia. *Science (New York, N.Y.)*, 330(6005), 783–788. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1190929
- Graeber, M. B., & Streit, W. J. (2010, January). Microglia: Biology and pathology. *Acta Neuropathologica*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-009-0622-0

- Gregg, J. P., Lit, L., Baron, C. A., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Walker, W., Davis, R. A., ... Sharp, F. R. (2008). Gene expression changes in children with autism. *Genomics*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2007.09.003
- Guang, S., Pang, N., Deng, X., Yang, L., He, F., Wu, L., ... Peng, J. (2018). Synaptopathology Involved in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 12. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2018.00470
- Ha, S., Sohn, I.-J., Kim, N., Sim, H. J., & Cheon, K.-A. (2015). Characteristics of Brains in Autism Spectrum Disorder: Structure, Function and Connectivity across the Lifespan. *Experimental Neurobiology*. https://doi.org/10.5607/en.2015.24.4.273
- Hagemeyer, N., Hanft, K. M., Akriditou, M. A., Unger, N., Park, E. S., Stanley, E. R., ... Prinz, M. (2017). Microglia contribute to normal myelinogenesis and to oligodendrocyte progenitor maintenance during adulthood. *Acta Neuropathologica*, *134*(3), 441–458. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-017-1747-1
- Haida, O., Al Sagheer, T., Balbous, A., Francheteau, M., Matas, E., Soria, F., ... Jaber, M. (2019). Sex-dependent behavioral deficits and neuropathology in a maternal immune activation model of autism. *Translational Psychiatry*, 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0457-y
- Hallmayer, J., Cleveland, S., Torres, A., Phillips, J., Cohen, B., Torigoe, T., ... Risch, N. (2011).
 Genetic heritability and shared environmental factors among twin pairs with autism. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 68(11), 1095–1102.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2011.76
- Han, Y. M. Y., Cheung, W. K. Y., Wong, C. K., Sze, S. L., Cheng, T. W. S., Yeung, M. K., & Chan, A. S. (2017). Distinct cytokine and chemokine profiles in autism spectrum disorders. *Frontiers in Immunology*, 8(JAN). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.00011
- Hanamsagar, R., & Bilbo, S. D. (2016). Sex differences in neurodevelopmental and neurodegenerative disorders: Focus on microglial function and neuroinflammation during development. *Journal of Steroid Biochemistry and Molecular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.09.039
- Hertz-Picciotto, I., & Delwiche, L. (2009). The rise in autism and the role of age at diagnosis. *Epidemiology*, 20(1), 84–90. https://doi.org/10.1097/EDE.0b013e3181902d15
- Hewett, S. J., Jackman, N. A., & Claycomb, R. J. (2012). Interleukin-1ß in Central Nervous

System Injury and Repair. *European Journal of Neurodegenerative Disease*, *1*(2), 195–211. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26082912

- Hinwood, M., Tynan, R. J., Charnley, J. L., Beynon, S. B., Day, T. A., & Walker, F. R. (2013). Chronic stress induced remodeling of the prefrontal cortex: Structural re-organization of microglia and the inhibitory effect of minocycline. *Cerebral Cortex*, 23(8), 1784–1797. https://doi.org/10.1093/cercor/bhs151
- Hiscott, J., Marois, J., Garoufalis, J., D'Addario, M., Roulston, A., Kwan, I., ... Bensi, G. (1993). Characterization of a functional NF-kappa B site in the human interleukin 1 beta promoter: evidence for a positive autoregulatory loop. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.13.10.6231
- Hitti, F. L., & Siegelbaum, S. A. (2014). The hippocampal CA2 region is essential for social memory. *Nature*, 508(1), 88–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature13028
- Hu, V. W., Sarachana, T., Kyung, S. K., Nguyen, A. T., Kulkarni, S., Steinberg, M. E., ... Lee, N. H. (2009). Gene expression profiling differentiates autism case-controls and phenotypic variants of autism spectrum disorders: Evidence for circadian rhythm dysfunction in severe autism. *Autism Research*. https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.73
- Janda, E., Boi, L., & Carta, A. R. (2018). Microglial Phagocytosis and Its Regulation: A Therapeutic Target in Parkinson's Disease? *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 11. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2018.00144
- Jeong, H.-K., Ji, K., Min, K., & Joe, E.-H. (2013). Brain Inflammation and Microglia: Facts and Misconceptions. *Experimental Neurobiology*. https://doi.org/10.5607/en.2013.22.2.59
- Jha, M. K., Jo, M., Kim, J. H., & Suk, K. (2019, June 1). Microglia-Astrocyte Crosstalk: An Intimate Molecular Conversation. *Neuroscientist*. SAGE Publications Inc. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858418783959
- Ji, K., Akgul, G., Wollmuth, L. P., & Tsirka, S. E. (2013). Microglia Actively Regulate the Number of Functional Synapses. *PLoS ONE*, 8(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0056293
- Jones, K. L., Croen, L. A., Yoshida, C. K., Heuer, L., Hansen, R., Zerbo, O., ... Van De Water, J. (2017). Autism with intellectual disability is associated with increased levels of maternal cytokines and chemokines during gestation. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 22(2), 273–279. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.77

- Karimi, P., Kamali, E., Mousavi, S. M., & Karahmadi, M. (2017). Environmental factors influencing the risk of autism. *Journal of Research in Medical Sciences*, 22(27). https://doi.org/10.4103/1735-1995.200272
- Keim, S. A., Gracious, B., Boone, K. M., Klebanoff, M. A., Rogers, L. K., Rausch, J., ... Rhoda, D. A. (2018). ω-3 and ω-6 fatty acid supplementation may reduce autism symptoms based on parent report in preterm toddlers. *Journal of Nutrition*, *148*(2), 227–235. https://doi.org/10.1093/JN/NXX047
- Kemper, T. L., & Bauman, M. L. (2002). Neuropathology of infantile autism. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 7, 12–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001165
- Keown, C. L., Shih, P., Nair, A., Peterson, N., Mulvey, M. E., & Müller, R. A. (2013). Local functional overconnectivity in posterior brain regions is associated with symptom severity in autism spectrum disorders. *Cell Reports*, 5(3), 567–572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2013.10.003
- Kettenmann, H., Hanisch, U.-K., Noda, M., & Verkhratsky, A. (2011). Physiology of Microglia. *Physiological Reviews*, 91(2), 461–553. https://doi.org/10.1152/physrev.00011.2010
- Kim, E. K., Neggers, Y. H., Shin, C. S., Kim, E., & Kim, E. M. (2010). Alterations in lipid profile of autistic boys: A case control study. *Nutrition Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nutres.2010.04.002
- Kim, H. J., Cho, M. H., Shim, W. H., Kim, J. K., Jeon, E. Y., Kim, D. H., & Yoon, S. Y. (2017). Deficient autophagy in microglia impairs synaptic pruning and causes social behavioral defects. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 22(11), 1576–1584. https://doi.org/10.1038/mp.2016.103
- Kim, J. W., Hong, J. Y., & Bae, S. M. (2018, August 1). Microglia and autism spectrum disorder: Overview of current evidence and novel immunomodulatory treatment options. *Clinical Psychopharmacology and Neuroscience*. Korean College of Neuropsychopharmacology. https://doi.org/10.9758/cpn.2018.16.1.246
- King, M., & Bearman, P. (2009). Diagnostic change and the increased prevalence of autism. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 38(5), 1224–1234. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/dyp261
- Koehler, L., Fournel, A., Albertowski, K., Roessner, V., Gerber, J., Hummel, C., ... Bensafi, M. (2018). Impaired odor perception in autism spectrum disorder is associated with decreased activity in olfactory cortex. *Chemical Senses*, 43(8), 627–634.

https://doi.org/10.1093/chemse/bjy051

- Kofler, J., & Wiley, C. A. (n.d.). Microglia: Key Innate Immune Cells of the Brain. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192623310387619
- Kougias, D. G., Sellinger, E. P., Willing, J., & Juraska, J. M. (2018). Perinatal Exposure to an Environmentally Relevant Mixture of Phthalates Results in a Lower Number of Neurons and Synapses in the Medial Prefrontal Cortex and Decreased Cognitive Flexibility in Adult Male and Female Rats. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 38(31), 6864–6872. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.0607-18.2018
- Kudwa, A. E., Bodo, C., Gustafsson, J.-A., & Rissman, E. F. (2005). A previously uncharacterized role for estrogen receptor : Defeminization of male brain and behavior. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 102(12), 4608–4612. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0500752102
- Kumar, S., Reynolds, K., Ji, Y., Gu, R., Rai, S., & Zhou, C. J. (2019, June 15). Impaired neurodevelopmental pathways in autism spectrum disorder: A review of signaling mechanisms and crosstalk. *Journal of Neurodevelopmental Disorders*. BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-019-9268-y
- Lawrence, T. (2009). The nuclear factor NF-kappaB pathway in inflammation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a001651
- Lawson, L. J., Perry, ? V H, Dri#, P., & G~rlksn\$, S. (1990). HETEROGENEITY IN THE DISTRIBUTION AND MORPHOLOGY OF M~CROGLIA IN THE NORMAL ADULT MOUSE IBRAIN (Vol. 39).
- Lawson, L. J., Perry, V. H., & Gordon, S. (1992). Turnover of resident microglia in the normal adult mouse brain. *Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1016/0306-4522(92)90500-2
- Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference. (2017). Learning and Memory: A Comprehensive Reference. Elsevier. https://doi.org/10.1016/c2015-1-01759-8
- Lenz, K. M., Nugent, B. M., Haliyur, R., & McCarthy, M. M. (2013). Microglia Are Essential to Masculinization of Brain and Behavior. *Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.1268-12.2013
- Lenz, Kathryn M., & McCarthy, M. M. (2015). A starring role for microglia in brain sex differences. *Neuroscientist*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858414536468
- Lenz, Kathryn M., & Nelson, L. H. (2018). Microglia and beyond: Innate immune cells as

regulators of brain development and behavioral function. *Frontiers in Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00698

- Levesque, S., Taetzsch, T., Lull, M. E., Kodavanti, U., Stadler, K., Wagner, A., ... Block, M. L. (2011). Diesel exhaust activates and primes microglia: Air pollution, neuroinflammation, and regulation of dopaminergic neurotoxicity. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 119(8), 1149–1155. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002986
- Li, X., Chauhan, A., Sheikh, A. M., Patil, S., Chauhan, V., Li, X. M., ... Malik, M. (2009). Elevated immune response in the brain of autistic patients. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*, 207(1–2), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.12.002
- Li, Y., Du, X. F., Liu, C. S., Wen, Z. L., & Du, J. L. (2012). Reciprocal Regulation between Resting Microglial Dynamics and Neuronal Activity In Vivo. *Developmental Cell*, 23(6), 1189–1202. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2012.10.027
- Libermann, T. A., & Baltimore, D. (1990). Activation of interleukin-6 gene expression through the NF-kappa B transcription factor. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1128/MCB.10.5.2327
- Lintas, C., Sacco, R., & Persico, A. M. (2012). Genome-wide expression studies in Autism spectrum disorder, Rett syndrome, and Down syndrome. *Neurobiology of Disease*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2010.11.010
- Lipetz, L. E. (1963). Glial Control of Neuronal Activity. *IEEE Transactions on Military Electronics*, 7(2), 144–155. https://doi.org/10.1109/TME.1963.4323063
- Liu, T., Zhang, L., Joo, D., & Sun, S.-C. (2017). NF-κB signaling in inflammation. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 2. https://doi.org/10.1038/sigtrans.2017.23
- London, E. A. (2011). The environment as an etiologic factor in autism: a new direction for research. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108(suppl 3), 401–404. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.00108s3401
- Lord, C., Schopler, E., & Revicki, D. (1982). Sex Differences in Autism 1. Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders (Vol. 12).
- Madry, C., Kyrargyri, V., Arancibia-Cárcamo, I. L., Jolivet, R., Kohsaka, S., Bryan, R. M., & Attwell, D. (2018). Microglial Ramification, Surveillance, and Interleukin-1β Release Are Regulated by the Two-Pore Domain K+ Channel THIK-1. *Neuron*, 97(2), 299-312.e6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.12.002

- Maggi, A. (2002). Estrogen and inflammation: Hormone generous action spreads to the brain. *Molecular Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj/mp/4001007
- Marshall, C. R., Noor, A., Vincent, J. B., Lionel, A. C., Feuk, L., Skaug, J., ... Scherer, S. W. (2008). Structural Variation of Chromosomes in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 82(2), 477–488. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajhg.2007.12.009
- Masi, A., Breen, E. J., Alvares, G. A., Glozier, N., Hickie, I. B., Hunt, A., ... Guastella, A. J. (2017). Cytokine levels and associations with symptom severity in male and female children with autism spectrum disorder. *Molecular Autism*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-017-0176-2
- Masi, A., Glozier, N., Dale, R., & Guastella, A. J. (2017, April 1). The Immune System, Cytokines, and Biomarkers in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Neuroscience Bulletin*. Science Press. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-017-0103-8
- Matson, J. L., & Kozlowski, A. M. (2011). The increasing prevalence of autism spectrum disorders. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 5(1), 418–425. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2010.06.004
- McCarthy, M. M., & Nugent, B. M. (2015). At the frontier of epigenetics of brain sex differences. *Frontiers in Behavioral Neuroscience*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnbeh.2015.00221
- McCarthy, M. M., Pickett, L. A., VanRyzin, J. W., & Kight, K. E. (2015). Surprising origins of sex differences in the brain. *Hormones and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.04.013
- McCarthy, M. M., & Wright, C. L. (2017). Convergence of Sex Differences and the Neuroimmune System in Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2016.10.004
- McTighe, S. M., Neal, S. J., Lin, Q., Hughes, Z. A., & Smith, D. G. (2013). The BTBR Mouse Model of Autism Spectrum Disorders Has Learning and Attentional Impairments and Alterations in Acetylcholine and Kynurenic Acid in Prefrontal Cortex. *PLoS ONE*, 8(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0062189
- Meek, I. L., van de Laar, M. A. F. J., & Vonkeman, H. E. (2010). Non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs: An overview of cardiovascular risks. *Pharmaceuticals*. https://doi.org/10.3390/ph3072146

- Meguid, N. A., Atta, H. M., Gouda, A. S., & Khalil, R. O. (2008). Role of polyunsaturated fatty acids in the management of Egyptian children with autism. *Clinical Biochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clinbiochem.2008.05.013
- Michell-Robinson, M. A., Touil, H., Healy, L. M., Owen, D. R., Durafourt, B. A., Bar-Or, A., ... Moore, C. S. (2015). Roles of microglia in brain development, tissue maintenance and repair. *Brain*, 138(5), 1138–1159. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awv066
- Miller, E. K., & Cohen, J. D. (2001). An integrative theory of prefrontal cortex function. *Annual Review of Neuroscience*, *24*, 167–202. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.neuro.24.1.167
- Mobberley-Schuman, P. S., & Weiss, A. A. (2005). Influence of CR3 (CD11b/CD18) expression on phagocytosis of Bordetella pertussis by human neutrophils. *Infection and Immunity*, 73(11), 7317–7323. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.73.11.7317-7323.2005
- Modabbernia, A., Velthorst, E., & Reichenberg, A. (2017, March 17). Environmental risk factors for autism: an evidence-based review of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Molecular Autism*. BioMed Central Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-017-0121-4
- Morgan, J. T., Chana, G., Pardo, C. A., Achim, C., Semendeferi, K., Buckwalter, J., ... Everall,
 I. P. (2010). Microglial activation and increased microglial density observed in the
 dorsolateral prefrontal cortex in autism. *Biological Psychiatry*, 68(4), 368–376.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2010.05.024
- Morrison, H. W., & Filosa, J. A. (2013). A quantitative spatiotemporal analysis of microglia morphology during ischemic stroke and reperfusion. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*, 10. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-10-4
- Mostafa, G. A., & AL-Ayadhi, L. Y. (2015). Reduced levels of plasma polyunsaturated fatty acids and serum carnitine in autistic children: Relation to gastrointestinal manifestations. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 11(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12993-014-0048-2
- Mostofsky, S. H., Goldberg, M. C., Landa, R. J., & Denckla, M. B. (2000). Evidence for a deficit in procedural learning in children and adolescents with autism: Implications for cerebellar contribution. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 6(7), 752–759. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355617700677020
- Nair, A., Treiber, J. M., Shukla, D. K., Shih, P., & Müller, R. A. (2013). Impaired thalamocortical connectivity in autism spectrum disorder: A study of functional and anatomical connectivity. *Brain*, 136(6), 1942–1955. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awt079

- Nakajima, K., & Kohsaka, S. (1993). Functional roles of microglia in the brain. Neuroscience Research (Vol. 17).
- Narumiya, S., Sugimoto, Y., & Ushikubi, F. (1999). *Prostanoid Receptors: Structures, Properties, and Functions*. Retrieved from www.physiology.org/journal/physrev
- Nayak, D., Roth, T. L., & McGavern, D. B. (2014). Microglia Development and Function. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 32(1), 367–402. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120240
- Neggers Drph, Y. H., Kim, E.-K., Ma, J.-M. S., Chung, E.-J., Um, Y.-S., & Phd, T. P. (2009). Mental retardation is associated with plasma omega-3 fatty acid levels and the omega-3/omega-6 ratio in children. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr (Vol. 18). Retrieved from http://www.eonelab.
- Nelson, L. H., Warden, S., & Lenz, K. M. (2017). Sex differences in microglial phagocytosis in the neonatal hippocampus. *Brain, Behavior, and Immunity*, 64, 11–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2017.03.010
- Nelson, S. B., & Valakh, V. (2015). Excitatory/Inhibitory Balance and Circuit Homeostasis in Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Neuron*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.07.033
- Neniskyte, U., & Gross, C. T. (2017, October 18). Errant gardeners: Glial-cell-dependent synaptic pruning and neurodevelopmental disorders. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2017.110
- Nikolakopoulou, A. M., Dutta, R., Chen, Z., Miller, R. H., & Trapp, B. D. (2013). Activated microglia enhance neurogenesis via trypsinogen secretion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1218856110
- Nørregaard, R., Kwon, T. H., & Frøkiær, J. (2015). Physiology and pathophysiology of cyclooxygenase-2 and prostaglandin E2 in the kidney. *Kidney Research and Clinical Practice*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.krcp.2015.10.004
- Nystedt, S., Emilsson, K., Wahlestedt, C., Sundelin, J., & Trapp, B. D. (2013). Molecular cloning of a potential proteinase activated receptor. *PNAS*, 91(20), 9208–9212. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.91.20.9208
- Oeckinghaus, A., & Ghosh, S. (2009). The NF-kappaB family of transcription factors and its regulation. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a000034

- Ogawa, S., Chester, A. E., Hewitt, S. C., Walker, V. R., Gustafsson, J.-A., Smithies, O., ... Pfaff, D. W. (2000). Abolition of male sexual behaviors in mice lacking estrogen receptors alpha and beta (alpha beta ERKO). *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 97(26), 14737–14741. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.250473597
- Orihuela, R., McPherson, C. A., & Harry, G. J. (2016, February 1). Microglial M1/M2 polarization and metabolic states. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. John Wiley and Sons Inc. https://doi.org/10.1111/bph.13139
- Osborne, B. F., Turano, A., Caulfield, J. I., & Schwarz, J. M. (2019). Sex- and region-specific differences in microglia phenotype and characterization of the peripheral immune response following early-life infection in neonatal male and female rats. *Neuroscience Letters*, 692, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2018.10.044
- Paolicelli, R. C., & Ferretti, M. T. (2017, May 10). Function and dysfunction of microglia during brain development: Consequences for synapses and neural circuits. *Frontiers in Synaptic Neuroscience*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsyn.2017.00009
- Pardo, C. A., Vargas, D. L., & Zimmerman, A. W. (2005, December). Immunity, neuroglia and neuroinflammation in autism. *International Review of Psychiatry*. https://doi.org/10.1080/02646830500381930
- Park, J. Y., Pillinger, M. H., & Abramson, S. B. (2006). Prostaglandin E2 synthesis and secretion: The role of PGE2 synthases. *Clinical Immunology*. https://doi.org/10.1080/10407780600602374
- Parker-Athill, E. C., & Tan, J. (2011, February). Maternal immune activation and autism spectrum disorder: Interleukin-6 signaling as a key mechanistic pathway. *NeuroSignals*. https://doi.org/10.1159/000319828
- Parkhurst, C. N., Yang, G., Ninan, I., Savas, J. N., Yates, J. R., Lafaille, J. J., ... Gan, W. B. (2013). Microglia promote learning-dependent synapse formation through brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Cell*, 155(7), 1596–1609. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2013.11.030
- Patterson, P. H. (2009). Immune involvement in schizophrenia and autism: etiology, pathology and animal models. *Behavioural Brain Research*, 204(2), 313–321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2008.12.016
- Peferoen, L., Kipp, M., van der Valk, P., van Noort, J. M., & Amor, S. (2014). Oligodendrocytemicroglia cross-talk in the central nervous system. *Immunology*, *141*(3), 302–313.

https://doi.org/10.1111/imm.12163

- Ponomarev, E. D., Maresz, K., Tan, Y., & Dittel, B. N. (2007). CNS-Derived Interleukin-4 Is Essential for the Regulation of Autoimmune Inflammation and Induces a State of Alternative Activation in Microglial Cells. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27(40), 10714–10721. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.1922-07.2007
- Pont-Lezica, L., Béchade, C., Belarif-Cantaut, Y., Pascual, O., & Bessis, A. (2011, December). Physiological roles of microglia during development. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-4159.2011.07504.x
- Prata, J., Santos, S. G., Almeida, M. I., Coelho, R., & Barbosa, M. A. (2017). Bridging Autism Spectrum Disorders and Schizophrenia through inflammation and biomarkers - pre-clinical and clinical investigations. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12974-017-0938-y
- Prinz, M., & Priller, J. (2014). Microglia and brain macrophages in the molecular age: From origin to neuropsychiatric disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn3722
- Quan, Y., Jiang, J., & Dingledine, R. (2013). EP2 receptor signaling pathways regulate classical activation of microglia. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.455816
- Radwan, B., Dvorak, D., & Fenton, A. A. (2016). Impaired cognitive discrimination and discoordination of coupled theta-gamma oscillations in Fmr1 knockout mice. *Neurobiology* of Disease. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nbd.2016.01.003
- Rahimian, R., Cordeau, P., & Kriz, J. (2018). Brain Response to Injuries: When Microglia Go Sexist. *Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2018.02.048
- Rai-Bhogal, R., Ahmad, E., Li, H., & Crawford, D. A. (2018). Microarray analysis of gene expression in the cyclooxygenase knockout mice – a connection to autism spectrum disorder. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1111/ejn.13781
- Rai-Bhogal, R., Wong, C., Kissoondoyal, A., Davidson, J., Li, H., & Crawford, D. A. (2018).
 Maternal exposure to prostaglandin E2 modifies expression of Wnt genes in mouse brain An autism connection. *Biochemistry and Biophysics Reports*, 14, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrep.2018.03.012

Ransohoff, R. M., & Perry, V. H. (2009). Microglial Physiology: Unique Stimuli, Specialized

Responses. *Annual Review of Immunology*, 27(1), 119–145. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132528

- Redfield, R. R., Kent, C. K., Leahy, M. A., Martinroe, J. C., Spriggs, S. R., Yang, T., ...
 Schaffner, W. (2014). Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report Prevalence of Autism
 Spectrum Disorder Among Children Aged 8 Years-Autism and Developmental Disabilities
 Monitoring Network, 11 Sites, United States, 2014 Centers for Disease Control and
 Prevention MMWR Editorial and .
- Réu, P., Khosravi, A., Bernard, S., Mold, J. E., Salehpour, M., Alkass, K., ... Frisén, J. (2017).
 The Lifespan and Turnover of Microglia in the Human Brain. *Cell Reports*, 20(4), 779–784. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2017.07.004
- Ricci, S., Businaro, R., Ippoliti, F., Lo Vasco, V. R., Massoni, F., Onofri, E., ... Archer, T. (2013). Altered cytokine and BDNF levels in autism spectrum disorder. *Neurotoxicity Research*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12640-013-9393-4
- Ricciotti, E., & Fitzgerald, G. A. (2011). Prostaglandins and inflammation. Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology, 31(5), 986–1000. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.110.207449
- Roberts, A. L., Lyall, K., Hart, J. E., Laden, F., Just, A. C., Bobb, J. F., ... Weisskopf, M. G. (2013). Perinatal air pollutant exposures and autism spectrum disorder in the children of Nurses' Health Study II participants. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1206187
- Rodriguez, J. I., & Kern, J. K. (2011). Evidence of microglial activation in autism and its possible role in brain underconnectivity. *Neuron Glia Biology*, 7(2–4), 205–213.
- Rogers, T. D., McKimm, E., Dickson, P. E., Goldowitz, D., Blaha, C. D., & Mittleman, G. (2013). Is autism a disease of the cerebellum? An integration of clinical and pre-clinical research. *Frontiers in Systems Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnsys.2013.00015
- Rossignol, D. A., Genuis, S. J., & Frye, R. E. (2014, January 1). Environmental toxicants and autism spectrum disorders: A systematic review. *Translational Psychiatry*. Nature Publishing Group. https://doi.org/10.1038/tp.2014.4
- Rothhammer, V., Borucki, D. M., Tjon, E. C., Takenaka, M. C., Chao, C. C., Ardura-Fabregat, A., ... Quintana, F. J. (2018). Microglial control of astrocytes in response to microbial metabolites. *Nature*, 557(7707), 724–728. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0119-x

- Rozenkrantz, L., Zachor, D., Heller, I., Plotkin, A., Weissbrod, A., Snitz, K., ... Sobel, N. (2015). A Mechanistic Link between Olfaction and Autism Spectrum Disorder. *Current Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2015.05.048
- Sakai, K. L. (2005). Language acquisition and brain development. *Science*. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1113530
- Sakai, M., Takahashi, Y., Yu, Z., & Tomita, H. (2016). Microglial Gene Expression Alterations in the Brains of Patients with Psychiatric Disorders. *Advances in Neuroimmune Biology*. https://doi.org/10.3233/NIB-160110
- Salter, M. W., & Beggs, S. (2014). Sublime microglia: Expanding roles for the guardians of the CNS. *Cell*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2014.06.008
- Samsel, A., & Seneff, S. (2015). Glyphosate, pathways to modern diseases IV: cancer and related pathologies. *Journal of Biological Physics and Chemistry*. https://doi.org/10.4024/11SA15R.jbpc.15.03
- Schafer, D. P., Lehrman, E. K., Kautzman, A. G., Koyama, R., Mardinly, A. R., Yamasaki, R.,
 ... Stevens, B. (2012). Microglia sculpt postnatal neural circuits in an activity and
 complement-dependent manner. *Neuron*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2012.03.026
- Schiefer, J., Kampe, K., Dodt, H. U., Zieglgänsberger, W., & Kreutzberg, G. W. (1999).
 Microglial motility in the rat facial nucleus following peripheral axotomy. *Journal of Neurocytology*, 28(6), 439–453. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007048903862
- Schmahmann, J. D., & Sherman, J. C. (1998). *The cerebellar cognitive affective syndrome*. *Brain* (Vol. 121).
- Scott, G., Fricke, A., Fender, A., McClelland, L., & Jacobs, S. (2007). Prostaglandin E2 regulates melanocyte dendrite formation through activation of PKCζ. *Experimental Cell Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yexcr.2007.07.039
- Sealey, L. A., Hughes, B. W., Steinemann, A., Pestaner, J. P., Gene Pace, D., & Bagasra, O. (2015). Environmental factors may contribute to autism development and male bias: Effects of fragrances on developing neurons. *Environmental Research*, 142, 731–738. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2015.08.025
- Sevenich, L. (2018, April 6). Brain-resident microglia and blood-borne macrophages orchestrate central nervous system inflammation in neurodegenerative disorders and brain cancer. *Frontiers in Immunology*. Frontiers Media S.A. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00697

- Shalom, D. Ben. (2009, December). The medial prefrontal cortex and integration in autism. *Neuroscientist*. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073858409336371
- Shi, L., Fatemi, S. H., Sidwell, R. W., & Patterson, P. H. (2018). Maternal Influenza Infection Causes Marked Behavioral and Pharmacological Changes in the Offspring. *The Journal of Neuroscience*, 23(1), 297–302. https://doi.org/10.1523/jneurosci.23-01-00297.2003
- Signaling Pathways Controlling Microglia Chemotaxis. (2017). *Molecules and Cells*. https://doi.org/10.14348/molcells.2017.0011
- Sipe, G. O., Lowery, R. L., Tremblay, M., Kelly, E. A., Lamantia, C. E., & Majewska, A. K. (2016). Microglial P2Y12 is necessary for synaptic plasticity in mouse visual cortex. *Nature Communications*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms10905
- Ślusarczyk, J., Trojan, E., Głombik, K., Budziszewska, B., Kubera, M., Lasoń, W., ... Basta-Kaim, A. (2015). Prenatal stress is a vulnerability factor for altered morphology and biological activity of microglia cells. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 9. https://doi.org/10.3389/fncel.2015.00082
- Smith, J. A., Das, A., Ray, S. K., & Banik, N. L. (2012). Role of pro-inflammatory cytokines released from microglia in neurodegenerative diseases. *Brain Research Bulletin*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brainresbull.2011.10.004
- Sokol, D. K., & Lahiri, D. K. (2011). The Genetics of Autism. In International Handbook of Autism and Pervasive Developmental Disorders (pp. 77–97). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-8065-6_6
- Sominsky, L., De Luca, S., & Spencer, S. J. (2018). Microglia: Key players in neurodevelopment and neuronal plasticity. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocel.2017.11.012
- Sparks, B. ., Friedman, S. ., Shaw, D. ., Aylward, E. ., Echelard, D., Artru, A. A., ... Dager, S. R. (2002). Brain structural abnormalities in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Neruology*, 59(2). https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.59.2.184
- Steenwinckel, J. Van, Schang, A.-L., Krishnan, M. L., Degos, V., Delahaye-Duriez, A., Bokobza, C., ... Gressens, P. (n.d.). Loss of the Wnt/β-catenin pathway in microglia of the developing brain drives pro-inflammatory activation leading to white matter injury. https://doi.org/10.1101/334359
- Stence, N., Waite, M., & Dailey, M. E. (2001). Dynamics of Microglial Activation: A Confocal

Time-Lapse Analysis in Hippocampal Slices.

- Stevens, B., & Schafer, D. P. (2018). Roles of microglia in nervous system development, plasticity, and disease. *Developmental Neurobiology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.22594
- Su, H. M. (2010, May). Mechanisms of n-3 fatty acid-mediated development and maintenance of learning memory performance. *Journal of Nutritional Biochemistry*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnutbio.2009.11.003
- Supekar, K., & Menon, V. (2015). Sex differences in structural organization of motor systems and their dissociable links with repetitive/restricted behaviors in children with autism. *Molecular Autism*, 50(6).
- Suzuki, K., Sugihara, G., Ouchi, Y., Nakamura, K., Futatsubashi, M., Takebayashi, K., ... Mori, N. (2013). Microglial activation in young adults with autism spectrum disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 70(1), 49–58. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2013.272
- Szatmari, P., Liu, X. Q., Goldberg, J., Zwaigenbaum, L., Paterson, A. D., Woodbury-Smith, M.,
 ... Thompson, A. (2012). Sex differences in repetitive stereotyped behaviors in autism:
 Implications for genetic liability. *American Journal of Medical Genetics, Part B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.b.31238
- Takatsuru, Y., Nabekura, J., Ishikawa, T., Kohsaka, S. ichi, & Koibuchi, N. (2015). Early-life stress increases the motility of microglia in adulthood. *Journal of Physiological Sciences*, 65(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12576-015-0361-z
- Tay, T. L., Béchade, C., D'Andrea, I., St-Pierre, M.-K., Henry, M. S., Roumier, A., & Tremblay,
 M.-E. (2018a). Microglia Gone Rogue: Impacts on Psychiatric Disorders across the
 Lifespan. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*, 10.
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00421
- Tay, T. L., Béchade, C., D'Andrea, I., St-Pierre, M.-K., Henry, M. S., Roumier, A., & Tremblay,
 M.-E. (2018b). Microglia Gone Rogue: Impacts on Psychiatric Disorders across the
 Lifespan. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnmol.2017.00421
- Tegeder2007_ReferenceWorkEntry_COX-1AndCOX-2InPain. (n.d.).
- Thion, M. S., Low, D., Silvin, A., Chen, J., Grisel, P., Schulte-Schrepping, J., ... Garel, S. (2018). Microbiome Influences Prenatal and Adult Microglia in a Sex-Specific Manner. *Cell*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2017.11.042
- Tick, B., Bolton, P., Happé, F., Rutter, M., & Rijsdijk, F. (2016). Heritability of autism spectrum

disorders: A meta-analysis of twin studies. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines*. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.12499

- Tremblay, M. É. (2012). The role of microglia at synapses in the healthy CNS: Novel insights from recent imaging studies. *Neuron Glia Biology*, 7(1), 67–76. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1740925X12000038
- Tremblay, M. Ě., Lowery, R. L., & Majewska, A. K. (2010). Microglial interactions with synapses are modulated by visual experience. *PLoS Biology*, 8(11). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1000527
- Turano, A., Lawrence, J. H., & Schwarz, J. M. (2017). Activation of neonatal microglia can be influenced by other neural cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, 657, 32–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.07.052
- Urakubo, A., Jarskog, L. F., Lieberman, J. A., & Gilmore, J. H. (2001). Prenatal exposure to maternal infection alters cytokine expression in the placenta, amniotic fluid, and fetal brain. *Schizophrenia Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0920-9964(00)00032-3
- Uranova, N. A., Vikhreva, O. V., Rakhmanova, V. I., & Orlovskaya, D. D. (2018).
 Ultrastructural pathology of oligodendrocytes adjacent to microglia in prefrontal white matter in schizophrenia. *Npj Schizophrenia*, 4(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41537-018-0068-2
- Uzunova, G., Pallanti, S., & Hollander, E. (2016, April 2). Excitatory/inhibitory imbalance in autism spectrum disorders: Implications for interventions and therapeutics. *World Journal* of Biological Psychiatry. Taylor and Francis Ltd. https://doi.org/10.3109/15622975.2015.1085597
- Vaccarino, F. M., & Smith, K. M. (2009). Increased Brain Size in Autism—What It Will Take to Solve a Mystery. *Biological Psychiatry*, 66(4), 313–315. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.06.013
- Vancassel, S., Durand, G., Barthélémy, C., Lejeune, B., Martineau, J., Guilloteau, D., ... Chalon, S. (2001). Plasma fatty acid levels in autistic children. *Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes and Essential Fatty Acids (PLEFA)*, 65(1), 1–7. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11487301
- Vanderhaeghen, P., & Cheng, H. J. (2010). Guidance molecules in axon pruning and cell death. Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a001859

- Vargas, D. L., Nascimbene, C., Krishnan, C., Zimmerman, A. W., & Pardo, C. A. (2005). Neuroglial activation and neuroinflammation in the brain of patients with autism. *Annals of Neurology*. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.20315
- Villa, Alessandra, Vegeto, E., Poletti, A., & Maggi, A. (2016). Estrogens, Neuroinflammation, and Neurodegeneration. *Endocrine Society*, 37(4), 372–402. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4971309/?report=classic
- Villa, Alessandro, Gelosa, P., Castiglioni, L., Cimino, M., Rizzi, N., Pepe, G., ... Maggi, A. (2018). Sex-Specific Features of Microglia from Adult Mice. *Cell Reports*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.05.048
- Voineagu, I., Wang, X., Johnston, P., Lowe, J. K., Tian, Y., Horvath, S., ... Geschwind, D. H. (2011). Transcriptomic analysis of autistic brain reveals convergent molecular pathology. *Nature*, 474(7351), 380–386. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature10110
- Volk, H. E., Hertz-Picciotto, I., Delwiche, L., Lurmann, F., & McConnell, R. (2011). Residential proximity to freeways and autism in the CHARGE study. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 119(6), 873–877. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1002835
- Wang, G., Zhang, J., Hu, X., Zhang, L., Mao, L., Jiang, X., ... Chen, J. (2013).
 Microglia/macrophage polarization dynamics in white matter after traumatic brain injury. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow and Metabolism*, 33(12), 1864–1874.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/jcbfm.2013.146
- Wang, L., Reiterer, G., Toborek, M., & Hennig, B. (2008). Changing ratios of omega-6 to omega-3 fatty acids can differentially modulate polychlorinated biphenyl toxicity in endothelial cells. *Chemico-Biological Interactions*, 172(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbi.2007.11.003
- Wei, H., Zou, H., Sheikh, A. M., Malik, M., Dobkin, C., Brown, W. T., & Li, X. (2011). IL-6 is increased in the cerebellum of autistic brain and alters neural cell adhesion, migration and synaptic formation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-8-52
- Weisz, J., & Ward, I. (1980). Plasma Testosterone and Progesterone Titers of Pregnant Rats, Their Male and Female Fetuses, and Neonatal Offspring. *Endocrine Society*, *106*(1), 303– 316. Retrieved from https://academic-oup-com.ezproxy.library.yorku.ca/endo/articleabstract/106/1/306/2592933?redirectedFrom=fulltext

Werling, D. M., & Geschwind, D. H. (2013). Sex differences in autism spectrum disorders.

Current Opinion in Neurology. https://doi.org/10.1097/WCO.0b013e32835ee548

- Wicker, B., Monfardini, E., & Royet, J. P. (2016). Olfactory processing in adults with autism spectrum disorders. *Molecular Autism*. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13229-016-0070-3
- Wiest, M. M. M., German, J. B. B., Harvey, D. J. J., Watkins, S. M. M., & Hertz-Picciotto, I. (2009). Plasma fatty acid profiles in autism: A case-control study, 80(4), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.plefa.2009.01.007
- Willcutt, E. G. (2012, July). The Prevalence of DSM-IV Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder: A Meta-Analytic Review. *Neurotherapeutics*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13311-012-0135-8
- Windham, G. C., Lyall, K., Anderson, M., & Kharrazi, M. (2016). Autism Spectrum Disorder Risk in Relation to Maternal Mid-Pregnancy Serum Hormone and Protein Markers from Prenatal Screening in California. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 46(2), 478–488. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-015-2587-2
- Wong, C., & Crawford, D. A. (n.d.). Lipid Signalling in the Pathology of Autism Spectrum Disorders. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-4788-7 68
- Wong, C. T., Ahmad, E., Li, H., & Crawford, D. A. (2014). Prostaglandin E2 alters Wntdependent migration and proliferation in neuroectodermal stem cells: Implications for autism spectrum disorders. *Cell Communication and Signaling*, 12(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-811X-12-19
- Wong, C.T, Wais, J., & Crawford, D.A. (2015). Prenatal exposure to common environmental factor affects brain lipids and increases risk of developing autism spectrum disorders. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 1-19. doi:10.1111/ejn.13028
- Wong, C. T., Bestard-Lorigados, I., & Crawford, D. A. (2018). Autism-related behaviors in the cyclooxygenase-2-deficient mouse model. *Genes, Brain and Behavior*. https://doi.org/10.1111/gbb.12506
- Wong, C. T., Ussyshkin, N., Ahmad, E., Rai-Bhogal, R., Li, H., & Crawford, D. A. (2016). Prostaglandin E2promotes neural proliferation and differentiation and regulates Wnt target gene expression. *Journal of Neuroscience Research*. https://doi.org/10.1002/jnr.23759
- Wright, C. L., Burks, S. R., & McCarthy, M. M. (2008). Identification of prostaglandin E2 receptors mediating perinatal masculinization of adult sex behavior and neuroanatomical correlates. *Developmental Neurobiology*, 68(12), 1406–1419.

https://doi.org/10.1002/dneu.20665

- Wu, A., Ying, Z., & Gomez-Pinilla, F. (2008). Docosahexaenoic acid dietary supplementation enhances the effects of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. *Neuroscience*, 155(3), 751–759. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2008.05.061
- Yang, H., & Chen, C. (2008). Cyclooxygenase-2 in Synaptic Signaling. Current Pharmaceutical Design, 14(14), 1443–1451. https://doi.org/10.2174/138161208784480144
- Yang, T. T., Lin, C., Hsu, C. T., Wang, T. F., Ke, F. Y., & Kuo, Y. M. (2013). Differential distribution and activation of microglia in the brain of male C57BL/6J mice. *Brain Structure and Function*, 218(4), 1051–1060. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00429-012-0446-x
- Yi, S. Y., Barnett, B. R., Torres-Velázquez, M., Zhang, Y., Hurley, S. A., Rowley, P. A., ... Yu, J. P. J. (2019). Detecting microglial density with quantitative multi-compartment diffusion MRI. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*(FEB). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.00081
- Yoo, H. (2015). Genetics of Autism Spectrum Disorder: Current Status and Possible Clinical Applications. *Experimental Neurobiology*, 24(4), 257. https://doi.org/10.5607/en.2015.24.4.257
- York, E. M., LeDue, J. M., Bernier, L.-P., & MacVicar, B. A. (2018). 3DMorph Automatic Analysis of Microglial Morphology in Three Dimensions from Ex Vivo and In Vivo Imaging . *Eneuro*, 5(6), ENEURO.0266-18.2018. https://doi.org/10.1523/eneuro.0266-18.2018
- Zabel, M. K., & Kirsch, W. M. (2013, June). From development to dysfunction: Microglia and the complement cascade in CNS homeostasis. *Ageing Research Reviews*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2013.02.001
- Zablotsky, B., Black, L. I., Maenner, M. J., & Schieve, L. A. (2014). Estimated Prevalence of Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities Following Questionnaire Changes in the 2014 National Health Interview Survey (Vol. 13). Retrieved from http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhis.htm.
- Zerbo, O., Qian, Y., Yoshida, C., Grether, J. K., Van de Water, J., & Croen, L. A. (2015). Maternal Infection During Pregnancy and Autism Spectrum Disorders. *Journal of Autism* and Developmental Disorders, 45(12), 4015–4025. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-013-2016-3
- Zhan, Y., Paolicelli, R. C., Sforazzini, F., Weinhard, L., Bolasco, G., Pagani, F., ... Gross, C. T.

(2014). Deficient neuron-microglia signaling results in impaired functional brain connectivity and social behavior. *Nature Neuroscience*, *17*(3), 400–406. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3641

- Zhang, J., Fujii, S., Wu, Z., Hashioka, S., Tanaka, Y., Shiratsuchi, A., ... Nakanishi, H. (2006). Involvement of COX-1 and up-regulated prostaglandin e synthases in phosphatidylserine liposome-induced prostaglandin E2 production by microglia. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2005.11.008
- Zimmerman, Z. F., Moon, R. T., & Chien, A. J. (2012). Targeting Wnt pathways in disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Biology*, 4(11). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a008086